# IDENTIFICATION AND FUNCTION OF LEUKOCYTE SURFACE MOLECULE RECOGNIZED BY A NEWLY GENERATED MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY COS3A



A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the

Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Biochemistry

Suranaree University of Technology

Academic Year 2015

คุณลักษณะและหน้าที่ของโมเลกุลบนผิวเซลล์เม็ดเลือดขาวที่จดจำได้โดย โมโนโคลนอลแอนติบอดี COS3A ที่ถูกสร้างขึ้นใหม่



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาชีวเคมี มหาวิทยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรนารี ปีการศึกษา 2558

# IDENTIFICATION AND FUNCTION OF LEUKOCYTE SURFACE MOLECULE RECOGNIZED BY A NEWLY GENERATED MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY COS3A

Suranaree University of Technology has approved this thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy.

Thesis Examining Committee

(Assoc. Prof. Dr. Jatuporn Wittayakun)

Chairperson

(Asst. Prof. Dr. Panida Khunkaewla)

Member (Thesis Advisor)

(Prof. Dr. Watchara Kasinrerk)

Member as

(Dr. Supansa Pata)

Member

(Dr. Chutima Talabnin)

Member

(Prof. Dr. Sukit Limpijumnong)

(Prof. Dr. Santi Maensiri)

Vice Rector for Academic Affairs

Dean of Institute of Science

and Innovation

ศรีวรรณ วันศุกร์ : คุณลักษณะและหน้าที่ของโมเลกุลบนผิวเซลล์เม็คเลือดขาวที่จดจำได้ โดยโมโนโคลนอลแอนติบอดี COS3A ที่ถูกสร้างขึ้นใหม่ (IDENTIFICATION AND FUNCTION OF LEUKOCYTE SURFACE MOLECULE RECOGNIZED BY A NEWLY GERNERATED MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY COS3A) อาจารย์ที่ปรึกษา : ผู้ช่วยศาสตราจารย์ คร.พนิคา ขันแก้วหล้า, 158 หน้า

ในการศึกษานี้โมโนโลลนอลแอนติบอดีชื่อ COS3A ถูกกัดเลือกมาหากุณลักษณะและ หน้าที่ของโมเลกุลที่จดจำได้โดยโมโนโกลนอลแอนติบอดีนี้ จากการวิเกราะห์โดยการย้อมเซลล์ แบบอิมมูโนฟลูออเรสเซนส์บ่งชี้ว่าโมโนโคลนอลแอนติบอดี COS3A จับอย่างจำเพาะเจาะจง กับโปรตีนที่มีการแสดงออกโดยเซลล์ COS7 ทั้งบนผิวเซลล์และภายในเซลล์ ที่น่าสนใจคือโมโน โกลนอลแอนติบอดี COS3A ยังจับอย่างจำเพาะเจาะจงกับโมเลกุลที่มีการแสดงออกบนผิวเซลล์เม็ด เลือดของมนุษย์และเซลล์ไลน์ในกลุ่มของเซลล์เม็ดเลือดของมนุษย์ แต่ไม่พบบนผิวเซลล์เม็ดเลือด แดง จากการตกตะกอนโปรตีนโดยแอนติบอดีและวิเกราะห์ด้วย Westerm blotting บ่งบอกว่า แอนติเจนนี้มีขนาด 30-70 กิโลดาลตัน ซึ่งขนาดจะลดเป็น 25 กิโลดาลตันเมื่อมีการนำเอาน้ำตาลที่ เป็น N-linked glycan ออกโดยการย่อยด้วยเอนไซม์ N-glycosidase F หรือการใช้สาร tunicamycin ซึ่งจากผลการวิเกราะห์ต่อมาด้วยเทคนิค LC/MS และการตกตะกอนโปรตีนโดยแอนติบอดีแสดง ให้ทราบว่าโมโนโกลนอลแอนติบอดี COS3A จับแบบจำเพาะกับโมเลกุล CD63 ของมนุษย์

การศึกษาหน้าที่ของโมโนโกลนอลแอนติบอดี COS3A ต่อกระบวนการฟาโกไซโทซิส แสดงให้เห็นว่าโมโนโกลนอลแอนติบอดี COS3A มีผลทำให้การกิน Escherichea coli (E.coli) โดย แกลนูโลไซต์ด้วยกระบวนการฟาโกไซโทซิสลดลงอย่างชัดเจน นอกจากนี้ผลของโมโนโกลนอล แอนดิบอดี COS3A ต่อการแบ่งตัวของทีลิมโฟไซต์ได้มีการศึกษาและพบว่าโมโนโกลนอล แอนติบอดี COS3A ในรูปสารละลายสามารถยับยั้งการแบ่งตัวของทีลิมโฟไซต์ที่ถูกกระตุ้นผ่าน CD3 เมื่อใช้ peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) เป็นต้นแบบ โดยพบว่าผลของการยับยั้ง นี้สอดกล้องกับการลดการสร้างสาร IL-2 การแสดงออกของตัวรับ IL-2 (CD25) และ IFN-γ ที่ผลิต โดยทีลิมโฟไซต์ แต่มีการเพิ่มการสร้าง IL-10 ที่ผลิตโดยโมโนไซต์อย่างไรก็ตามผลดังกล่าวนี้ไม่ เกิดขึ้นเมื่อใช้ทีลิมโฟไซต์เป็นเซลล์ด้นแบบ เป็นที่น่าสนใจว่าเมื่อมีการตรึงโมโนโคลนอล แอนติบอดี COS3A ร่วมกับโมโนโกลนอลแอนติบอดีต่อ CD3 โกลน OKT3 บนไมโครเวลเพลท สามารถกระตุ้นทีลิมโฟไซต์ได้มากขึ้น โดยเพิ่มการแบ่งตัวของเซลล์และการสร้างสาร IL-2, IL-10 และ IFN-γ เพิ่มมากขึ้น นอกจากนี้ในการวิเคราะห์วัฏจักรของเซลล์แสดงให้เห็นว่าการเหนี่ยวนำ จากผลการศึกษาทั้งหมดสามารถสรุปได้ว่าโมโนโคลนอลแอนติบอดี COS3A จดจำโมเลกุล CD63 ของมนุษย์ซึ่งอาจจะมีบทบาทสำคัญในขั้นตอนเริ่มต้นของการกิน E.coli โดยกระบวนการ ฟาโกไซโทซิสและการควบคุมการตอบสนองของทีลิมโฟไซต์ ดังนั้นโมโนโคลนอลแอนติบอดี COS3A จึงเหมาะสำหรับใช้ได้ทั้งในการศึกษาคุณลักษณะทางชีวเคมีและหน้าที่ของ CD63 และอาจ นำไปศึกษากลไกการทำงานของ CD63 ต่อกระบวนการฟาโกไซโทซิสและการกระตุ้นทีลิมโฟไซต์ ต่อไป ซึ่งความรู้ใหม่ที่ได้นี้อาจนำไปสู่ความเข้าใจบทบาทของ CD63 ในระบบภูมิคุ้มกันมากยิ่งขึ้น รวมทั้งการนำไปสู่การใช้รักษาโรคได้



สาขาวิชาชีวเคมี ปีการศึกษา 2558

ลายมือชื่อนักศึกษา	
ลายมือชื่ออาจารย์ที่ปรึกษา	

# SIRIWAN WANSOOK : IDENTIFICATION AND FUNCTION OF LEUKOCYTE SURFACE MOLECULE RECOGNIZED BY A NEWLY GENERATED MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY COS3A. THESIS ADVISOR : ASST. PROF. PANIDA KHUNKAEWLA, Ph.D. 158 PP.

# IDENTIFICATION AND FUNCTION OF LEUKOCYTE SURFACE MOLECULE RECOGNIZED BY A NEWLY GENERATED MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY COS3A

In this study, monoclonal antibody named COS3A was selected for identification and functional analysis of its recognizing molecule. Cellular distribution analysis by immunofluorescence staining indicated that the mAb COS3A bound specifically to a protein expressed by COS7 cell both on surface and intracellularly. Interestingly, the mAb COS3A bound specifically to a molecule expressed on the surface of various human hematopoietic cells and cell lines but not on red blood cells. Immunoprecipitation and Western blotting indicated that the antigen had molecular weight of 30-70 kDa, which was reduced to 25 kDa by elimination of N-linked glycan using either N-glycosidase F or tunicamycin. LC-MS data and immunoprecipitation indicated that the mAb COS3A bound specifically to the human CD63 molecule. Functional study on phagocytosis indicated that the mAb COS3A dramatically diminished granulocyte phagocytosis of *Escherichea coli* (*E.coli*). Furthermore, effect of the mAb COS3A on T cell proliferation was studied and found that the soluble mAb COS3A inhibited CD3-mediated T cell proliferation while peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) were used as model. The inhibitory effect was

corresponding to down regulation of IL-2, IL-2 receptor (CD25), and IFN- $\gamma$  by T cells but, enhanced IL-10 production by monocytic cells. However, these effects were not observed when purified T cells were used as model. Fascinatingly, coimmobilization of the mAb COS3A and anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 strongly enhanced T cell proliferation, secretion of IL-2, IL-10, and IFN- $\gamma$  by T cells. Furthermore, cell cycle analysis indicated that induction of cell proliferation was occurred through the activation of G1/S transition.

Taken together, the mAb COS3A recognized the human CD63 molecule, which may play a crucial role in the initial step of phagocytosis of *E.coli* and in regulation of T cell responses. Thus the mAb COS3A is suitable for both biochemical and functional studies of the CD63, and may be used for further study of the mechanism of the CD63 on phagocytosis and T cell activation. The obtained knowledges may lead to better understand of the CD63 function in regulation of the immune system and in therapeutic approaches.

ะ ราวักยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรบา

Student's signature \_\_\_\_\_

Academic Year 2015

Advisor's signature

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my thesis advisor Asst. Prof. Dr. Panida Khunkaewla for providing me a great opportunity to study towards my Ph.D. degree in Biochemistry and to work on this project, and for her valuable guidance, unconditional support, and encouragement. I am also deeply grateful to my co-advisor, Professor Dr. Watchara Kasinrerk and Dr.Supasa Pata at Chiang Mai University, Thailand for giving me a chance to work on the effect of mAb COS3A on T cell activation, and valuable technical skills, and their precious advice, and also for their kind supports throughout my time in Chiang Mai.

I acknowledge all the lecturers of the School of Biochemistry at Suranaree University of Technology for passing on to me their biochemistry knowledge and biochemical lab techniques, which were later found to be useful for my project development.

I wish to thank all my friends in the Biochemistry-Electrochemistry Research Unit, the School of Biochemistry, and Suranaree University of Technology for helping me to get through the difficult times, and for all the emotional support, friendship, and entertainment.

I would also like to thank my family for their unconditional love, care, support, understanding, and encouragement. Without them, I would not be what am I today.

Finally, I recognize that this research would not have been possible without the outstanding scholarship of Suranaree University of Technology for the financial support and the Biochemistry-Electrochemistry Research Unit, Suranaree University of Technology.

Siriwan Wansook



### CONTENTS

ABSTRACT IN THAI	I
ABSTRACT IN ENGLISH	III
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	V
CONTENTS	VII
LIST OF FIGURES	XIII
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	XVII
CHAPTER	
I INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Significance of research	1
1.2 Leterature review	3
1.2.1 Immune system	3
1.2.1.1 Innate immunity	6
1.2.1.2 Adaptive immunity	9
1.2.1.2.1 Humoral mediated immunity (HMI)	9
1.2.1.2.2 Cell mediated immunity (CMI)	10
1.2.2 Antibody structure and function	11
Monoclonal antibody	
1.2.3 Phagocytosis and PRRs	16
1.2.4 T cell activation	

1.2.4.1 Costimulatory molecule
1.2.4.2 T cell regulation by cytokines
2.1.5 Leukocyte surface molecules
Numeclature of leukocyte surface molecule in
Cluster of differentiation (CD) system
1.2.6 Tetraspanins27
1.2.6.1 The CD63 molecule
1.2.6.2 Structure of the tetraspanin CD63
1.2.6.3 The tetraspanin CD63 and partner molecules
1.2.6.4 The tetraspanin CD63 functions
The tetraspnin CD63 in immune system
1.2.7 Thesis objectives
II MATERIALS AND METHODS
2.1 Materials
2.1.1 Bacterial strain and vectors
2.1.2 Cell preparation and cell lines
2.1.2.1 Cell lines
2.1.2.2 Isolation of peripheral blood mononeuclear cells (PBMCs)
using Ficoll-Hypaque gradient centrifugation41
2.1.2.3 T cell purification41

Page
2.1.3 Antibodies
2.1.4 Chemicals and Meterials
2.1.5 Instrumentation45
2.2 Methodology45
2.2.1 Cellular distribution of the mAb COS3A recognizing molecule45
2.2.1.1 Indirect immunofluorescence staining45
2.2.1.2 Intracellular staining46
2.2.1.3 Immunofluorescence staining of the PHA activated PBMCs46
2.2.2 Biochemical characterization of the mAb COS3A recognizing47
molecule
2.2.2.1 Western blotting47
2.2.2.2 Tunicamycin (TM) treatment
2.2.2.3 N-glycosidase F treatment
2.2.3 Identification of the mAb COS3A recognizing molecule48
2.2.3.1 Preparation of the COS3A coupled beads
2.2.3.2 Cell lysate preparation
2.2.3.3 Immunoprecipitation
2.2.4 Effect of the mAb COS3A on phagocytosis
2.2.4.1 Preparation of phagocytosable particles
2.2.4.2 Phagocytosis analysis by flow cytometry

2.2.5 Effect of the mAb COS3A on T cell activation
and cytokine production51
2.2.5.1 Fluorecent cell labeling using carboxyfluorecein diacetate
succinimidyl ester (CFSE)51
2.2.5.2 Effect of the soluble mAb COS3A concentration
on T cell proliferation51
2.2.5.3 Effect of the soluble mAb COS3A on cell proliferation
and cytokine production in PBMCs model
2.2.5.4 Effect of the soluble mAb COS3A on IL-2 receptor
(CD25) expression
2.2.5.5 Intracellular cytokine staining53
2.2.5.6 Effect of neutralization of IL-10 on suppression of cell
proliferation by the mAb COS3A
2.2.5.7 Effect of the soluble mAb COS3A on T cell
proliferation and cytokine production in T cell model54
2.2.5.8 Co-stimulation assay and cytokine production
2.2.5.9 Cell cycle assay
2.2.5.10 Statistics
III RESULTS
3.1 Cellular expression of the mAb COS3A recognizing molecule

3.2 The mAb COS3A recognizes a high N-glycosylated protein62
3.3 The mAb COS3A binds specifically to human CD6365
3.4 Functional studies of the mAb COS3A70
3.4.1 The mAb COS3A inhibits granulocyte phagocytosis70
3.4.2 The soluble mAb COS3A inhibits T cell proliferation74
3.4.3 The soluble mAb COS3A inhibits CD25 expression
3.4.4 The soluble mAb COS3A inhibited production of IL-2
and IFN- $\gamma$ by T lymphocytes but enhanced production of IL-10
by monocytes during CD3-mediated T cell activation83
3.4.5 Suppression of CD3-mediated T cell proliferation by
the mAb COS3A does not involve in the inhibitory function .
of IL-10 on T cell activation85
3.4.6 The soluble mAb COS3A had no effect on both purified T cells
proliferation and production of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ and IL-10 by T cells94
3.4.7 Coimmobilization of the mAb COS3A and anti-CD3 mAb OKT3
strongly enhanced T cell proliferation and secretion of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$
and IL-1098
3.4.8 Coimmobilization of anti-CD63 mAb COS3A and anti-CD3 mAb
OKT3 promoted transition of cell cycle from G1 to S phase104
IV DISCUSSION

V	CONCLUSION		
RE	FERENCES		
AP	PENDICES		
	APPENDIX A	LICENSE PERMISSION LETTERS .	
	APPENDIX B	OUTPUT FROM THESIS	156
CU	RRICULUM VITAE		



### LIST OF FIGURES

Figu	re Page
1.1	Hematopoiesis
1.2	Innate and adaptive immunity
1.3	Types of adaptive immunity9
1.4	Schematic structure of the human IgG molecule12
1.5	Direct and indirect functions of antibody15
1.6	Mechanism of phagocytosis
1.7	Three signals induce T cell activation
1.8	Full activation of T cell requires costimulatory signals24
1.9	Structure of tetraspanins enriched microdomains (TEMs)
1.10	Model of three different mechanisms underlying tetraspanin
	involvement in microbial infection of host cells
1.11	Schematic illustration of structural design of the human CD63
1.12	Tetraspanin CD63 in antigen presentation and T-cell activation
3.1	Cell surface expression of the molecule recognized by the mAb COS3A
	on COS7 cells
3.2	Intracellular expression of the molecule recognized by the mAb COS3A
	in COS7 cells
3.3	Cell surface expression of the mAb COS3A recognizing antigen on
	hematopoietic cell lines

### LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figu	Figure Page		
3.4	Cell surface expression of the mAb COS3A recognizing antigen		
	on peripheral blood lymphocytes, monocytes, granulocytes		
	and red blood cells60		
3.5	Cellular expression of the mAb COS3A recognizing antigen		
	was strongly increased upon PHA activation61		
3.6	Western blotting of the mAb COS3A target molecule63		
3.7	Deglycosylation of the mAb COS3A target molecule by digestion with		
	N-glycosidase F		
3.8	Deglycosylation of the mAb COS3A target molecule by tunicamycin		
	treatment		
3.9	The SDS-PAGE of the precipitated proteins from the mAb COS3A		
	coated beads		
3.10	The mAb COS3A binds specifically to human CD63 molecule		
3.11	The recombinant pQEtriSystem-GFP plasmid72		
3.12	FACS profiles represent the fluorescence intensity of		
	wild-type <i>E.coli</i> (WT) and <i>E.coli</i> expressing GFP ( <i>E.coli</i> -GFP)72		
3.13	The mAb COS3A inhibits granulocytes phagocytosis73		
3.14	The percentage of granulocytes phagocytosis74		
3.15	FACS profile of the inhibition of CD3-mediated		
	T cell proliferation by the soluble mAb COS3A		

### LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figu	re Page
3.16	Bar graph shows the inhibitory effect of soluble mAb COS3A
	on T cell proliferation using PBMCs as model77
3.17	Comparison of T cell suppression between mAb COS3A
	and mAb MEM-25978
3.18	Effect of the soluble mAb COS3A on CD3-mediated
	T cell proliferation compared to anti-CD63 mAb, MEM-25979
3.19	Cell surface analysis of IL-2 receptor (CD25) expression80
3.20	Bar graph shows the percentage of CD25 positive cells
3.21	Bar graphs shows effects of the mAb COS3A on a total production
	of IL-2, or IL-10, or INF-γ
3.22	Intracellular expression of IL-2 in CD3 <sup>+</sup> lymphocytes
3.23	Intracellular expression of INF-γ in CD3 <sup>+</sup> lymphocytes88
3.24	Intracellular expression of IL-10 in CD3 <sup>+</sup> lymphocytes
3.25	Intracellular expression of IL-10 in CD14 <sup>+</sup> monocytes90
3.26	The soluble mAb COS3A decreased IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$ production in CD3 <sup>+</sup>
	T lymphocytes and enhanced IL-10 production in CD14 <sup>+</sup> monocyte91
3.27	Effect of an anti-IL-10 mAb on inhibitory effect of
	CD3-mediated T cell proliferation by the mAb COS3A92
3.28	Neutralizing antibody againinst IL10 could not improved the suppression of
	T cell proliferation by the mAb COS3A93

# LIST OF FIGURES (Continued)

Figu	re Page
3.29	Effect of the mAb COS3A on CD3-mediated T cell
	proliferation using purified T cell as model95
3.30	The percentage of CD3-mediated T cell proliferation in co-cultivation
	with the soluble mAb COS3A using purified T cell as a model96
3.31	The soluble mAb COS3A could not induced production of IL-2,
	IFN- $\gamma$ and IL-10 by OKT3-activated T cells97
3.32	Potent T cell activation by coimmobilization of mAb OKT3
	and mAb COS3A using purified T cell as model101
3.33	Coimmobilization of mAb OKT3 and mAb COS3A provided
	a potent costimulatory signal on human T cell activation102
3.34	Coimmobilization of mAb OKT3 and mAb COS3A
	induced secretion of IL-2, IFN-γ and IL-10
3.35	Cell cycle analysis
4.1	Model of two possible mechanisms of the inhibitory effect of
	the mAb COS3A on phagocytosis of <i>E. coli</i> by granulocytes112
4.2	Effect of the anti-CD63 mAb COS3A on T cell activation117

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

Ab	Antibody
Ag	Antigen
APC	Antigen presenting cell
BSA	Bovine serum albumin
CD	Cluster of Differentiation
CMI	Cell-mediated immunity
CFSE	Carboxyfluorescein succinimidyl ester
DC	Dendritic cell
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
DMEM	Dulbecco's Modified Eagle Medium
EDTA	Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid
ELISA	Enzyme linked immunosorbant assay
FITC	Fluorescein isothiocyanate
GFP	Green fluorescent protein
HMI	Humoral mediated immunity
HRP	Horseradish peroxidase
ICS	Intracellular cytokine staining
IL	Interleukin
IFN-γ	Interferon-γ
Ig	Immunoglobulin

### LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS (Continued)

IL-2	Interleukin-2
IL-10	Interleukin-10
kDa	Kilodalton
LPS	Lipopolysaccharide
MAb	Monoclonal antibody
MHC	Major Histocompatibility Complex
NK	Natural killer
PBMC	Peripheral blood mononuclear cell
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PE	Phyco-erythrin
PerCP	Peridinin chlorophyll protein complex
РНА	Phytohemaglutinin
	Propidium iodine
RPMI-1640	Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium-1640
PRR	Pattern recognition receptor
PVDF	Polyvinylidene Fluoride
SDS-PAGE	Sodium dodecyl sulfate polyacrylamide gel
	electrophoresis
TCR	T cell receptor
TEMs	Tetraspanin enriched microdomains
WT	Wild type

#### **CHAPTER I**

#### INTRODUCTION

#### **1.1 Significance of research**

The immune system of human body has evolved to protect individuals against universe pathogenic microorganisms and also plays important role in tumor protection. The immune system composes of several types of molecules, cells, tissues, and organs that work together to function correctly. This system requires the coordinated expression and action of hundreds of genes and proteins. Among these, the cell-surface proteins expressed by leukocytes are of particular importance due to their critical functions they play in the network of interactions that regulate the innate and adaptive immune response. These differentiation proteins have been identified and characterized by their binding of specific monoclonal antibodies (mAbs). These cell phenotype-determining proteins are assigned cluster of differentiation (CD) numbers, which has been approved by Human Cell Differentiation Molecule (HCDM) workshops (formerly Human Leukocyte Differentiation Antigens, or HLDA). The CD nomenclature are used ubiquitously in human medical researches, immunodiagnostics and treatments, and also CD profiles are intended to be used by immunologists, biologists, pathologists, hematologists, and clinicians generally. Recently, The HCDM workshops have recognized some 500 as leukocyte cell-surface molecules, over 360 of them with CD names. In addition, it has been estimated that about 5,500 human genes encode for membrane proteins, which correspond to approximately 26 % of the known human protein-coding genes (Diaz-Ramos, Engel, and Bastos, 2011) Certainly, many of these genes may be expressed on the cell surface, suggesting that there is still a very large number of cell surface molecules remained undiscovered and analyzed. To date, several leukocyte surface molecules are being identified using specific monoclonal antibodies in many laboratories around the world. Many researchers produced monoclonal antibodies against leukocyte surface molecules and the availability of new mAbs directed against novel cell surface molecule not only has broad implications for leukocyte biology, but also for the development of new diagnostic and therapeutic (Engel, 2011; Fagerberg, Jonasson, von Heijne *et al.*, 2010; Zola, Swart, Banham *et al.*, 2007).

In collaboration with Professor Dr. Watchara Kasinrerk, whose laboratory has mainly focused on production of mAbs, the generated mAbs are used for both basic researches and medical applications. Among these, the mAb named COS3A was selected for this study. The mAb COS3A was produced by a standard hybridoma technique using CD4 expressing COS7 cell as an immunogen for antibody induction in a Balb/c mouse (Pata, Tayapiwatana, and Kasinrerk, 2009). However, this mAb was not specific for CD4 but bound strongly on a molecule on surface of COS7 cell and some human hematopoietic cell lines. Primary functional studies revealed that the mAb COS3A strongly inhibited CD3-mediated T cell activation while PBMCs were used as study model, suggesting that the molecule recognized by this mAb might play an important role in regulation of T cell response.

In this study the mAb COS3A recognizing molecule was identified. Furthermore, cellular distribution, biochemical characterization and functional study of this molecule were investigated. The information obtained from this study may lead to a better understanding of the involvement of this molecule in the immune system, and the knowledge gained from this study may be useful for future application in basic researches, medical diagnostics or therapeutics.

#### **1.2** Literature review

#### 1.2.1 Immune system

The immune system of human body has evolved to protect individuals against pathogenic microorganisms and plays a role in tumor protection. The immune system comprises a variety of immune cells, as well as molecules such as cytokines, antibodies, and complement factors. Cells of the immune system are born from hematopoietic stem cells found deep in the bone marrow. Hematopoietic stem cells are immortal, capable of generating daughter cells, called progenitors that will later give rise to different type of immune cells. There are two main types of progenitors created, the myeloid progenitors and the lymphoid progenitors (Figure 1.1). Whole process of immune system can be categorized into four main important stages including; recognize, the recognition of foreign (or non-self) agents; remove, the elimination of these agents by various effector functions (this is where phagocytosis fits in); regulate, the dampening of the response to protect the body from collateral damage; remember, the remembrance of the intruding agents to be able to stop them from infecting again. Traditionally, the immune system can be broadly divided into two parts, which are innate immunity and acquired or adaptive immunity (Abbas, Lichtman, and Pillai, 2005; Kindt, Goldsby, Osborne et al., 2007). Innate immunity uses the genetic memory of germline-encoded receptors to recognize the molecular patterns of common pathogens. Adaptive immunity is a complex system by which the body learns to recognize a pathogen's unique antigens and builds an antigen specific response to destroy it (Chaplin, 2010). Moreover, whilst the innate immune response does not differ upon repeated exposure to the same pathogen, adaptive immunity allows a memory response to develop so that subsequent encounters with the same antigen are treated with increased alacrity and efficacy by the host (Figure 1.2) (Abbas *et al.*, 2005).





**Figure 1.1** Hematopoiesis. All cells of the immune system originate from a common pluripotent hematopoietic progenitor of the bone marrow. These highly undifferentiated cells divide to produce a common lymphoid progenitor that gives rise to NK cells, B and T lymphocytes, and a common myeloid progenitor that gives rise to red blood cells, granulocytes, megakaryote (cells that produce platelets), macrophages and dendritic cells (Kindt *et al.*, 2007).



**Figure 1.2** Innate and adaptive immunity. Innate immunity represents the first line of defense against pathogens. It is composed of physical, cellular and chemical barriers. Adaptive immune responses develop later and are mediated by lymphocytes and their products. The kinetics of the innate and adaptive immune responses is approximations and may be vary in different infections (Abbas *et al.*, 2005).

#### **1.2.1.1** Innate immunity

Innate immunity is a highly effective set of conserved mechanisms used by multicellular organisms to recognize and counter the constant threat of microbial infections. There is evidence to indicate that innate responses are key to controlling most infections, as well as contributing to inflammatory responses that are central

components of disease (Finlay and Hancock, 2004). This system is ready to start from birth and constitutes our first line of defense. It includes epithelial barriers (such as skin and mucosal membranes), soluble factors (such as complement system, mediators of inflammation and cytokines) and phagocytic cells, including granulocytes, monocytes/macrophages, DCs and NK cells. The hallmark of innate immunity is the germline-encoded pattern recognition receptors (PRRs), which are able to directly activate the immune cells. These patterns are referred to pathogen associated molecular patterns (PAMPs), which are able to distinguish self from nonself and initiate the host defense or damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) which released from injured cells. PAMPs are extremely conserved in microorganism, ranging from lipids and lipoprotein to proteins and nucleic acids, which are fundamental for the survival of pathogens (Akira, Takeda, and Kaisho, 2001; Akira, Uematsu, and Takeuchi, 2006; Janeway and Rosengarten Family Fund., 2001). The task of cellular and soluble components of the innate defense targets the invading pathogen tries to eradicate and present it to cells of the adaptive immune system. The various cells of innate immunity are involed in the cellular effector mechanisms. The innate immune responses set the stage for the adaptive immune response by up regulating the expression of co-stimulatory molecules and by increased cytokine production (Abbas, Lichtman, and Pillai, 2007; Janeway and Rosengarten Family Fund., 2001; Johnson, Ziegler, and Hawley, 2010).



**Figure 1.3** Types of adaptive immunity. In HMI, B lymphocytes secrete antibodies that block infections and eliminate extra-cellular microbes. In CMI, T lymphocytes eradicate intracellular microbes and altered cells (Abbas *et al.*, 2005).

#### **1.2.1.2** Adaptive immunity

The adaptive immunity is different from the innate immunity. It is specific for distinct antigens, has ability to recognize the same antigen and respond more vigorously to repeat exposures. Cells that play an important role in this system consist of two broad sets of antigen-responsive cells, the B and T lymphocytes. A unique characteristic of the cells of this immune system is their epitope-specific antigen receptors, the T cell receptor (TCR) and the B cell receptor (BCR). These receptors are generated by rearrangement of gene segments and mutations during maturation that induces high diversification and specificity. In general, adaptive immune response can be divided into two types as (i) Humoral immune response, elaborated by B-lymphocytes that produce antibodies, targeting pathogens in extracellular spaces, and (ii) Cellular immune response characterized by thymus educated T-lymphocytes and their effector cytokines that specifically act on intracellular and phagocytized pathogens (Figure 1.3) (Abbas et al., 2005; Paul, 2008). The most important of the adaptive immune system is specific and developed during our life-time. In addition, it gives rise to immunological memory that protects us from re-infection with same pathogen (Paul, 2011).

#### 1.2.1.2.1 Humoral mediated immunity (HMI)

HMI components consist of B-lymphocytes or B-cells. These B-cells produce antibodies, which are capable of recognizing three-dimensional structures (3D) and thus can interact with and lead to the neutralization of pathogens in extracellular fluid (Paul, 2011). B-cells are produced in bone marrow and reside there until maturation. When they are released, they have a unique receptor on their membrane called an immunoglobulin (Ig) receptor, due to its link to a specific Ig super-family. When a B-cell encounters an antigen, it reacts in two ways: one is the production of a memory B-cell and the other is the production of an effector B-cell. The memory B-cell also has the Ig receptor on its membrane and keeps looking for more similar antigens. The plasma cell or effector B-cell loses the Ig receptor and grows larger in size and starts producing antibodies (Abbas *et al.*, 2007; Kuby, 1997). In addition, B cells constitutively express major histocompatibility complex (MHC) class II molecules and are efficient at acquiring cognate peptide antigen, they can also act as antigen presenting cell (APC) for T cells. However, they are not the most efficient APC as they must be activated to induce expression of additional molecules such as the B7 molecules CD80, CD86, and CD40 via bidirectional signaling to promote T cell activation (Vanden Bush, Buchta, Claudio *et al.*, 2009).

#### 1.2.1.2.2 Cell-mediated immunity (CMI)

The term CMI refers to the antigen-specific action of T cells or, Tlymphocytes. The principal role of this immunity is to detect and eliminate cells that harbor intracellular pathogens and also can recognize and eliminate cells, such as tumor cells, that have undergone genetic modifications so that they express antigens not typical of normal cells (Kindt *et al.*, 2007). The most critical function of the cellmediated immune response is the activation and programming of T cells from their naïve/resting state to activated state, which can be devided into three major stages: activation, differentiation, and memory formation (Pennock, White, Cross *et al.*, 2013).

#### **1.2.2** Antibody structure and function

Antibodies are Y shaped Ig molecules comprised of two light chains and two heavy chains. Each chain in turn is composed of a variable region (V) at the Nterminus of the protein and a constant region (C) at the C-terminal end of the protein. The V region comprises one heavy chain (V<sub>H</sub>) and the adjoining V region of one light chain (V<sub>L</sub>) from an antigen-binding site. The constant regions of light chains (C<sub>H</sub>) have either of the two amino acid sequences named kappa and lambda. The C<sub>H</sub> have one of five basic amino acid sequences i.e.  $\alpha$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\varepsilon$ ,  $\gamma$ , or  $\mu$ . These sequences determine the isotype of the antibody molecules, and based on the isotype of the heavy chain constant region, Igs adopt one of 5 classes in humans IgG, IgA, IgM, IgD, and IgE. Among the Ig isotypes, IgG is the most abundant, making up about 75% of all Igs found in the human serum (Figure 1.4). Further, IgGs consist of four subtypes: IgG1, IgG2, IgG3, and IgG4, in decreasing order of occurrence. These subtypes differ mainly in their amino acid sequences as well as in the number of disulfide bonds between the heavy chains (Male, 2006).

11



**Figure 1.4** Schematic structure of the human IgG molecule. Green parts are light chains and blue parts are heavy chains. V indicates variable domains; C indicates constant domains;  $V_L$  and  $C_L$  are domains of the light (L) chain; VH,  $C_{H1}$ ,  $C_{H2}$ , and  $C_{H3}$  are domains of the heavy (H) chain; the red regions in variable domains, CDR1, CDR2, and CDR3, are complementary determining regions; –S-S- indicates disulfide bond adapted from (Coico, Sunshine, and Benjamini, 2003).

The function of antibodies is to protect against infection. The mechanism can be either direct or indirect (Figure 1.5). Directly, antibodies can affect infectious agents or their toxic products by neutralization (inactivating or blocking the binding of antigens to receptors), agglutination, or precipitation (making a soluble antigen into an insoluble precipitate). Indirectly, antibodies activate components of innate resistance, including complement and phagocytes. In the body, antibodies are generally produced as a mixed population of classes, specificities, and capacity, which can be named as polyclonal antibody. For using in scientific researches or diagnostic tests ortherapuetics, a monoclonal antibody that contains a specific binding epitope is needed. Now a day, there are common procedures to clone and generated the monoclonal antibodies, which have been used for those proposed mentioned above (Huether and McCance, 2012).

#### Monoclonal antibody

Monoclonal antibodies (mAbs) are monovalent antibodies which bind to the same epitope and are produced from a single B-lymphocyte clone. The production of mouse mAbs was invented by César Milstein and Georges J. F. Köhler in 1975, when they succeeded to fuse a B-cell from an immunized mouse with a mouse myeloma cell. The continuous cultures of so-called hybridomas give a renewable source of mAbs with a desired specificity (Kohler and Milstein, 1975; Liu, 2014). The hybridoma technique is the standard method for production of monoclonal antibodies and a wide range of them made which bind to protein, carbohydrate, nucleic acidand hapten antigens, and which even have catalytic activities leading to many applications including biological research, medical diagnostics and therapy. MAbs have become essential tools for a variety of laboratory techniques such as Western blotting, immunohistochemistry, immunocytochemistry, ELISA, immunoprecipitation and flow cytometric analysis (Koch, Niemeyer, Patel et al., 2002). In additional, mAbs are an important tool for studies of leukocyte surface molecule, which has been proven used in several purposes include; (i) mAbs can be used to discover and identify specific molecules on cells or tissues in terms of cellular distribution, for instance, to distinguish subsets of B cells and T cells. This knowledge is helpful not only for

basic researches but also for identifying different types of leukemias and lymphomas and allowing physicians to tailor treatment accordingly; (ii) biological research, mAbs that bind to cell surface molecules and either stimulate or inhibit particular cellular functions are valuable tools for defining the functions of surface molecules, including receptors for antigens; (iii) mAbs can be used to identify genes of interest and their products (Abbas, Lichtman, and Pillai, 2010; Hiatt, 1991).





**Figure 1.5** Direct and indirect functions of antibody. Protective activities of antibodies can be direct action of antibody alone or indirect activation of other components of the innate immune response. Direct means include neutralization of viruses or bacterial toxins before they bind to receptors on the surface of the host cells. Indirect means include activation of the classical complement pathway through C1, resulting in formation of the membrane-attack complex (MAC), or increased phagocytosis of bacteria opsonized with antibody and complement components bound to appropriate surface receptors (FcR and C3bR) (Huether and McCance, 2012).
#### 1.2.3 Phagocytosis and PRRs

Innate immune mechanisms comprising the recognition of pathogens include the immune cells that are responsible for the elimination of pathogens at their sites of entry. There are several ways of these cells to take up the pathogens and this is collectible grouped under the term endocytosis. This mechanism includes receptormediated endocytosis, pinocytosis and phagocytosis (Beran, Potmesil, and Holub, 2011; Purves, 2004). Phagocytosis is the most important mechanism of innate immunity. This process was first described by Ilya Mechnikov in 1883 during studies on starfish larvae 408 (Mechnikov, 1988). Whole process of phagocytosis can be alienated into three main important stages including (i) recognition, (ii) internalization, and (iii) degradation (Figure 1.6A) (Flannagan, Jaumouille, and Grinstein, 2012). The cells involved in this mechanism called phagocytes including monocytes, macrophages, and granulocytes. These cells express a large number of cell surface and cytosolic receptors that allow them to recognize bacteria, fungi, parasites, viruses, and also altered self molecules (Conner and Schmid, 2003; Dale, Boxer, and Liles, 2008; Stern, Adiseshaiah, and Crist, 2012). Also, numerous studies have been reported that a phagocyte has many types of receptors on its surface that are used to bind to its ligands on the microorganisms.

The ligand-binding properties and expression patterns of these receptors suggest that they may function in one or more host-defense-related processes (Pearson, 1996). Many of these receptors have been characterized and their respective ligands have also been identified. These phagocytic receptors are expressed by phagocytic cells including scavenger and C-type lectin receptors, Toll-like receptors (TLRs) as well as receptors recognizing complement and other opsonins. In detail of

these phagocytic receptors include; (i) the scavenger receptors (SRs), including SR-A and CD36, in particular against bacterial pathogens. Moreover, important function of some SRs is to act as co-receptors to TLR, modulating the inflammatory response to TLR agonists. On bacteria, the SR ligands have commonly been reported to be lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and lipoteichoic acid, but recent advances in the field indicate that bacterial surface proteins play a more important role as target molecules previously thought (Figure 1.6B) (Areschoug and Gordon, 2009); (ii) for SRs than The C-type lectin receptors (CLRs) recognizes specific sugar structures that are present in microorganisms, but normally absent in healthy mammalian glycoproteins, though they may appear on ageing self-glycoproteins such as macrophages and dendritic cells express a variety of CLRs, including the mannose-receptor and Dectin-1 (Geijtenbeek, van Vliet, Engering et al., 2004); (iii) A group of mammalian receptor proteins, homologous to the drosophila Toll proteins, have been given the name TLRs. These receptors recognize conserved molecule structures that are essential for survival of the microbe, an elegant design to prevent microbes from escaping innate recognition. Examples of the TLRs involved in recognition of bacteria include TLR2, TLR4 and TLR5. These receptors recognize bacterial cell wall components or flagella and are located at the cell surface of phagocytic cells, but may also be recruited into phagosomes (Ozinsky, Underhill, Fontenot et al., 2000). In contrast, TLR9, which recognizes bacterial DNA, is only expressed intracellular (Brown, Herre, Williams et al., 2003; Gantner, Simmons, Canavera et al., 2003; Underhill and Gantner, 2004); and (iiii) the opsonin receptors participate in opsonisation of microbes with complement or an antibody greatly enhances their phagocytosis. Fc receptors (F<sub>c</sub>Rs) are expressed by phagocytic cells that bind to the

Fc part of immunoglobulin G (IgG) antibodies, facilitating uptake of antibodytargeted microbes or immune complexes. For example, bacteria opsonised with iC3b that are recognised and phagocytosed by innate immune cells expressing complement receptor (CR3) (CD11b/CD18) and CR4 (CD11c/CD18) (Swanson and Hoppe, 2004; Zhang, Hoppe, and Swanson, 2010).

Taken together, these types of phagocytic receptors can be engaged simultaneously during an encounter of a single pathogen, leading to the recruitment and subsequent activation of a wide variety of signaling molecules. As a result, different signaling pathways are activated and work collectively to ensure an effective elimination of the pathogen by phagocytic cells. Though a large number of receptors and molecules involved in the phagocytic process have been described, many more are expected to be discovered and investigated in order to unravel the complexity of this process. Therefore, finding the new phagocytic receptors or proteins involved in the up- or down-regulation of phagocytosis and investigating their roles in phagocytic process are essential for understanding of the pathogenesis of infectious diseases (Singboottra, Pata, Tayapiwatan *et al.*, 2010).



**Figure 1.6** Mechanism of phagocytosis. Phagocytosis can be alienated into three main important stages including (i) recognition, (ii) internalization, and (iii) degradation. (A) The bacterium is enclosed in a vesicle and digested by a lysosome. (B) Phagocytes have specific receptors that discriminate pathogen-associated - components causing inflammatory responses. As an example, recognition of grampositive bacteria by TLR2 and TLR6 or gram-negative by TLR4 is shown. The figure is modified from (Fallman and Gustavsson, 2005; Stuart and Ezekowitz, 2005).

#### **1.2.4** T cell activation

T cells are central players of the cell-mediated immune response, which help protecting the host against different pathogens. In order to complete their function, T cells need to be activated, which then lead to a variety of responses including proliferation, migration, cytokine production and even apoptosis (Kindt et al., 2007). Activation of a naïve T cell is initiated by the interaction of its TCR with a peptide antigen bound to either a class I (CD8+ cells) or class II (CD4+cells) major histocompatibility complex (MHC) molecules on the surface of antigen-presenting cells (APCs). In addition, the TCR on T cell associates with a complex of membrane proteins collectively known as CD3 (composed of  $\gamma$ ,  $\delta$ ,  $\epsilon$ ,  $\zeta$ , and  $\eta$  chain). This interaction occurs in an immunological synapse involving various molecules, which forms between T cells and APCs. As a result of interaction between T cells and APCs, TCR-associated molecules including CD3<sup>\zeta</sup> transmit a primary activating signal, which is termed signal 1 (Figure 1.7) (Kershaw, Westwood, and Darcy, 2013). However, this signal alone is insufficient to fully activate T cells, which require co-stimulation that is mediated by the interaction of one or more T cell co-stimulatory receptors with their ligands expressed on APCs. Further promotion of activation and growth is provided by cytokines through the engagement of cytokine receptors on T cells to deliver what is referred to as signal 3 (Eggermont, Paulis, Tel et al., 2014).



**Figure 1.7** Three signals induce T cell activation. The outcome of specific antigen recognition by T cells (signal 1) is determined by co-stimulation (signal 2) and delivered by fully activated APCs and the presence of inflammatory cytokines (signal 3). Activation of naïve T cell in the presence of all three signals leads to full effector function (Kershaw *et al.*, 2013).

#### **1.2.4.1** Costimulatory molecules

It has been widely accepted that stimulating a T cell with its cognate antigen alone does not lead to activation as a substitute results in T cell non-responsiveness or anergy to further stimulus (Pennock et al., 2013). The discovery of this led to known that T cell activation requires second signal to achieve fully activated. These signals are generated by the interacting of costimualory ligands expressed on APCs with their receptors on T cell. T cell costimulatory signal are mendatory for initiation of effective immunity for host protective as well as immune-pathological process and the absence of costimulatory signals results in abortive T cell response and T cell anergy. In addition, T cell activation processes are negatively regulated by inhibitory costimulatory pathways. One of the best characterized co-stimulatory molecules expressed by T cells is CD28. This receptor interact with costimulatory ligands B7-1 (CD80) or B7-2 (CD86) on APCs, which can also transduce inhibitory signals by ligation of cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA4) on T cell (Choi, Park, and Lee, 2002; Ribot, Debarros, Mancio-Silva et al., 2012). Numerous lines of evidence have suggested that CD28, which can be regarded as the most potent costimulatory receptor that promotes interleukin 2 (IL-2) production, activation of naïve T cell, T cell proliferation, differentiation, survival and entry into the cell cycle (Figure 1.8) (Kindt et al., 2007). Nevertheless, mice that lack CD28 are able to raise immune responses, indicating that this molecule was in fact not the only molecule capable of providing a costimulatory signal to T cells. Clearly, the numbers of molecules other than CD28 that have been identified as providing a costimulatory function during T cell activation continues to grow. There have been shown that several protein families involved in the generation of T cell costimulatory signals

including, the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) superfamily (CD134, CD137, CD27, CD30, and DR3), the tetraspanins superfamily (CD9, CD37, CD63, CD81, and CD82), the CD2 superfamily (CD2 and CD151), the Ig superfamily (CD5, CD6, CD7, and CD47) and integrins ( $\beta$ 2 integrin: CD11b/DC) (Leitner, Grabmeier-Pfistershammer, and Steinberger, 2010).





**Figure 1.8** Full activation of T cell requires costimulatory signals. T cell recognition of antigen peptides presented by MHC molecule on the surface of APCs is signal 1 and costimulatory signal 2 up-regulates expression of IL-2 and the high affinity IL-2 receptor, leading to the entry of the T cell into the cell cycle and several rounds of proliferation. Some of the cells differentiate into effector cells, others into memory cells (Kindt *et al.*, 2007).

#### **1.2.4.2** T cell regulation by cytokines

Cytokines are peptides that have a fundamental role in communication within the immune system and in allowing the immune system and host tissues cells to exchange information (Vilcek and Feldmann, 2004). There have also been reported that T cell activation and differentiation can be futher directed through binding of cytokines and cytokines receptors. These cytokines are essential for cell survival and productive immune responses, which can be secreted by APCs, CD4<sup>+</sup> T helper cells and especially CD8<sup>+</sup> T cell, (Pennock et al., 2013). The most important cytokine produced by T cells early after activation, often with in 2 to 4 hours after recognition of antigen and costimulators causes production of interleukin-2 (IL-2) and expression of IL-2 receptor (IL-2R) or CD25. The IL-2/IL-2R interaction then delivers signals for clonal expansion and effector development. Therefore, IL-2 is a centeral player for T cell dependent immune response (Malek, 2008). However, there are also other cytokines that can assist in T cell activation and proliferation, include IL-12, IL-15, IL-21, and IFN- $\gamma$  (Eggermont *et al.*, 2014). In addition, it has been reported that interleukin-10 (IL-10) and transforming growth factor beta (TGF- $\beta$ ) exert regulatory function by suppressing T cell proliferation via the secretion of specific cytokines (Couper, Blount, and Riley, 2008; Gorelik and Flavell, 2002). IL-10 is produced by both monocytes and lymphocytes. It has been reported that this cytokine downregulates surface expression on APC, such as CD80/86 and intercellular adhesion molecule 1 (ICAM-1), and thereby strongly inhibits antigen presenting capacity. Moreover, IL-10 was suggested to mediate the inhibition of CD28 and also inducible T-cell costimulator (ICOS) signaling pathway (Taylor, Akdis, Joss et al., 2007).

Additionally, It significant increased IL-10 has been associated with increased activity of negative costimulatory signals on T cell such as programmed cell death 1(PD-1) and CTL4-A. Finally, IL-10 is effective at decreasing level of IL-2, IL-12, and IFN- $\gamma$  (Sabat, Grutz, Warszawska *et al.*, 2010).

#### **1.2.5** Leukocyte surface molecules

The human immune system is a complex machinery involving numerous proteins. Proteins located at surface of the immune cells are called leukocyte surface molecules, which were demonstrated to play key roles in all aspects of leukocyte functions (Diaz-Ramos *et al.*, 2011). Several events, such as regulating the development, activation, and effector functions of leukocytes are orchestrated by a complex series of leukocyte surface molecules. These signals then lead to the activation, differentiation, maturation, and finally control of the immune response (Barclay, Brown, Law *et al.*, 1997).

## Nomenclature of leukocyte surface molecule in the cluster of differentiation

#### (CD) system

The CD system is a system of designating surface molecules of leukocytes that serves as markers of differentiation has been implemented. Such molecules can thus be used to characterize particular cell populations or subsets. The CD nomenclature system was developed by Human Leukocyte Differentiation Antigens (HLDA) Workshops, which is latter changed the name of the organization to Human Cell Differentiation Molecules (HCDM) to reflect broader objective (Zola, 2005) and also for those that have not been given a CD number. (Matesanz-Isabel, Sintes, Llinas *et al.*, 2011). The system was introduced to classify monoclonal antibodies directed against cell surface molecules of leukocytes. A statistical method called

cluster analysis was used to analyze the data and identify antibodies with similar patterns of binding to leukocytes at particular stages of differentiation in the name of the CD system. In addition, surface expression of a particular CD molecule may not be specific for just one cell or even a cell lineage. However, many are useful for characterization of cells (Barclay *et al.*, 1997). The detection of protein markers on leukocytes by CD antigen expression is now widely used in clinical medicine and experimental immunology. CD-specific monoclonal antibodies have been involved determining the functions of CD proteins, identifying the distribution of CD proteins in different cell populations in normal individuals, measuring changes in the proportion of cells carrying these markers in patients with disease (e.g. decrease in CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells is a hallmark of HIV infection) and developing therapeutic measures for increasing or decreasing the numbers or activities of certain cell populations (Zola and Swart, 2005).

#### **1.2.6** Tetraspanins

Tetraspanins are a large family of evolutionary conserved cell-surface proteins but in some cell types are also presented in lysosomes-related organelles or secretory lysosome (Charrin, Jouannet, Boucheix *et al.*, 2014). These proteins are expressed in the wide range of organisms, including, plant (Arabidopsis), schitosome, some sponges, fungi (but not yeast), insects (Drosophila), zebrafish and mammals. This family was first described as distinct protein family in 1994 (Levy and Shoham, 2005; Wright and Tomlinson, 1994). They are comprised of small molecule (20-50 kDa) and their general structures contain four transmembrane segments (TM1–TM4) with both cytoplasmic tails at the N- and C-terminal extremities linked by one short extracellular (EC1), one short intracellular (IC), and one large extracellular (EC2)

stretches. A distinctive feature of tetraspanins compared to other four-transmembrane proteins is the conserved Cys-Cys-Gly motif and at least two other residues that contribute to disulphide bond formation in EC2. Furthermore, based on analyses of amino acid sequences of the EC2, the segment known to be the primary binding site for tetraspnin-associated proteins, there are 33 members of this family found in humans, which can be classified into four major subfamilies, including: the CD-non63 e.g., CD9, CD81, CD82, and CD151, the CD63 subfamily e.g. CD63 and TSPAN31, the uroplakin subfamily (UPK 1A/1B) and the retinal degeneration slow (RDS) subfamily (RDS-ROM) (Berditchevski, Rubinstein, and Springer Link, 2013; Hu, Song, Xie et al., 2015; Kovalenko, Yang, and Hemler, 2007). The role of these molecules is relating to an organization of proteins in the cell membranes where tetraspanins direct other proteins into signal-transducing microdomains known as tetraspanin-enriched microdomains (TEMs) (Figure 1.9). The numerous of proteins associated within TEMs include integrins, growth factors, metalloproteases, signaling molecule receptors (tyrosine kinases and G-protein coupled receptors), and many of the most important membrane molecules in an immune function such as antigenpresenting molecules (MHC class I, MHC class II), molecules associated with the TCR (CD2, CD3), BCR (CD19), co-receptor (CD4, CD8), co-stimulatory molecules or PRRs. (Jones, Demaria, and Wright, 2011; van Spriel, 2011). In addition, for the majority of tetraspanins, no ligands have been discovered. Several studies have focused on looking for the partnership interaction of the tetraspanin web. Its composition is thought to be a key factor that influences tetraspanin activity by bringing molecules into a close proximity and thus encouraging cross-talk between them. The TEMs are highly dynamic with molecules constantly move into or out of the microdomain and the changes in TEMs composition determine tetraspanin activity (Yanez-Mo, Barreiro, Gordon-Alonso *et al.*, 2009). In addition, tetraspanins have also been proposed to form functional complexes with microbial receptors in the host cell membrane. TEMs were able to serve as specialized interacting platforms for viral, bacterial, parasiticor fungal pathogens. Theere are three different mechanisms model are expected to be located under tetraspanin involvement in microbial infection of host cells (Figure 1.10) (van Spriel and Figdor, 2010). Thus, this family members are associated with diverse biological processes including membrane fusion, adhesion, motility, immune system function and microbial infection (Fanaei, Monk, and Partridge, 2011).





**Figure 1.9** Structures of tetraspanins enriched microdomains (TEMs). Tetraspanins form clusters in the plasma membrane. TEMs are highly populated by tetraspanins as wells as associated molecule including integrins, gangliosides and Ig molecules. TEMs composition regulates signalling across the membrane (Yanez-Mo *et al.*, 2009).



**Figure 1.10** Model of three different mechanisms underlying tetraspanin involvement in microbial infection of host cells. (i) Microbes can exploit tetraspanin microdomains to enter, colonize and invade host cells. (ii) Tetraspanins may interact with phagocytic receptors that facilitate uptake and microbial killing by leukocytes. (iii) Tetraspanins can modulate signaling pathways downstream of microbial receptors that regulate gene transcription and production of cytokines by leukocytes (van Spriel and Figdor, 2010).

#### 1.2.6.1 The CD63 molecule

Among the tetraspanins, CD63 originally identified as a protein present on the cell surface of activated blood platelet, known as platelet glycoprotein 40 (Pltgp40) and was found to be identical to ME491/CD63, an antigen associated with human malignant (Hotta, Takahashi, and Homma, 1989; Pols and Klumperman, 2009). This molecule is also an established component of late endosomal and lysosomal membranes, known as lysosomal associated membrane protein 3 (LAMP-3) and at the plasma membrane, it cycles among these compartments (Dell'Angelica, Mullins, Caplan *et al.*, 2000). It has been found in numerous types of leukocyte cells and endo/epithelial cells, except for erythrocytes (Patnaik, Kang, Seo *et al.*, 2013). Upon cell stimulation, this molecule is mobilized to the cell surface via the exocytic pathway and gets involved in various immunophysiological processes, including cell growth, motility, signal transduction, host-pathogen interactions and cencer (Pols and Klumperman, 2009).

#### **1.2.6.2** Structure of the tetraspanin CD63

CD63 is composed of 237 amino acids. Its gene is located on human chromosome 12q13 (Pols and Klumperman, 2009). The CD63 is tightly regulated by glycosylation with N-linked glycosylation sites, but not with O-linked glycosylation. In addition, cellular distribution studies have indicated cell-specific glycosylation patterns of the protein, as a substantial difference in the apparent size of this molecule was observed in different cell types (Ageberg and Lindmark, 2003). The molecular weight of this molecule was reported to range from 30 to 60 kDa. Moreover, the predicted molecular weight without the glycan part of the CD63 is 25 kDa (Azorsa, Hyman, and Hildreth, 1991; Tominaga, Hagiwara, Kosaka *et al.*, 2014). Althought, the complete 3D structure of human CD63 has not been determined, but CD63 structure has been reported to be a member of the tetraspanin family, consisting of four TM1-TM4 linked by EC1 and EC2 containing the CCG motif and with three potential N-linked glycosylation sites (N130, N150, and N172), short intracellular N

and C terminal tails (Figure 1.11) (Azorsa, Hyman *et al.*, 1991; Kitadokoro, Bordo *et al.*, 2001). However, the pattern of disulfide bonds has not been described by tertiary structure (3D) of this molecule (DeSalle, Mares, and Garcia-Espana, 2010).



**Figure 1.11** Schematic illustration of structural design of the human CD63. The short extracellular loop (EC1), the longer extracellular loop (EC2) and intracellular N-and C-terminal fragments. The transmembrane regions are highlighted in black and three N-linked glycosylation sites are depicted with EC2 region of CD63. The figure is modified from (Metzelaar, Wijngaard, Peters *et al.*, 1991; Patnaik *et al.*, 2013; Schafer, Starkl, Allard *et al.*, 2010).

#### **1.2.6.3** The tetraspanin CD63 and partner molecules

Many studies have demonstrated that the CD63 is a component of TEMs and this molecule has diversity interacts with many different proteins, either directly or indirectly, and regulates intracellular transport and localization with in the cell (Pfistershammer, Majdic, Stockl et al., 2004; Tominaga et al., 2014). The interaction partners include other tetraspanins (CD81, CD82, CD9, CD151), cell surface receptors (MHC-II, CD3, Fc $\epsilon$ RI, CXCR4), several integrins ( $\alpha$ 4 $\beta$ 1,  $\alpha$ 3 $\beta$ 1,  $\alpha 6\beta 1$ , LFA-1 and  $\beta 2$ ), PRRs (proHB-EGF, Dectin-1, CCR3), proteinkinases (phosphatidylinositol 4-kinase and the Src family tyrosine kinases Lyn and Hck), several subunits of adaptor protein (AP) complexes (AP-2, AP-3, AP-4) and other proteins, including L6 antigen, syntenin-1, TIMP-1, H, K-ATPase, and MT1-MMP. Presumably, the physiological functions of this tetraspanin protein are determined in large measure by its repertoire of the interacting proteins (Duffield, Kamsteeg, Brown et al., 2003; Lin, Kamsteeg, Zhang et al., 2008; Pols and Klumperman, 2009; Radford, Thorne, and Hersey, 1996). Several studies suggest that the interacting of CD63 and its partner molecules plays major roles in cell growth, motility, signal transduction, host-pathogen interactions and cancer. However, all physiological and signal transduction events in regulation to these association functions are not clear (Patnaik et al., 2013).

#### 1.2.6.4 The tetraspanin CD63 functions

#### The tetraspanin CD63 in immune system

The challenge in understanding tetraspnins function is in linking such diverse biochemical interactions with specific functions. The CD63 is know to be expressed both intracellular and surface membranes. This molecule is ubiquitously expressed

in all leukocytes such as T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes, DCs, monocytes, granulocytes, basophils, mast cells and platelets (Schroder, Lullmann-Rauch, Himmerkus et al., 2009). The CD63 is also known as a biomarker for activation of several cell types including granulocytes and platelets. Though, function of the CD63 in both innate and adaptive immune response remains to be discovered. Studies of CD63 in leukocytes have currently begun to provide concrete links between partnership with specific molecules and particular functions (Jones et al., 2011; van Spriel, 2011). CD63 functions in the innate immune response to the pathogenesis of a wide variety of pathogens, including bacteria, fungi, parasites, and viruses have been reported. For instance, tetraspanin CD63 found in late endosomal mutivasicular bodies (MVBs) is essential incorporated into viral particles and intracellular bacteria (Beatty, 2006; Chen, Dziuba, Friedrich et al., 2008). In support of this, CD63 was first identified as gateways for Human immunodeficiency virus type 1 (HIV-1) budding at the plasma membrane and readily incorporates into HIV-1 virions. Based on experiments using mAb against CD63, or a recombinant protein containing EC2 loop of CD63 inhibits HIV infection of monocyte-derived macrophage (MDM) (Ho, Martin, Higginbottom et al., 2006; von Lindern, Rojo, Grovit-Ferbas et al., 2003). Moreover, the CD63 suppresses chemokine receptor CXCR4 trafficking of the cell surface, which affects HIV-1 entry into T-lymphocytes (Fu, Pan, Xie et al., 2015). It has been documented that intracellular development of Chlamydia trachomatis depends on the interaction between CD63-positive late endocytic multi-vesicular bodies (MVBs) and the bacterial inclusion, however that CD63 itself appears not to be essential for this association (Beatty, 2006, 2008). On the other hand, the role of CD63 in inhibiting adherence of Neisseria meningitides,

Staphylococcus aureus, Neisseria lactamica, E. coli and Streptococcus pneumoniae to human epithelial cells have been observed by blocking of large extracellular loop (LEL) of CD63 using CD63 antibodies and small interfering RNAs (siRNAs) (Patnaik *et al.*, 2013). Another study demonstrated that CD63 recruitment to yeast phagosomes is dependent on phagosomal acidicfication, but occurred independently of MHC-II and LAMP-1 (Artavanis-Tsakonas, Love, Ploegh *et al.*, 2006). In basophilic granulocytes and mast cells, the CD63 interacts with the high-affinity immunoglobulin E (IgE) receptor (FceRI) (Kraft, Fleming, Billingsley *et al.*, 2005; Sainte-Laudy, Boumediene, Touraine *et al.*, 2007). Therefore, analysis of CD63 expression in human basophilic granulocytes, the so-called basophil activating test (BAT), has been used for allergy diagnosis (Bridts, Sabato, Mertens *et al.*, 2014; McGowan and Saini, 2013; Tammaro, Narcisi, Amodeo *et al.*, 2012). Furthermore, a significant increase in CD63 surface expression was also found on neutrophils, which is observed undergoing apoptosis due either to aging or to stimulation of the Fas receptor (Beinert, Munzing, Possinger *et al.*, 2000).

CMI response is initiated by T cell engagement of peptide antigens processed by MHC I/II on the surface of APCs. Many tetraspanins interact with MHC molecules and are involved in regulation of their function (Figure 1.12) (Jones *et al.*, 2011). It has been shown that the tetraspanin CD63 is associated with MHC II molecule and these CD63-MHC class II complexes are present exclusively in MHC class II compartments (Engering, Kuhn, Fluitsma *et al.*, 2003), suggesting that this molecule is found in the complex with MHC II may be involved in the regulation of peptide loading to MHC II and present onto cell surface (Jones *et al.*, 2011). Furthermore, knocking down the CD63 in EBV-transformed

B cells increases the ability to activate CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells, an increases production of exosomes (Petersen, Odintsova, Haigh et al., 2011). On T cell, there are only a few studies on function of this molecule. The CD63 is weakly expressed in resting T cell but quickly induced upon T cell activation. It has been reported that the CD63 associates with type II phosphoinositide 4 kinase in intracellular vesicles as well as infocal adhesions at the plasma membrane during T cell signaling. Binding of intact anti-CD63 mAb (11C9) or its Fab to the CD63 on T cells inhibits their responses to DCs, whereas cross-linking of the CD63 with this mAb can costimulate the activation of the TCR/CD3 complex in human T cells, suggesting that the CD63 might be involved in the delivery of a costimulatory signal (Pfistershammer et al., 2004). However, the natural ligand for T cell-assosiated CD63 and molecular machanisim of the CD63 in regulation of both suppression and stimulation of T cells have not yet been identified. Function of the CD63 has also been studied in the animal model and found that the development of immune cells of the CD63-deficient mice is normal, however functional studies have not been reported. In addition, these mice exhibit morphologic changes in the collecting ducts in the kidneys, which then leads to a disturbed water balance (Schroder et al., 2009). Additionally, loss of P-selectin dependent leukocyte rolling and a failure of leukocyte extravasation in a peritonitis model are found in CD63 knockout mice, indicating that the CD63 is an important component of inflammation (Doyle, Ridger, Ferraro et al., 2011).



**Figure 1.12** Tetraspanin CD63 in antigen presentation and T-cell activation. An APC contains MHC II compartments (MIICs) is derived following phagocytosis of exogenous pathogens and contains resident tetraspanins CD63 as well as CD82. Furthermore, CD63 or CD37 associated with Dectin-1, as PRRs partners, recognize their respective PAMPs. In the other hand, microbial phagocytosis and antigen processing occur and microbial antigen is then loaded onto MHC II. Peptide–MHC II cluster is presented on cell surface together with the CD63 and other tetraspanins (CD82, CD81, and CD9) in a close association. In addition, the CD63 also associates with PI4K, which is linked to the actin cytoskeleton (Jones *et al.*, 2011).

## **1.2.7** Thesis objectives

- 1. To study cellular distribution of the mAb COS3A recognizing molecule
- 2. To identify and investigate some biochemical charecteristics of the molecule recognized by the mAb COS3A
- To study immunological function of the molecule recognized by the mAb COS3A using the mAb COS3A as a tool



# **CHAPTER II**

# **MATERIALS AND METHODS**

## 2.1 Materials

#### 2.1.1 Bacterial strain and vectors

*Escherichea coli* (*E. coli*) strain DH5α was purchased from Gibco (Grand Island, NY, USA), PQE-tri system vector was purchased from Qiagen (Valencia, CA, USA) and pEGFP-N1 vector was purchased from Clontech Laboratories, Inc. (Mountain View, CA, USA).

#### 2.1.2 Cell preparation and cell lines

#### 2.1.2.1 Cell lines

Human T cell lines (Molt4, SupT1, and Jurkat), B cell lines (Daudi, Ramos and Raji), myeloid cell lines (U937, KG-1a, and THP-1) and erythriod cell lines (K562) were maintained in RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with 10% heat inactivated FCS, 40 mg/ml gentamicin, and 2.5 mg/ml amphotericin B. Monkey Kidney cells (COS7), which is non-hematopoietic cell line, were maintained in DMEM supplemented with 10% heat inactivated FCS 40 mg/ml of gentamicin, and of 2.5 mg/ml amphotericin B. All cells were cultured in a humidified atmosphere of 5%  $CO_2$  at 37°C and passaged three times a week.

# 2.1.2.2 Isolation of periperal blood mononeuclear cells (PBMCs) using Ficoll-Hypaque gradient centrifugation

PBMCs were isolated by density gradient centrifugation. Briefy, heparinized whole blood from normal healthy donors were diluted 1:2 with sterile PBS and then gently overlaid onto 10 ml of Ficoll-Paque (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden) in 50 ml centrifuge tube and cells were centrifuged at 400 g, 25°C for 30 min without brake. The PBMCs at the interphase of plasma and Ficoll-Paque solution were carefully collected. The PBMCs were then transferred into the new centrifuge tube and washed with 10 ml of sterile PBS for 3 times by centrifugation at 1,500 rpm, 25°C for 5 min. The PBMCs were counted and adjusted into the proper medium or buffer.

#### 2.1.2.3 T cell purification

PBMCs were isolated by Ficoll-Hypaque density gradient centrifugation. Monocytes were then removed using hyperosmolar Percoll gradient (density=1.064). PBMCs (5×10<sup>7</sup> cells/ml) were re-suspended in 3 ml of sterile PBS before overlaying onto 10 ml of hyperosmolar Percoll solution (4.15 ml of ddH<sub>2</sub>O, 4.85 ml of Percoll (GE Healthcare Life Sciences, Uppsala, Sweden) and 1 ml of 1.6 M of NaCl) in 15 ml centrifuge tube. The cells were isolated by centrification at 2000 rpm, 25°C for 40 min without brake. The remaining cells at the bottom of tube containing lymphocytes were then transferred into the new centrifuge tube and washed with sterile PBS pH 7.2 for 3 times by centrifugation at 1,500 rpm, 25°C for 5 min. To obtain the CD3<sup>+</sup>T cells, the lymphocyte fraction were then subjected for a negative depletion of B lymphocytes, monocytes, and natural killer cells using magnetic cell sorting (MACS, miltenyi biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, Germany). To perform magnetic cell sorting, the cells were incubated with different anti-human mAbs specific to CD14, CD16, CD20, and CD56 for 30 min on ice. The stained cells were then washed twice with cold 0.5% BSA-PBS-2mM EDTA and centrifuged at 300 g for 5 min and were then incubation with goat-anti mouse IgG conjugated with micro magnetic beads (MACS, miltenyi biotec, Bergisch-Gladbach, Germany) for 30 min at 4°C. After, the stained cells were washed and resuspended in 500 µl of 5% BSA/2 mM EDTA in PBS and were then applied onto LD column. The column was then washed twice of 5% BSA/2 mM EDTA in PBS 2 ml. The unbound purified T cell fraction was collected into new tube. The purity of CD3 positive T cells were greater than 95% as estimated by immunofluorescence staining using FITC-conjugated anti-CD14 mAb and PE-conjugated anti-CD19 mAb and analyzed flow cytometry.

#### 2.1.3 Antibodies

MAb COS3A, anti-bacteriophage protein 13M (anti-13M) and CD147 mAb clone M6-1E9 are IgG2a isotype, CD3 mAb clone OKT3 (IgG1 isotype), CD14 mAb clone MT14/3 (IgG1 isotype), These mAbs were produced in the laboratory of Prof. Dr. Watchara Kasinrerk, Faculty of Associated medical science, Chiang Mai University. CD16 mAb clone LN-K16, CD20 mAb clone MEM-97, and CD63 mAb clone MEM-259 are IgG1 isotype, CD56 mAb clone MEM-188 (IgG2a isotype) were kindly provided from Prof. Dr. Vaclav Horejsi, Institute of Molecular Genetics, Prague, Czech Republic. CD28 mAb clone CD28.2 was purchased from Biolegend (San Diego, CA, USA). HRP-conjugated-rabbit-anti-mouse Igs was purchased from Dako (Glostrup, Denmark), FITC-conjugated goat F(ab')2 anti-mouse immunoglobulinsn antibodies were purchased from Chemicon (Victoria, Australia).

PE-conjugated anti-CD19 mAb clone HIB19, PE-conjugated anti-IL-2 mAb clone MQ1-17H12 and PE-conjugated anti-CD25 mAb clone BC96 were purchased from eBioscience (San Diego, CA, USA), PE-conjugated anti-CD56 mAb clone MEM188, FITC-conjugated anti-CD3 mAb clone HIT3a, PerCP-conjugated anti-CD3 mAb clone UCHT1, PE-conjugates anti-CD14 mAb clone HCD14, PE-conjugated anti-IL-10 mAb clone JES3-19F1 and PE-conjugated IFN-γ mAb clone B27 were purchased from BioLegend (San Diego, CA, USA), Alexa Fluor® 488 conjugated F(ab')2 fragment of goat anti-mouse IgG (H+L) and Dynabeads goat-anti mouse IgG was purchased from Miltenyi Biotech (Bergisch Gladbach, Germany).

#### 2.1.4 Chemicals and Materials

Acrylamide, ammonium persulfate, aprotonin, bis-N. N''methylenebisacrylamide, 2-β-mercaptoethanol, bovince serum albumin (BSA), bromophenol blue, Coomassie brilliant blue G250, ethylenediamine tetra-acetic acid Ν', Ν", N<sup>"</sup>-tetramethylethylenediamine (TEMED), (EDTA), Ν, glycerol, Iodoacetamide, lipopolysacchariles (LPS) from E. coli 055:B5, Propidium iodide (PI), pepstatin A, phorbolmyristate, acetate, Saponin and Tris-base were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Dimethyl sulfozide (DMSO) was purchased from Bio Basic Inc (Makham Ontario, Canada), ampicillin, phenylmethyl sulfonyl fluoride (PMSF), Triton X-100 were purchased from USB Corporation (Cleveland, OH, USA). Skimmed milk, Tryptone, yeast extract powder and agar powder were purchased from Himedia Laboratories (Marg, Mumbai, India). Cyanogen bromide-activated (CNBr) Sepharose 4B, Ficoll-Hypaque solution, Percoll PLUS were purchased from GE Healthcare Life Sciences (Uppsala, Sweden). Prestained standards protein markers were purchased from Fermentas (MA, USA). Heparin was purchased fromLio (Ballerup, Denmark). Ammonium sulphate, potassium chloride, potassium dihydrogen phosphate, sodium bicarbonate, sodium chloride, sodium dihydrogen phosphaste, orthophosphoric acid 85%, glycerine, methanol and ethyl alcohol were purchased from Carlo Erba (Rodano, Milano, Italy). 3-Aminophthalydrazide and Paraformaldehyde were purchased from Fluka (Buchs, Switrland). Monensin, human IL-2, IL-10, or IFN-y Enzyme-Linked Immuno-Sorbant Assay (ELISA) MAX<sup>TM</sup> Deluxe kits were purchased from BioLegen (San Diego, CA, USA), tween-20 was purchased from Scharlau chemie SA. (La Ja, Barcelona, Spain). Carboxyflorescein succinimidyl ester (CFSE), 4',6-diamidino-2phenylindole, dilactate (DAPI, dilactate), DNA miniprep kit, PCR purification kit and Ribonuclease A (RNase A) were purchased from Molecular probes-Invitrogen (Camarillo,CA,USA), N-glycosidase F was purchased from Roche Applied Science (Mannheim, Germany). Phytohemaglutinin (PHA) was purchased from Biochrom AG (Berlin, Germany). Tunicamycin (TM) was purchased from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA). FACs lysis solution, FACS clean solution and FACS rinse solution were purchased from BD Bioscience (San Jose, CA, USA). Developer, replenisher and half-speed blue x-ray film were purchased from Kodak (NY, USA). T4 DNA ligase, BamH-1 and Not1 restriction endonuclease were purchased from New England Biolabs (Beverly, MA, USA). Polyvinylidene difluoride (PVDF) membrane was purchased from PALL (East Hill, NY, USA). LD columns and MACS Separators were purchased from Meltenyi Biotech (Bergisch Gladbach, Germany).

#### 2.1.5 Instrumentation

The instruments were used in this experiment, including of a shaking incubator (MRC, Holon, Israel), a Thermomixer comfort and centrifuge 5415 R. (Eppendorf AG, Hamburg, Germany), a microcentrifuge Denville 26OD (Denville Scientific, Metuchen, NJ, USA). AlRsi laser scanning microscope system (Nikon, Tokyo, Japan), CX21 light microscope (Olympus, New York, USA), CKX41 inverted microscope (Olympus, New York, USA), DP50 fluorescent microscope (Olympus, New York, USA), a High-speed microentrifuge CF16RXII (Hitachi, Tokyo, Japan). Biosafety laminar flow class II (Esco Lifesciences, Thailand), Forma series II water jacket CO<sub>2</sub> incubator and Forma -80°C ULT freezer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, USA). Protein gel electrophoresis apparatus, PCR thermocycler, Myrun DNA electrophoresis apparatus with power supply. Thermomixer, Trans-blot SD semi-dry cell transfer (Bio-Rad, USA). BD FACSCalibur flow cytometer (BD Biosciences, San Jose, CA, USA).

# 2.2 Methodology

#### 2.2.1 Cellular distribution of the mAb COS3A recognizing molecule

#### 2.2.1.1 Indirect immunofluorescence staining

Cells  $(1 \times 10^7 \text{cells/ml})$  or 0.3% RBCs in PBS pH 7.2 were pre-incubated with 10% human AB serum in staining buffer (1% BSA and 0.02% NaN<sub>3</sub> in PBS) on ice for 30 min to block cell surface Fc receptor. Fifty microliters of either mAb COS3A or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M at a final concentration of 20 µg/ml was added into an equal volume of the cell suspension. The cells were washed twice with the staining buffer. Afterward, 25 µl of FITC-conjugated goat anti-mouseIgG at a dilution of 1:100 were added, mixed and incubated on ice for 30 min in dark place.

Finally, the cells were washed with the staining buffer for 3 times before fixing with 1% paraformaldehyde in PBS. The stained cells were then analyzed using a BD FACSCalibur flow cytometer. For COS7 cells, the stained cells were analyzed using an A1Rsi laser scanning microscope system.

#### 2.2.1.2 Intracellular of staining

COS7 cells (5x10<sup>4</sup>cell/ml) were grown on coverslips in DMEM supplemented with 10% FCS, 40  $\mu$ g/ml gentamicin and 2.5  $\mu$ g/ml amphotericin B in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO<sub>2</sub> at 37°C. After one day of cultivation the adhering cells were washed, and then fixed with 4% formaldehyde in PBS pH 7.4 for 15 min at room temperature and treated with permeabilizing buffer (0.1% TritonX-100 in PBS pH 7.4) for 5 min on ice. The cells were stained by adding 100  $\mu$ l of permeabilizing buffer containing either mAb COS3A or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M at a final concentration of 20  $\mu$ g/ml. After 30 min on ice, the cells were washed and then incubated on ice for another 30 min with AF488-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG. DAPI was used for nuclear staining according to manufacturer's instruction. After washing, the stained cells on coversfips were mounted with 50% glycerol in PBS pH 7.2 on glass slides, and sealed with nail polish. The cells were examined under an A1Rsi laser scanning microscope system from Nikon.

#### 2.2.1.3 Immunofluorescence staining of the PHA activated PBMCs

PBMCs (1×10<sup>6</sup>cells/well) were unstimulated or stimulated with 5  $\mu$ g/ml of PHA in RPMI-1640 supplemented with 10% heated inactivated FCS and antibiotic and cultured in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37°C for 1 and 3 days. The cells were harvested and stained with 20  $\mu$ g/ml of the mAb COS3A for 30 min at 4°C. After 30 min on ice, the cells were washed and then incubated on ice for another 30 min

with AF488-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG. Finally, the cells were washed with the staining buffer for 3 times before fixing with 1% para-formaldehyde in PBS. The stained cells were then analyzed by flow cytometry.

#### 2.2.2 Biochemical characterization of the mAb COS3A recognizing molecule

#### 2.2.2.1 Western blotting

U937 cells ( $1 \times 10^7$  cells) were harvested, washed and solubilized for 30 min on ice in 1 ml of lysis buffer (1 % Triton X-100, 50 mM Tris-HCl buffer pH 7.5, 150 mM NaCl, 2 mM EDTA, 1 mM Phenylmenthylsulfonyl (PMSF), 2 µM pepstatin A, 10 µg/ml aprotinin and 5 mM iodoactamide). Clear cell lysates were obtained by centrifugation at 14,000 rpm at 4°C for 10 min. The cell lysates were mixed with 5× non-reducing or reducing Laemmli sample bufferto get the final concentration of  $1 \times$  buffer and were then boiled for 5 min. The proteins of cell lysates were resolved by SDS-PAGE on a 10% separating gel and then electrophoretically transferred on to PVDF membrane by semi-dry electrophoretic blotting system at 15 volts for 1 h. The membranes were blocked for 1 h in 5% skimmed milk in PBS at RT and were then rinsed twice with PBS before incubation for an additional 1 h with 2 µg/ml of the mAb COS3A or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M at RT. The membrane were washed 5 times with washing buffer (0.1% Tween 20 in PBS) and then incubated with HRP-conjugated rabbit anti-mouse immunoglobulins in 1% skimed milk in PBS at RT for 1 h. After thorough washing, the signals were detected by enhanced chemiluminescence method.

#### 2.2.2.2 Tunicamycin (TM) treatment

For TM treatment, U937 cells  $(1 \times 10^6 \text{ cell/ml})$  were cultured in 6 well plates (2 ml/well) in RPMI-1640 medium with or without tunicamycin at a final

concentration of 5  $\mu$ g/ml for 48 h of cultivations, The cells were harvested and washed three times with PBS by centrifugation at 1,500 rpm for 5 min at RT. The cells were further subjected to cell lysis and Western blotting or immunoprecipitation.

#### 2.2.2.3 N-glycosidase F treatment

The immunoprecipitated protein was dissociated from the beads by adding of 80  $\mu$ l of 20 mM phosphate buffer containing 1% SDS boiled for 5 min. The supernatant containing proteins were collected into a new tube by centrifugation at 12,000 rpm for 20 secounds. After that, 160  $\mu$ l of 20 mM phosphate buffer containing 1% Triton X-100 was then added. To remove N-linked sugar five units of Nglycosidase F were added into the eluates followed by incubation for 16 h at 37°C. The deglycosylated proteins were analyzed by Western blotting.

#### 2.2.3 Identification of the mAb COS3A recognizing molecule

#### 2.2.3.1 Preparation of the mAb COS3A coupled beads

The CNBr sepharose beads were prepared by swirling the bead powders in 1 mM HCl solution. The slurry activated CNBr sepharose beads were washed three times with PBS pH 7.4. The activated beads were then resuspended in 1 ml of coupling buffer (0.1 M NaHCO<sub>3</sub>, pH 8.3 containing 0.5 M NaCl) containing one milligram of the mAb COS3A at RT for another 3 h. To stop the coupling reaction and an equal volume of 50 mM glycine in PBS was added and rotated at 4°C for 15 min. The mAb coupled beads were then washed twice with PBS pH 7.4 and stored at 4°C.

#### 2.2.3.2 Cell lysate preparation

U937 cell lines  $(1x10^6 \text{ cells})$  in a condition of tunicamycin treatment as described in 2.2.2.2. The cells  $(5x10^7 \text{ cells})$  were then harvested, washed and

solubilized for 30 min on ice in 1 ml of lysis buffer (1% TritonX-100, 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 7.4, 300 mM NaCl, 5 mM EDTA, 0.02% NaN<sub>3</sub>, 1 mM PMSF, 2  $\mu$ M pepstatin A, 5mM iodoacetamide, and 10  $\mu$ g/ml aprotinin). The clarified lysate were obtained by centrifugation at 16,000 g, for 20 min at 4°C.

#### 2.2.3.3 Immunoprecipitation

U937 cell lysates were precleared with CNBr-activated Sepharose beads coated with human immunoglobulins. The pre-cleared cell lysates were then incubated with CNBr-activated Sepharose beads coated with mAb COS3A or isotypematched control mAb anti-13M and rotated for 3 h at 4°C. After five times washing, the proteins were eluted from the beads by addition of  $1 \times$  non reducing sample buffer boiled for 5 min and then resolved by 10% SDS-PAGE. The protein bands were examined either by Western blotting (2.2.2.1) or blue-silver Coomassie staning. For blue-silver Coomassie staning, the electrophoresis wet gels were fixed in fixative buffer (40% ethanol, 10% acetic acid) for 1 h at RT and washed twice with doubledistilled water for 5 min. The fixed gel were then incubated with blue-silver Coomassie stain (0.12 % Coomassie brilliant blue G-250, 10% ammonium sulphate, 10% o-phosphoric acid and 20% methanol) (Candiano, Bruschi, Musante et al., 2004) overnight at RT and de-stained by washing twice with double-distilled water for 10 min. The protein bands of interest were cut out from the SDS-PAGE gel and sent for amino acid sequencing by liquid chromatography mass spectrometry (LC/MS) at 1<sup>st</sup> BASE Services Company.

#### 2.2.4 Effect of the mAb COS3A on phagocytosis

#### 2.2.4.1 Preparation of phagocytosable particles

Green fluorescent protein (GFP) expressing bacteria were used as phagocytoable particles. To generate this bacterium, the gene coding GFP was subclone from pEGFP-N1 vector by restriction enzyme digestion and inserted into the pQE-Tri expression vector at the sites of *NotI* and *BamHI* using Quick ligase from New England Biolabs (Bever, MA, USA). The recombinant vector was then transformed into *E. coli* strain DH-5 $\alpha$  competent cells. The transformed bacteria were grown in Luria-Bertani broth supplemented with 0.01 µM of ampicillin for 18 h at 37°C and subsequently heat killed at 60°C for 30 min. The fluorescence intensity of the heat-killed bacteria was checked by flow cytometry before use. The same strain of *E. coli*, transformed into pQE-Tri empty vector, was used as a negative control. The bacterial cell suspension used in this study had an optical density at 600 nm (A<sub>600</sub>) of 0.6.

# 2.2.4.2 Phagocytosis analysis by flow cytometry

Phagocytosis was determined using flow cytometry as previously described (Singboottra *et al.*, 2010). Briefly, 100 µl of blood EDTA-treated whole blood was mixed with 100 µl of *E. coli* strain DH-5 $\alpha$  expressing GFP (dilution 1:300 of cell suspension with A<sub>600=0.6</sub> in PBS pH 7.2) in the absence or presence of the mAb COS3A or isotype matched control mAb anti-13M at a final concentration of 20 µg/ml. The cells were incubated at 37°C or on ice for 1 h and then immediately placed on ice. Fifty microliters of RBC lysing solution containing 4.5% formaldehyde and 10% diethylene glycol in PBS pH7.2 was added and incubated on ice for an additional 10 min, then 1 ml of distilled water was added to complete the lysis. White blood cells

were collected by centrifugation at 14,000x g for 30 seconds. The cells were washed twice with PBS pH 7.2 containing 0.1% NaN<sub>3</sub>. The cells were resuspened in PBS pH 7.2 containing 1% paraformaldehyde and phagocytosis was analyzed by using a BD FACSCalibur flow cytometer. Fractional of phagocytosis were obtained from the following equation.

# 2.2.5 Effect of the mAb COS3A on T cell activation and cytokine production 2.2.5.1 Fluorescent cell labeling using carboxyfluorescein diacetate succinimidylester (CFSE)

For cell proliferation assay, PBMCs or purified CD3<sup>+</sup>T cells were washed with PBS pH 7.2 for 3 times and a final concentration of the cells was adjusted to 1 x  $10^7$ cells/ml in PBS pH 7.2. One hundred microliters of CFSE stock solution in DMSO were added into the suspension cells drop wise to get a final concentration of 0.5  $\mu$ M. The cells were mixed by tapping and incubated for 10 min at 37°C. The lebeled cells were then washed twice with pre-cooled RPMI-1640 medium. The CFSE-labeled cells were counted and resuspened in a proper culture medium. Effeciency of the CFSE labeling was checked by using a BD FACSCalibur flow cytometer.

#### 2.2.5.2 Effect of the soluble mAb COS3A concentration on cell proliferation

The CFSE-labeled PBMCs  $(1 \times 10^5 \text{ cells/well})$  were stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb (OKT3; 60 ng/ml) in the presence of the soluble mAb COS3A at seven different concentrations (0.78, 1.5625, 3.125, 6.25, 12.5, 25.0, and 50.0 µg/ml) or 50 µg/ml of isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M. The cells were

 $<sup>\%</sup> Phagocytosis = \frac{(number of GFP positive cells at 37^{\circ}C - number of GFP positive cells at 0^{\circ}C)_{with mAb}}{(number of GFP positive cells at 37^{\circ}C - number of GFP positive cells at 0^{\circ}C)_{without mAb}} \times 100$
cultured for 5 days in a 5%  $CO_2$  incubator at 37°C. The cells were then harvested and cell proliferation was analyzed by monitoring the reduction in CFSE using a BD FACSCalibur flow cytometer.

# 2.2.5.3 Effect of the soluble mAb COS3A on cell proliferation and cytokine production in PBMCs model

The CFSE-labeled PBMCs  $(1 \times 10^5 \text{ cells/well})$  were unstimulated or stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb (OKT3; 60 ng/ml) in the absence or presence of themAb COS3A, or MEM-259 (CD63 mAb), or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M at a final concentration of 12.5 µg/ml for 5 days in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37°C. The cells of each condition were harvested, washed with PBS and determined cell proliferation by monitoring the reduction in CFSE by using a BD FACSCalibur flow cytometer.

For cytokine measurement, culture supernatant were harvested after 24 h of cultivation and the concentration of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$  or IL-10 were measured using human IL-2, or IFN- $\gamma$  or IL-10 ELISA MAX<sup>TM</sup> Deluxe kits.

### 2.2.5.4 Effect of the soluble mAb COS3A on IL-2 receptor (CD25) expression

The PBMCs  $(1\times10^5$  cells/well) were unstimulated or stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb (OKT3; 60 ng/ml) in the absence or presence of the mAb COS3A, MEM-259 (CD63 mAb), or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M at a final concentration of 12.5 µg/ml for 2 days in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37°C. The cells were washed twice and then surface stained with PE-conjugated anti-CD25 mAb for 30 min at 4°C. The cells were subsequently analyzed using a BD FACSCalibur flow cytometer.

#### 2.2.5.5 Intracellular cytokine staning

PBMCs (5×10<sup>5</sup> cells/well) were unstimulated or stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb (OKT3; 60 ng/ml) in the presence of LPS at a final concentration 0.5 µg/ml, or mAb COS3A, or MEM-259 (CD63 mAb), or isotype matched control mAb anti-13M at a final concentration of 12.5 µg/ml. The cells were cultured in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37°C for 1 h before adding of 0.5 µg/ml monensin and further cultured for another 6 h in the same condition. After cultivation the cells were washed twice and surface stained with PerCP-conjugated anti-CD3 and FITC-conjugated anti-CD14 mAbs for 30 min at 4°C. The stained cells were fixed in 200 µl fixation buffer (4% paraformaldehyde in PBS) for 20 min at RT. The fixed cells were then washed twice with PBS and incubated for another 15 min at RT with a permeabilization buffer (5% FBS, 0.1% saponin, and 0.02% NaN<sub>3</sub> in PBS). The intracellular cytokines were determined by staining with PE-conjugated anti-human IL-2, or PE-conjugated anti-human IFN-γ, or PE-conjugated anti-human IL-10, for 30 min at 4°C. The cells were subsequently analyzed by a BD FACSCalibur flow cytometer.

### 2.2.5.6 Effect of neutralization of IL-10 on suppression of cell proliferation by the mAb COS3A

The CFSE-labeled PBMCs  $(1 \times 10^5 \text{ cells/well})$  were unstimulated or stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb (OKT3; 60 ng/ml) in the presence of 12.5 µg/ml of the mAb COS3A in combination of the anti-IL10 mAb, or IgG<sub>1</sub> isotype control mAb at a final concentration of 12.5 µg/ml and the cultured for 3 days in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37°C. The cells of each condition were harvested washed with PBS and cell proliferation was examined by monitoring the reduction of CFSE by flow cytometry.

## 2.2.5.7 Effect of the soluble mAb COS3A on T cell proliferation and cytokine production in T cell model

The CFSE-labeled CD3<sup>+</sup>T cells ( $1 \times 10^5$  cell/well) were unstimulated or stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb (OKT3; 60 ng/ml) in the absence or presence of the mAb COS3A, or mAb MEM-259, or anti-CD28 mAb, or isotypematched control mAb anti-13M at a final concentration of 12.5 µg/ml for 5 days in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37°C. The cells of each condition were harvested, washed with PBS and determined cell proliferation by monitoring the reduction of CFSE by flow cytometry.

For cytokine measurement, culture supernatant were harvested after 72 h of cultivation and the concentration of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , or IL-10 were measured using human IL-2, or IFN- $\gamma$  or IL-10 ELISA MAX<sup>TM</sup> Deluxe kits.

#### 2.2.5.8 Co-stimulation assay and cytokine production

Co-stimulation assay was performed as previously described (Pfistershammer *et al.*, 2004). Briefly, CFSE-labeled CD3<sup>+</sup>T cells ( $1\times10^5$  cells/well) were unstimulated or stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 (OKT3; 1 µg/ml) alone or co-immobilized with 2 µg/ml of the mAb COS3A, or mAb MEM-259, or anti-CD28 mAb, or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M for 5 days in a 5% CO<sub>2</sub> incubator at 37°C. The cells of each condition were harvested, washed with PBS and determined cell proliferation by monitoring the reduction of CFSE by flow cytometry.

For cytokine measurement, culture supernatant were harvested after 72 h of cultivationand the concentration of IL-2, IFN-γ, or IL-10 were measured using human IL-2, or IFN-γ or IL-10 ELISA MAX<sup>™</sup> Deluxe kits.

#### 2.2.5.9 Cell cycle assay

Purified CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells were cultivated as co-stimulatory assay as previously described (2.2.5.8). After 5 day of cultivation, the cells were harvested and washed with cold PBS for 3 times, the cell pellets were then, resuspended by adding 300  $\mu$ l of PBS. The cells were then fixed by adding 700  $\mu$ l absolute ethanol and incubate on ice 30 min. The fixed cells were washed twice and before adding 1 ml of PI solution (20  $\mu$ g/ml PI, 0.1% Triton X-100, 2 mM EDTA, 60  $\mu$ g/ml RNase). The cells were then analyzed by flow cytometry.

#### 2.2.5.10 Statistics

Data analysis was performed using an unpaired t test. Results were considered significant if p < 0.05 (\*\*\*, p < 0.001; \*\*, p < 0.01; \*, p < 0.05).



#### **CHAPTER III**

#### RESULTS

#### 3.1 Cellular expression of the mAb COS3A recognizing molecule

The mAb COS3A was generated during the study of three different immunogen preparation strategies for production of anti-CD4 mAbs (Pata *et al.*, 2009). This mAb, however, was not specific for CD4. As the mAb were produced using the COS7 cell transfection system, we first investigated whether the mAb COS3A reacted with COS7 cell proteins. By surface staining and intracellular staining revealed that the mAb COS3A reacted strongly both to cell surface proteins (Figure 3.1) and to intracellular protein in the monkey kidney cell line, COS7 (Figure 3.2).

Moreover, the cell surface analysis by immunofluorescence staining and flow cytometry of various human hematopoetic cells and hematopoietic cell lines including of human T cell lines (Molt4, SupT1, and Jurkat), B cell lines (Daudi, Ramos, and Raji), monocyte cell lines (U937, THP-1, and KG-1a) and erythriod cell lines (K562) were performed. Fascinatingly, the mAb bound specifically to antigens on surface of various human hematopoietic cell lines (Figure 3.3) monocytes, granulocytes, lymphocytes but not on red blood cells (Figure 3.4). These results suggested a close homology between monkey and human forms of the target molecule. Additionally, cellular expression of this molecule was strongly increased upon phytohemaglutinin (PHA) activation for up to 72 hours (Figure 3.5) indicating that it is an activationassociated molecule.



**Figure 3.1** Cell surface expression of the molecule recognized by the mAb COS3A on COS7 cells. COS7 cells were stained with either mAb COS3A or an isotype matched control, mAb anti-13M by indirect immunofluorescence using AF488-labeled goat anti-mouse IgG antibody as a secondary antibody. Cell nuclei were shown by DAPI staining. The analysis was performed using an A1Rsi laser scanning microscopy system from Nikon with  $100 \times$  magnification. In addition to the fluorescence a transmitted light (TL) image was recorded. A representative result from one of three independent experiments is shown.



**Figure 3.2** Intracellular expression of the molecule recognized by the mAb COS3A in COS7 cells. COS7 cells were fixed, permeabilized, and stained on coverslips with either mAb COS3A or an isotype matched control, mAb anti-13M by indirect immunofluorescence using AF488-labeled goat anti-mouse IgG antibody as a secondary antibody. Cell nuclei were shown by DAPI staining. The analysis was performed using an A1Rsi laser scanning microscopy system from Nikon with 100× magnification. In addition to the fluorescence a transmitted light (TL) image was recorded. A representative result from one of three independent experiments is shown.



**Figure 3.3** Cell surface expression of the mAb COS3A recognizing antigen on hematopoietic cell lines. Human T cell lines (Molt4, SupT1, and Jurkat), B cell lines (Daudi, Ramos, and Raji), monocyte cell lines (U937, THP-1, and KG-1a) and erythriod cell line (K562) were stained by indirect immunofluorescence with 20  $\mu$ g/ml of mAb COS3A as the primary antibody. FITC-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG antibody was used as the secondary antibody, and analyzed by flow cytometry. The results with conjugate control are shown as dashed lines, while cells stained with the mAb COS3A are represented by solid lines. A representative result from one of three independent experiments is shown.



**Figure 3.4** Cell surface expression of the mAb COS3A recognizing antigen on peripheral blood lymphocytes, monocytes, granulocytes and red blood cells. The cells were stained by indirect immunofluorescence with 20  $\mu$ g/ml of mAb COS3A as the primary. FITC-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG antibody was used as the secondary antibody, and analyzed by flow cytometer. The results with conjugate control are shown as dashed lines, while cells stained with the mAb COS3A are represented by solid lines, respectively. A representative result from one of three independent experiments is shown.



**Figure 3.5** Cellular expression of the mAb COS3A recognizing antigen was strongly increased upon PHA activation. PBMCs ( $1x10^{6}$ cell/ml) were stimulated with PHA at a final concentration of 5 µg/ml at various time points. The activated cells were harvested and stained by indirect immunofluorescence with 20 µg/ml of mAb COS3A as the primary antibody, FITC-conjugated goat anti-mouse IgG antibody as the secondary antibody, and analyzed by flow cytometry. Results with conjugate controls are shown as dashed lines, while cells stained with the mAb are represented by solid lines. A representative result from one of three independent experiments is shown.

#### 3.2 The mAb COS3A recognizes a high N-glycosylated protein

As the mAb COS3A bound to several human cells, we therefore investigated the biochemical properties of the mAb COS3A target by immunoprecipitation (IP) technique and Western blotting. First, we detected the target of mAb COS3A by performing Western blotting and used U937 cell lysate as a source of antigen. As shown in Figure 3.6 the mAb COS3A bound strongly to a broad band proteinswith molecular weight range from 30 to 70 KDa under nonreducing condition. However, the protein bands could not be detected under reducing condition. In order to the apparent smear band of the target molecule, we hypothesized that this may occur by different glycosylation moiety of sugars on this molecule. To prove our hypothesis, N-glycosylation was observed using either N-glycosidase F or by inclusion of tunicamycin, an inhibition of N-glycosylation in endoplasmic reticulum, in the cell culture medium. The broad band proteins of COS3A target molecule was converted to a sharp band of the 25 kDa by N-glycosidase-F treatment (Figure 3.7) or inclusion of tunicamycin in cell culture medium (Figure 3.8). A band found at molecular weight 50 kDa is presumed to be an imcompletely deglycosylated form of the target molecule of the mAb COS3A. Taken together, these results indicate that the target molecule is an extensively N-glycosylation protein. Moreover, the mAb COS3A recognized the protein after glycan elimination, suggesting that the mAb binds specifically to core protein of its target.



**Figure 3.6** Western blotting of the mAb COS3A target molecule. U937 cell lysates were resolved under non-reducing condition by 10% SDS-PAGE and subjected to Western blotting (lane 1: mAb COS3A; lane 2: isotype-mathched control mAb, anti-13M; lane3: a positive control anti-CD147 mAb, M6-1E9). A set of representative results from one of three independent experiments is shown.



**Figure 3.7** Deglycosylation of the mAb COS3A target molecule by digestion with N-glycosidase F. U937 cell lysates were subjected to immunoprecipitation using the mAb COS3A coated beads. The precipitated proteins were eluted and N-linked glycan were removed by incubation without (lane 1) or with (lane 2) five units of N-glycosidase F. The proteins were then dissolved by 10% SDS-PAGE under non-reducing condition and subjected to Western blotting using 2  $\mu$ g/ml of mAb COS3A as primary antibody. A set of representative results from one of four independent experiments is shown.



**Figure 3.8** Deglycosylation of the mAb COS3A target molecule by tunicamycin treatment. U937 cells were cultured in the absence (lane 1) or presence (lane 2) of 10  $\mu$ g/ml tunicamycin for 48 h at 37°C in 5% CO<sub>2</sub>. The cells were lysed and resolved under non-reducing condition by 10% SDS-PAGE and subjected to Western blotting using 2  $\mu$ g/ml of the mAb COS3A as a primary antibody. A set of representative results from one of three independent experiments is shown.

#### **3.3** The mAb COS3A binds specifically to human CD63

To identify the target of mAb COS3A, immunoprecipitation was performed and cell lysate of tunicamycin-treated U937 cells were used as a source of antigen. The precipitated proteins from COS3A-coated beads were resolved by 10% SDS-PAGE under non-reducing condition and visualized by blue-silver Coomassie staining (Figure 3.9). Two protein bands of molecular weight about 50 kDa, an incomplete deglycosylaed form and 25 kDa non-glycosylated form were cut out and sent for amino acid sequencing by LC/MS analysis at 1<sup>st</sup> base service company.

Tryptic fragments of these proteins were analyzed by LC/MS. The amino acid sequence of each peptide fragment was analyzed using the Mascot database, which showed that sequences of both 50 kDa and 25 kDa protein bands matched that of human CD63. The sequence coverage, match score and sequence of the identified sequences are shown in the Table To confirm the LC/MS data, immunoprecipitation and Western blotting were performed using a known anti-CD63 mAb, MEM-259, for detection of the CD63 molecule. We first used MEM-259, COS3A or a control mAb, anti-13M for immunoprecipitation from U937 cell lysates. The precipitated proteins were then subjected to Western blotting using either MEM-259 or COS3A for detection. As expected, both of the CD63 mAbs, MEM-259 and COS3A, recognized the proteins that were precipitated with both MEM-259 and COS3A-coated beads, but not protein precipitated with control mAb anti-13M (Figure 3.10). Moreover, the band of CD63 that was observed when the mAb COS3A was used for both immunoprecipitation and Western blotting was stronger than those obtained using MEM-259 mAb at the same concentration in all experiments. This suggests that the binding affinity of the mAb COS3A is higher than that of mAb MEM-259. Taken together, these results confirm that the mAb COS3A recognizes a high N-glycosylated protein, CD63 molecule.



**Figure 3.9** The SDS-PAGE of the precipitated proteins from the mAb COS3A coated beads. The mAb COS3A was used as a tool to precipitate its target molecule from lysates of tunicamycin-treated U937. The precipitated proteins from COS3A-coated beads were resolved in 10% SDS-PAGE under non reducing condition and stained with blue-silver coomassie staining. After staining, two protein bands of molecular weight about 50 kDa and 25 kDa were cut out and sent for amino acid sequencing by LC/MS analysis at 1<sup>st</sup> base company.

Protein	Access	Matched	Sequence		Identified
band	number	score*	coverage	Matched peptides**	Protein
(kDa)			(%)		
25	F8VV56	47	15	1 MLVEVAAAIA GYVFRDKVMS EFNNNFRQQM ENYPKNNHTASILDRMQADF	CD63
				51 KCCGAANYTD WEKIPSMSKN RVPDSCCINV TVGCGINFNE KAIHKEGCVE	(Homo
				101 KIGGWLRKNV LVVAAAALGI AFVEVLGIVF ACCLVKSIRS GYEVM	sapiens)
50	F8VNT9	51	7	1 MAVEGGMKCV KFLLYVLLLA FCACAVGLIA VGVGAQLVLS QTIIQGATPG	CD63
				51 SLLPVVIIAV GVFLFLVAFV GCCGACKENY CLMITFAIFL SLIMLVEVAA	(Homo
				101 AIAGYVFRDK VMSEFNNNFR QQMENYPKNN HTA	sapiens)

Table : Amino acid sequencing of the molecule recognized by the mAb COS3A, using LC/MS and analysis by Mascot

database.

\*Individual scores > 42 indicate identity or extensive homology (p<0.05)

\*\*Matched peptides shown in Bold Red



**Figure 3.10** The mAb COS3A binds specifically to human CD63 molecule. U937 cell lysates were subjected to immunoprecipitation using mAb COS3A, or MEM-259 (CD63 mAb), or isotype matched control mAb, anti-13M. The precipitated proteins were then subjected to Western blotting using either mAb COS3A or MEM-259 as a primary antibody. Goat anti-mouse HRP-IgG antibody was used as a secondary antibody, and the protein bands were visualized by chemiluminescene detection system. The representative result is from one of three independent experiments.

#### 3.4 Functional studies of the mAb COS3A

#### 3.4.1 The mAb COS3A inhibits granulocyte phagocytosis

Phagocytosis contributes to the first line of defense against infectious pathogens, binding of the ligands on pathogens to membrane receptors of the phagocytes being an essential first step in successful phagocytosis. In assays of cellular expression levels (Figure 3.4), strong expression of CD63 was found on phagocytic cells including monocytes and granulocytes. It has been reported that CD63 is translocated from the cell surface to intracellular organelles containing phagocytosed yeast (Mantegazza, Barrio, Moutel et al., 2004); furthermore, CD63 was selectively recruited to phagosomes containing a pathogenic yeast, Cryptococcus neoformans, in an acidification-dependent manner (Artavanis-Tsakonas et al., 2006). However, since both reports related to yeast, we investigated whether surface CD63 also participates in bacterial phagocytosis. To answer this question, the mAb COS3A was used as a tool to follow the engulfment of bacterial cells via phagocytosis by granulocytes. To track the phagocytosis, E. coli cells expressing GFP were prepared and used as phagocytosable particle as described in 2.2.4.1. Successful construction of GFP expressing plasmid (pQEtriSystem-GFP) is shown in Figure 3.11. The recombinant pQEtriSystem-GFP vector was transformed into *E.coli* strain DH5a. The transformed E. coli showed strong fluorescence intensity compared to wild-type E. coli, which can be identified by flow cytometry (Figure 3.12) and further used in phagocytic assays.

To investigate the effect of the mAb COS3A on bacterial cells phagocytosis by granulocytes, EDTA-treated whole blood from healthy donors were incubated with *E.coli* expressing GFP on ice or at 37°C in PBS or in the presence of the

mAb COS3A or an isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M according to the method described in 2.2.4.2 and determined phagocytic activity using flow cytometry (Singboottra et al., 2010). Interestingly, granulocyte phagocytosis of E. coli was significantly reduced when the mAb COS3A was added into the system, while the control mAb, anti-13M had no effect (Figure 3.13). These result suggested that the reduced phagocytosis is occurred through the specific binding of the mAb COS3A to the CD63, but not through the non-specific binding of the Fc receptor on surface of the phagocytes. At 0°C, the granulocytes were expected to have no phagocytic activity and the measured fluorescence originated from binding of bacteria to the surface of the granulocytes. The fractional phagocytosis is shown in a bar graph (Figure 3.14), which shows that the mAb COS3A decreased phagocytosis to 20% of control values, while there was no significant difference between the isotype-matched mAb control and PBS control. These results indicated that engagement of cell surface CD63 with the mAb COS3A blocks the interaction between ligands on E. coli and their specific receptor on phagocytes. Consequently ingestion of the bacterial cells was inhibited, suggesting that CD63 plays an essential role in the recognition step of phagocytosis.



**Figure 3.11** The recombinant pQEtriSystem-GFP plasmid. The pQEtriSymtem empty plasmid (lane 2) or the fragments of the recombinant pQEtriSystem-GFP plasmid (lane 3), DNA marker (lane 1) were subjected to Agarose gel electrophoresis. The 750-bp band of GFP gene was observed in lane 3 when compared with the DNA markers.



**Figure 3.12** FACS profiles represent the fluorescence intensity of wild-type *E.coli* (WT) and *E.coli* expressing GFP (*E.coli*-GFP). *E. coli* strain DH5 $\alpha$  were transformed with pQEtriSystem-GFP plasmid. Expression of the green fluorescent protein was examined by detection of the fluorescence intensity of the *E. coli* expressing GFP compared to the wild type *E.coli* using flow cytometry.



**Figure 3.13** The mAb COS3A inhibits granulocytes phagocytosis. EDTA whole blood was incubated on ice or at 37°C for 1 h with *E. coli* expressing GFP in the absence of (A) or presence of 20  $\mu$ g/ml of either isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M (B) or mAb COS3A (C). RBCs were lysed and granulocytes phagocytosis of *E. coli* expressing GFP was examined by flow cytometry according to the presence of GFP. The predentative result is from one of four independent experiments.



**Figure 3.14** The percentage of granulocytes phagocytosis. The bar graph showing the percentage of granulocyte phagocytosis calculated from results of four independent flow cytometry experiments, according to the equation stated in the methods (ns not significant, "\*"p<0.05, "\*\*"p<0.01).

### <sup>าย</sup>าลัยเทคโนโล<sup>้ยฉ</sup>ะ

#### 3.4.2 The soluble mAb COS3A inhibits T cell proliferation

The effect of mAb COS3A on T cell proliferation was primarily studied and found that this mAb down-regulated the T cell proliferation induced by immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 using PBMCs as target cells (Khunkaewla P, unpublished observation). We further investigated whether this inhibitory effect depends on the concentration of the mAb COS3A. To examine this phenomenon, CFSE-labeled PBMCs were stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 in the presence of the soluble mAb COS3A at seven different concentrations or 50 µg/ml of isotypematched control mAb, anti-13M, and cell proliferation. The results revealed that inhibitory effect of the mAb COS3A on T cell proliferation was declined according to the decreasing of the mAb COS3A concentration while, an isotypematched control mAb anti-13M had no effect on T cell proliferation (Figure 3.15 and Figure 3.16). These results indicated that the mAb COS3A inhibits T cell proliferation in a dose dependent manmer when PBMCs were used as model. Based on these findings, the concentration at 12.5 µg/ml was chosen for further studies on T cell activation. Furthermore, the effect of the mAb COS3A on T cell proliferation was compared with a commercially avilable anti-CD63 mAb MEM-259. CFSE-labeled PBMCs were stimulated with or without immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 in the presence or absence of mAb COS3A or mAb MEM259 or isotype-mathed control mAb anti-13M at a final concentration of 12.5µg/ml. The proliferated cells were determined for the reduction of CFSE intensity by flow cytometry. In contrast to the mAb COS3A no inhibitory effect was found while soluble anti-CD63 mAb MEM-259 was applied (Figure 3.17 and Figue 3.18). In conclusion, the mAb COS3A inhibits CD3-mediated T cell proliferation while PBMCs were used as a model.



**Figure 3.15** FACS profile of the inhibition of CD3-mediated T cell proliferation by the soluble mAb COS3A. CFSE-labeled PBMCs were either unstimulated or stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3. The cells were co-cultured for 5 days with or without the mAb COS3A, or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M at different indicated final concentrations. Cell proliferation was assessed by flow cytometry are showed as histogram profile. Percentage of fluorescence intensity reduction of CFSE represents the number of the proliferated cells are indicated by a histogram mark. The results represent one of the three individual healthy donors.



**Figure 3.16** Bar graph shows the inhibitory effect of soluble mAb COS3A on T cell proliferation using PBMCs as model. The bar graph showing the percentage of cell proliferation calculated from results of three independent flow cytometry experiments ("\*" p < 0.05, "\*\*\*"p < 0.001 when compared with isotype-matched control mAb)



**Figure 3.17** Comparison of T cell suppression between mAb COS3A and mAb MEM-259. CFSE-labeled PBMCs were either unstimulated or stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb (OKT3). The cells were co-cultured without or with the mAb COS3A, or mAb MEM-259, or mAb anti-13M at a final concentration of 12.5  $\mu$ g/ml. Cell proliferation was assessed by flow cytometry. The results with unstimulated PBMCs are shown in dashed lines, while the OKT3-stimulated PBMCs are represented by solid lines. Percentage of fluorescence intensity reduction of CFSE represents the number of the proliferated cells, are indicated by a histogram mark. The results represent one of the three individual healthy donors.



**Figure 3.18** Effect of the soluble mAb COS3A on CD3-mediated T cell proliferation compared to anti-CD63 mAb, MEM-259. The bar graph showing the percentage of cell proliferation calculated from results of three independent flow cytometry experiments ( "\*\*" p<0.01 when compared with isotype-matched control mAb)

#### 3.4.3 The soluble mAb COS3A inhibits CD25 expression

Primary events in the activation of T cells are the presentation of an antigenic stimulus via APC to the T cell and augmentation by co-stimulatory signals on the APC. Following this unique interaction the T cell up-regulates activation markers such as IL-2 receptor (CD25). Once IL-2 binds to IL-2 receptor (CD25) its triggers a signaling cascade, resulting in T cell proliferation (Fazekas de St Groth, Smith, and Higgins, 2004). Since the soluble mAb COS3A inhibits T cell proliferation. We

further investigated whether the mAb COS3A has effect on kinetics expression of IL-2 receptor (CD25) on surface of T cells. To do this, PBMCs were stimulated without or with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3. The cells were co-cultured with or without soluble CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM259) or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M for 48 h. The cells were harvested and surface CD25 were stained by immunofluorescence staining using PE-conjugated anti-CD25 mAb. The stained cells were assessed by flow cytometry. The results showed that the mAb COS3A downregulated cell surface expression of this molecule when compared with the isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M. However, anti-CD63 mAb MEM-259 had no effect on expression of CD25 (Figure 3.19 and Figure 3.20). In summary, the mAb COS3A significantly down-regulated cell surface CD25 expression upon CD3-mediated T cell activation. These results suggested that the ligation of CD63 with the soluble mAb COS3A inhibits T cell proliferation by decreasing of IL-2 receptor, CD25, expression.

รัฐา<sub>ววักยา</sub>ลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรบ

80



**Figure 3.19** Cell surface analysis of IL-2 receptor (CD25) expression. The PBMCs were stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 (or kept unstimulated) in the presence or absence of the mAb COS3A, or mAb MEM-259, or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M for 2 day. The plot shows percentage of CD25 positive cells, which are indicated by a histogram mark. The results represent one of the three individual healthy donors.



**Figure 3.20** Bar graph shows the percentage of CD25 positive cells. The PBMCs were stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 (or kept unstimulated) in the presence or absence of the indicated mAbs for 2 days. The surface expression of CD25 was analyzed by immunofluorescence staining and flow cytometry. The data represent the mean±SD of three healthy donors. "\*" represents p<0.05 when compared to the control group (media control in OKT3-stimulated PBMCs group or isotype-matched control mAb).

## 3.4.4 The soluble mAb COS3A inhibited production of IL-2 and IFN-γ by T lymphocytes but enhanced production of IL-10 by monocytes during CD3-mediated T cell activation

Previous experiment indicated that the mAb COS3A inhibited CD3-mediated T cell activation and reduced surface expression of IL-2 receptor, CD25 while the PBMCs were used as a model. Because of some cytokines are involved in the regulation of T cell proliferation such as IL-2, enhancer of T cell proliferation, and IL-10, suppression of T cell proliferation. We were curious to know whether the inhibitory effect on T cell proliferation by the mAb COS3A is occured by changing the level of cytokine secretion. Thus, effects of the mAb COS3A on secretion of the IL-2 and IL-10 were analyzed. IFN- $\gamma$ , a cytokine that upregulates Th1 differentiation but suppresses Th2 differentiation was also observed in this study.

To investigate the effect of mAb COS3A on cytokine production, PBMCs were activated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3. The cells were cocultured with soluble CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259) or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M. Secreted IFN- $\gamma$ , IL-2 and IL-10 in the cell-free supernatants were harvested at 24 h post stimulation and were then immediately measured by sandwich ELISA. The results revealed that the strong reduction of IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  secretion was observed when the cells were cocultured with the mAb COS3A, compared to those obtained from cocultivation with anti-CD63 mAb MEM-259 or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M (Figure 3.21A-B).

In contrast to secretion of IL-2 and INF- $\gamma$ , secretion of IL-10 (Figure 3.21C) was significantly increased while the mAb COS3A was presented compare to those obtained from anti-CD63 mAb MEM-259 or mAb anti-13M. In addition, the

induction of IL-10 did not come from LPS contamination in the soluble mAb COS3A, because there is no effect on induction of IFN- $\gamma$ , which was upregulated upon LPS stimulation in PBMCs stimulated with only soluble mAb COS3A (Figure 3.21B).

Since IL-10 is produced by monocytes, NK-cells, Th1, and Th2 type lymphocyets, therefore we were searching for the major cell type that secretes IL-10 upon co-cultivation of the mAb COS3A by performing intracellular cytokine staining. The PBMCs were firstly stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb, OKT3, in the presence of either anti-CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259), or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M. LPS was used as positive control, which is able to stimulate monocyte to produce IL-10 (Foey, Parry, Williams et al., 1998). The cells were then subjected for intracellular staining according to the description in 2.5.5.5. The results revealed that the mAb COS3A decreased intracellular production of IL-2 (Figure 3.22) and IFN- $\gamma$  (Figure 3.23) but not IL-10 (Figure 3.24) by CD3<sup>+</sup> T lymphocytes. Contrastly, intracellular production of IL-10 was enhanced in monocytes (Figure 3.25). Anti-CD63 mAb MEM-259 or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M had no effect on production of intracellular IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , and IL-10 either by CD3<sup>+</sup> T cells or monocytes. The results of three independent experiments were calculated and showed in bar graphs in figure 3.26. This information is clearly shown that the secretion of the IL-2 by T cells was significantly reduced compared to the controls. The secretion of the IFN- $\gamma$  by T cells of individual seemed to be decreased; however, the average was not significant. The secretion level of IL-10 by T cell was not detected. Interestingly, the secretion level of IL-10 by monocytes was significantly increased.

These results suggest that down regulation of IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  by T cells and up-regulation of IL-10 by monocytes occurred via interaction between the mAb COS3A and the CD63 on T cells and monocytes, respectively.

## 3.4.5 Suppression of CD3-mediated T cell proliferation by the mAb COS3A does not involve in the inhibitory function of IL-10 on T cell activation

It has been reported that IL-10 directly inhibits T cell activation and proliferation through the interruption of IL-2 production and indirectly through the blockade of the action of IFN- $\gamma$  (Rowbottom, Lepper, Garland *et al.*, 1999). Furthermore, IL-10 was found as a general inhibitor of T cell proliferation and cytokine response in T cell (Akdis, Blesken, Akdis *et al.*, 1998; Maynard and Weaver, 2008). Thus we hypothesized that the increasing level of IL-10 upon cultivation with the mAb COS3A play a role on the inhibitory effect of the soluble mAb COS3A on T cell proliferation. To prove this hypothesis, anti-IL-10 mAb was used as a neutralizing antibody to capture the endogeneous secreted IL-10 in the culture supernatant as described in 2.2.5.6. The results showed that using a nuetralizing mAb against IL-10 did not improve T cell proliferation significantly compared to the control (Figure 3.27 and Figure 3.28), suggesting that endogenously produced IL-10 has no effect on suppression of CD3-mediated T cell activation by the mAb COS3A.



**Figure 3.21** Bar graphs show effect of the mAb COS3A on a total production of IL-2 (A), or IFN- $\gamma$  (B), or IL-10 (C) in supernatants were calculated from ELISA results of three independent experiments. (ns not significant, "\*" p<0.05, "\*\*" p<0.01 when compared with isotype-matched control mAb).



**Figure 3.22** Intracellular expression of IL-2 in CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes. Unstimulated PBMCs or stimulated PBMCs with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 were cocultured with the soluble anti-CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259) or isotype-matched control mAb (anti-13M). Five µg/ml of monensin were added to the cells 1 h after cultivation and recultivation for another 5 h. The cell were intracellular stained with PerCP-conjugated-anti CD3 mAb and PE-conjugated-anti IL-2 mAb. The live CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes were gated and intracellular cytokine production were analyzed using flow cytometry. A set of representative results from one of three independent experiments is shown.


**Figure 3.23** Intracellular expression of INF- $\gamma$  in CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes. Unstimulated PBMCs or stimulated PBMCs with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 were cocultured with the soluble anti-CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259) or isotype-matched control mAb (anti-13M). Five µg/ml of monensin were added to the cells 1 h after cultivation and recultivation for another 5 h. The cell were intracellular stained with PerCP conjugated-anti CD3 mAb and PE-conjugated-anti IFN- $\gamma$  mAb. The live CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes were gated and intracellular cytokine production were analyzed using flow cytometry. A set of representative results from one of three independent experiments is shown.



**Figure 3.24** Intracellular expression of IL-10 in CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes. Unstimulated PBMCs or stimulated PBMCs with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 were cocultured with the soluble anti-CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259) or isotype-matched control mAb (anti-13M). Five  $\mu$ g/ml of monensin were added to the cells 1 h after cultivation and recultivation for another 5 h. The cell were intracellular stained with PerCP conjugated-anti CD3 mAb and PE-conjugated-anti IL-10 mAb. The live CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes were gatedand intracellular cytokine production were analyzed using flow cytometry. A set of representative results from one of three independent experiments is shown.



**Figure 3.25** Intracellular expression of IL-10 in CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes. Unstimulated PBMCs or PBMCs that were treated with LPS or were activated with immobilized the anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 in the presence of the soluble CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259) or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M. Five  $\mu$ g/ml of monensin were added to the cells 1 h after cultivation and recultivation for another 5 h. The cell were intracellular stained with FITC conjugated-anti CD14 mAb and PE-conjugated-anti IL-10 mAb. The live CD14<sup>+</sup> cells were gated and intracellular cytokine production were analyzed using flow cytometry. A set of representative results from one of three independent experiments is shown.



**Figure 3.26** The soluble mAb COS3A decreased IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  production in CD3<sup>+</sup>T lymphocytes and enhanced IL-10 production in CD14<sup>+</sup>monocytes. Bar graph showing the percentage of intracellular cytokine production calculated from results of three independent flow cytometry experiments. (ns not significant, "\*"*p*<0.05, "\*\*\*"*p*<0.001 when compared to media control in OKT3stimulated PBMCs group). The average expression level of IL-2 (A), or IFN- $\gamma$  (B), or IL-10 (C) in CD3<sup>+</sup> lymphocytes, or IL-10 in CD14<sup>+</sup> monocytes (D).



**Figure 3.27** Effect of anti-IL-10 mAb on inhibitory effect of CD3-mediated T cell proliferation by the mAb COS3A. CFSE-labeled PBMCs were stimulated with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 in the absence or presence of the indicated mAbs. The proliferation was determined on day 3 of cultivation. Grey histrogram represents unstimulated PBMCs while open histrogram represents the stimulated PBMCs. The percentage of the proliferated cells in the marker is shown. A set of representative results from one of three independent experiments is shown.



**Figure 3.28** Neutralizing antibody against IL-10 could not improved the suppression of T cell proliferation by the mAb COS3A. Bar graph shows effect of anti-IL-10 mAb on inhibitory effect of CD3-mediated T cell proliferation by the mAb COS3A. The proliferation was determined on day 3 of cultivation using flow cytometry. The figure shows the percentage of cell proliferation calculated from results of three independent flow cytometry experiments (ns not significant, "\*\*" p<0.01, "\*\*\*" p<0.001 when compared with media control in OKT3-stimulated PBMCs group)

# 3.4.6 The soluble mAb COS3A had no effect on both purified T cells proliferation and production of IL-2, IFN-γ and IL-10 by T cells

Previous experiment showed that the mAb COS3A suppressed T cell activation while PBMCs were used and a model. We next investigested the effect of soluble mAb COS3A on CD3-mediated T cell proliferation using purified T cells as a model. CFSE-labeled T cells were stimulated with or without immobilized OKT3 mAb in the absence or presence of soluble anti-CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259) or anti-CD28 mAb, which has been uesd as soluble form, or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M. After 5 day of cultivation the proliferation of T cells was assessed by flow cytometry. The results showed that either soluble anti-CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259) or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M could not induced T cell proliferation as well as stimulation by immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 alone. Only engagement of the conventional costimulatory molecule, CD28 by soluble anti-CD28 mAb could induced CD3-mediated T cell proliferation. These results suggested that anti-CD28 mAb 28.2 is capable for triggering of costimulatory signal through the CD28 molecule even in soluble form. Conversely, binding of the soluble mAb COS3A failed to induced T cell proliferation while purified T cells were used as model (Figure 3.29 and Figure 3.30). Moreover, cytokine production was also observed in this study. Cell free culture supernatents were harvested after 72 h and cytokines were meased by sandwich ELISA. We found that the soluble anti-CD28 was able to induce secretion of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , and IL-10 by T cells. Whereas, secretion of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$ , and IL-10 by T cells were not observed when the soluble anti-CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259) or isotype matched control mAb anti-13M were added (Figure 3.31A-C).



**Figure 3.29** Effect of the mAb COS3A on CD3-mediated T cell proliferation using purified T cells as a model. CFSE-labeled T cells were cultivated in the OKT3immoblized plate in the absence or presence of soluble anti-CD28 mAb 28.2 or anti-CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259), or isotype matched control mAb anti-13M. After 5 days of cultivation, T cell proliferation was assessed by flow cytometry. The dashed lines represents unstimulated T cells and the solid line represents effect of the indicated soluble mAb on CD3-mediated T cells proliferation. The results represents one of the four individual healty donors.



**Figure 3.30** The percentage of CD3-mediated T cell proliferation in co-cultivation with the soluble mAb COS3A using purified T cell as a model. The bar graph shows the percentage of cell proliferation calculated from results of four independent flow cytometry experiments, the data represents the mean $\pm$ SD of four healthy donors. "\*\*\*" represents *P*<0.001 when compared with control group (OKT3-stimulated T cells group).



**Figure 3.31** The soluble mAb COS3A could not induced production of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-10 by OKT3-activated T cells. The purified T cells were stimulated with immobilized OKT3 mAb (or left unstimulated) for 72 h in the abesence or presence of soluble indicated mAbs. Production of IL-2 (A), or IFN- $\gamma$  (B), or IL-10 (C) in the cell-free culture supernatants were analyzed by sanwich ELISA. The data represents the means±SD of triplicate culture supernatants. Data shown are representative of three independent experiments.

## 3.4.7 Coimmobilization of the mAb COS3A and anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 strongly enhances T cell proliferation and secretion of IL-2, IFN-γ and IL-10

Full activation of naïve T cell requires at least two distrinct biochemical signals. The first signal is typically occured through TCR/CD3 complex as a consequence of antigen recognition. The second signal is generated upon ligation of at least one of several different costimulatory molecules on T cell surface, called costimulatory signal. The importance of costimulation process is induction of high level of IL-2, prevention of anergy and enhance cell survival. In contrast, absence of this phenomenon leads to anergy (Abbas, 2003). CD28 is one of the best charecterized costimulatory molecule expressed by T cell, which interacts with CD80 or CD86 on the membrance of APC. CD63 has also been reported as an activation induced costimulatory structure on T cell, which have been obseved by coimmobolization of anti-CD63 mAb and anti-CD3 mAb (Pfistershammer et al., 2004). We therefore tested whether cross-linking of CD63 with the plated bound mAb COS3A could generated a potent costimulatory signal to T cells. CFSE-labeled purified T cells were cultured in 96 well plate that had been immobilized with anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 alone or coimmobilized with anti-CD28 mAb 28.2 or anti-CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259), or an isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M. The cells were harvested for cell proliferation analysis using flow cytometry after cultivation for 5 days. The results revealed that weak proliferation of T cells was observed when the cells were cultured in the wells that immobilized with either only anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 or coimmobilization with an isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M. Strong T cell proliferation was observed when the cells were stimulated with coimmobilization of anti-CD28 mAb 28.2 and anti-CD3 mAb OKT3.

Fascinatingly, T cell proliferation that was observed when coimmobilization of the anti-CD63 mAb COS3A and anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 was stronger than those obtained using anti-CD28 as a coimmobilizing antibody. However, coimmobilization of anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 together with anti-CD63 mAb MEM-259 had no effect on T cell proliferation. No cell proliferation was observed while the cells were cultured in the plate that immobilized with either anti-CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259) or mAb anti-13M without OKT3 stimulation (Figure 3.32 and Figure 3.33). These results indicated that cross-linking of the CD63 using the mAb COS3A vigorously enhanced CD3-mediated T cell proliferation in the same way as the CD28 mAb did compared to those cells that were stimulated with only immobilized anti-CD3 mAb.

Furthermore, it has previously been suggested that an immobilized mAb interacting with CD63 induced costimulation and induction of IL-2 production in T cells (Pfistershammer *et al.*, 2004). We therefore raised the question whether the mAb COS3A also has the same effect as the previuos report. To answer this question, purified T cells were cultivated in OKT3 immobilized plate alone or in combination with the immobilized anti-CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259) or CD28 mAb, or isotype matched control mAb. After 72 h of cultivation, culture supernatants were harvested and examined for the cytokine production by ELISA. The results showed that T cells stimulated with anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 alone could not produce IL-2, IL-10 and low amount of IFN- $\gamma$ . Nevertheless combination of mAbs OKT3 and COS3A induced high level of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$  and low amount of IL-10 compared to conventional T cells stimulation using combination of OKT3 and anti-CD28 mAb. The anti-CD63 mAb MEM-259 was able to induce neither IL-2 nor IL-10 production by T cells, however low level of IFN- $\gamma$  secretion was observed (Figure 3.34 A-C). Two possible

reasons might be concluded from this result. First, the epitope binding of the mAb COS3A is a functional epitope of the CD63 on T cell activation, but the MEM-259 is not. Second, binding affinity of the mAb COS3A is stronger than MEM-259. Thus, increasing of the concentration of the MEM-259 may improve the costimulatory signal.





**Figure 3.32** Potent T cell activation by coimmobilization of mAb OKT3 and mAb COS3A using purified T cell as model. CFSE-labeled T cells were cultivated in 96 well plate immobilized with mAb OKT3 alone or in combination with immobilized anti-CD63 mAbs (COS3A or MEM-259), or anti-CD28 mAb, or isotype matched control mAb, anti-13M). After 5 days of cultivation, the proliferation of T cells was assessed by flow cytometry. The dashed lines represent non-proliferated T cells and the solid lines represent the proliferated T cells. The number in the histogram represents the percentage of the proliferative cells in the marker lines. The results represent one of the four individual healty donors.



**Figure 3.33** Coimmubilization of mAb OKT3 and mAb COS3A provided a potent costimulatory signal on human T cell activation. T cell proliferation was assessed by flow cytometry as shown in figure 3.32. The figure shows the percentage of cell proliferation calculated from results of four independent flow cytometry experiments. The data represents the mean±SD of four healthy donors. (ns not significant, "\*"p<0.05, "\*\*\*"p<0.001).



**Figure 3.34** Coimmobilization of mAb OKT3 and mAb COS3A induced secretion of IL-2, IFN- $\gamma$  and IL-10. Purified T cells were cultivated in 96 well plate with anti-CD3 mAb immobilized plate alone or in combination with immobilized anti-CD63 mAb (COS3A or MEM-259) or anti-CD28 mAb, or isotype-matched control mAb anti-13M for 72 h. Production of IL-2 (A), or IFN- $\gamma$  (B), or IL-10 (C) in the cell-free supernatants were analyzed by ELISA. The data represents means ±SD of triplicate culture supernatants. Data shown are representative of three independent experiments.

# 3.4.8 Coimmobilization of anti-CD63 mAb COS3A and anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 promoted transition of cell cycle from G1 to S phase

Proliferation is a multistage process characterized by successive entering of various stages of the cell cycle (Kubsch, Graulich, Knop et al., 2003). To assess the mechanisms involved in the up-regulation of the proliferative of T cells when stimulated by coimmobilized mAb COS3A and anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 cell cycle experiments were performed by analyzing the DNA content using flow cytometry. For that purpose, purified T cells were co-cultured with immobilized anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 alone or coimmobilized with other mAbs for 5 day. The results showed that cell cycle progression was remained at G1 phase when T cells were stimulated with anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 alone. Coimmobilization of anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 and anti-CD28 mAb promoted G1/S phases transition as same as using immobilized anti-CD63 mAb COS3A incombination with anti-CD3 mAb OKT3. In contrast, accumulation of the cell cycle in the G1 phase was obseved when T cells were costimulated with anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 and anti-CD63 mAb MEM-259, or isotype- matched control mAb, anti-13M (Figure 3.35A and Figure 3.35B). These results indicate that cross-linking of the CD63 via mAb COS3A and immobilized anti-CD3 mAb induced cell cycle progression into S phase, which is a critical step for T cell proliferation.



**Figure 3.35** Cell cycle analysis. (A) Flow cytometry analysis showed that the percentages of the cells in S phase were increased when the cells were activated with coimmobilization of mAb OKT3 together with either anti-CD28 mAb or the mAb COS3A compared to controls. (B) The measurement of G1, S, and G2 cells was shown. bar graph are representative of mean values of percentage of G1, S, and G2 cell.

### **CHAPTER IV**

#### DISCUSSION

Monoclonal antibodies are a valuable tool in many applications including in basic research, biomedical research, microbiological research and therapy. The standard method for generating monoclonal antibodies is the so-called hybridoma technique, which was established in 1975 by Georges J.F. Köhler and César Milstein (Kohler and Milstein, 1975; Liu, 2014). Using this technique, several mAbs recognizing leukocyte surface molecules were generated. In collaboration with Prof. Dr. Watchara Kasinrerk, whose laboratory has mainly focused on production of mAbs, the generated mAbs are used for both basic researches and medical applications (Kasinrerk, Tokrasinwit, Moonsom et al., 2000; Kasinrerk, Tokrasinwit, and Naveewongpanit, 1998; Kasinrerk, Tokrasinwit, and Phunpae, 1999; Mahasongkram, Pata, Chruewkamlow et al., 2015; Pimpha, Chaleawlert-umpon, Chruewkamlow et al., 2011). A mAb named COS3A generated by his group was selected for biochemical characterization and functional analysis of its target molecule. The antibody was initially produced by a convention hybridoma technique using CD4 expressing COS7 as immunogen for antibody induction in a Balb/c mouse (Pata et al., 2009). The mAb, however, was not specific for CD4. Primary functional characterization of the mAb COS3A on T cell activation found that this mAb strongly inhibited CD3-mediated T cell proliferation using PBMCs as

a model (unpublished data). For this reason, the mAb COS3A was expected to bind surface molecule on human white blood cells and was selected for identification and searching for function of its specific molecule. As the mAb was produced using the COS7 cell tranfection system, we first determined whether the mAb COS3A reacted with COS7 cell proteins. We found that the mAb COS3A bound strongly to cell surface protein and intracellular protein in the monkey kidney cell line, COS7. Cellular distribution of the mAb COS3A specific molecule was also observed by immunofluorescence staining and flow cytometry. With the exception of erythrocytes, the antibody also bound to a molecule expressed on the surface of several human hemaopoietic cells and cell lines. These results suggested a close homology between monkey and human forms of the target molecule. Additionally, up-regulation of this molecule upon PHA activation was observed, suggesting that the mAb COS3A target is an activation-associated molecule.

Biochemical analysis revealed that the molecule recognized by COS3A has molecular weight of about 30-70 kDa and amino acid sequencing by LC/MS subsequently indicated that this molecule is human CD63. Immunoprecipitation and Western blotting using two anti-CD63 mAbs, MEM-259 and COS3A, clearly showed that the mAb COS3A binds to CD63-purified protein using MEM-259, while MEM-259 was able to bind to the COS3A-purified protein. These results confirm the specific binding of the mAb COS3A to the CD63. Moreover, the band of the CD63 that was observed when the mAb COS3A was used for both immunoprecipitation and Western blotting was stronger than those obtained using MEM-259 at the same concentration in all experiments. This suggests that the binding affinity of the mAb COS3A is higher than that of mAb MEM-259. Also the FACS profile of cellular distribution obtained using the generated mAb were the same as those described in previous reports for the human CD63 (Horejsi and Vlcek, 1991; Pfistershammer *et al.*, 2004; Tarrant, Robb, van Spriel *et al.*, 2003).

CD63 (TSPAN30, Granulophysin, Melanoma antigen, ME491, platelet glycoprotein 40 kDa, sometime ambiguouslylamp-3) was the first member of the tetraspanin family that had been cloned in 1988 from human cancer cell (Azorsa *et al.*, 1991; Pols and Klumperman, 2009). This molecule has been found in ubiquitously expresses and localizes within the endosomal system and on the cell surface. It is expressed on a wide variety of tissues and cell types. There have also been showed to play a role in activation of several cell types including platelets, neutrophils, eosinophils, basophils, monocytes and T lymphocytes (Skubitz, Campbell, and Skubitz, 2000; Sturm, Bohm, Trummer *et al.*, 2004; Takeda, Tachibana, Miyado *et al.*, 2003).

The human CD63 is comprised of 237 amino acid residues with predicted molecular weight of 25 kDa. Although, the complete 3D structure of human CD63 has not been determined, but CD63 structure has been reported that it comprises of four putative transmembrane domains, a small (EC1) and a large (EC2) extracellular domain, short cytoplasmic N- and C- termini, and three N-linked glycosylation (Metzelaar *et al.*, 1991; Monk and Partridge, 2012). By removing the N-linked glycan, N-glycosidase F treatment reduced the molecular weight of this protein to 25 kDa, and the same result was obtained using tunicamycin to block post-translational protein N-glycosylation in the endoplasmic reticulum. The biochemical properties found in this study correlate well with those of the CD63 molecule

(Azorsa *et al.*, 1991; Engering *et al.*, 2003). As the mAb COS3A was able to bind with both glycosylated and non-glycosylated forms of CD63, suggesting that the antigenic epitope locates on the core protein of the extracellular domains.

Tetraspanins family proteins are known as a diverse functional proteins and can form extended microdomains within the plasma membrane or in interaction with one another as well as with specific receptors and signaling proteins, which probably can serve as specialized binding platform for viral, bacteria, parasitic or fungal pathogens (van Spriel and Figdor, 2010; Yunta and Lazo, 2003). The CD63 belongs to the tetraspanin protein family, which is ubiquitously expressed and is localized both within the endosomal system and on the cell surface (Pols and Klumperman, 2009; Radford et al., 1996). Although, the molecular function of the CD63 is not clear, nonetheless it has been reported to play an important role in several fundamental cell processes including intracellular protein trafficking and migration under normal as well as pathological condition. Furthermore, the CD63 is known as marker for activation of several cell types such as platelet, mast cell and basophil (Azorsa et al., 1991; Schafer et al., 2010; Tammaro et al., 2012; van Spriel and Figdor, 2010). A significant increase of CD63 was found on activation of basophil and this is now used in allergy testing (Bridts et al., 2014; McGowan and Saini, 2013). However, information about the involvement of CD63 in phagocytosis is limited.

Phagocytosis has been acknowledged as a critical component of the innate and adaptive immune response. Whole process of phagocytosis can be devided into three main important stages including (i) recognition, (ii) internalization, and (iii) degradation (Flannagan *et al.*, 2012). The cells involved in this mechanism

called phagocytes including monocytes, macrophages, and granulocytes. Unlike macropinocytosis, phagocytosis involves the recognition and binding of ligands on pathogens by cell surface receptors, so called a receptor-mediated event. Two types of phagocytosis have been described; the first is opsonin-dependent phagocytosis, in which antibody or complement opsonizes the pathogen and promotes its phagocytosis via Fcy or complement receptors on phagocytes. The second type is opsonin-independent phagocytosis, in which phagocytes recognize the microorganism via pattern-recognition receptors, such as scavenger and mannose receptors. The CD63 was reported to be specifically recruited to phagosomes internalizing S cerevisiae (Mantegazza et al., 2004) and Cryptococcus neoformans, a phathogenic yeast (Artavanis-Tsakonas et al., 2006). Further evidence for CD63 is essential recruited to phagosomes internalizing Mycobacterium tuberculosis in macrophages (Seto, Matsumoto, Tsujimura et al., 2010). Since phagosomes are plasma membrane-derived, thus the primary composition of phagosomes must vary depends on the selective engagement of surface molecule. Many pathogens exhibit various surface molecules which do not exist in higher organism. These molecules can be sensed by several phagocytic receptors (so called PRRs) such as mannose receptor, CD14, and CD36 which selectively bind to mannose unit of polysaccharides present on surface of some yeast cells, lipopolysaccharide of bacterial cell wall, and plasmodium falciparum-infected erythrocytes, respectively (Flannagan et al., 2012). Although, a large number of phagocytic receptors and the molecules involved in phagocytosis have been defined however it does not cover the complete spectrum of infectious agents that phagocytes confront. The CD63 is abundantly found in late endosome, lysosome, and mature phagosome, which are essential for the acquisition

of microbicidal functions by phagosomes (Flannagan et al., 2012; Mantegazza et al., 2004). Furthermore, CD63 expressed in late endosomes is essential for development of intracellular bacteria Chlamydia trachomatis (Beatty, 2006, 2008). Although, it has been reported that the role of CD63 in blocking adherence of several bacteria species including Neisserise meningitides, Staphyphylococcus aureus, Neisseria *lactamica*, E. coli, and Steptococcus pneudomoniae to human epithelial cell have been observed with the help of antibodies that generated against a large extracellular domain of CD63 (Green, Monk, Partridge et al., 2011). However, functional role of the CD63 in recognition process of bacterial phagocytosis by granulocytes has not been identified. In this study, we observed the effect of the anti-CD63 mAb COS3A on granulocyte phagocytosis of E. coli using flow cytometry analysis, and found significant obstruction of the induction of phagocytosis compared to the controls. And we show here for the first time that the CD63 may play an important role in the recognition step of bacterial phagocytosis through an opsonin-independent pathway. There are two possible reasons for this. First, the CD63 may act as a phagocytic receptor for its natural ligand expressing on E. coli, therefore binding of the mAb COS3A to the CD63 molecule blocked the natural ligand-receptor interaction which eventually leads to failure of phagocytosis (Figure 4.1A). Second, the CD63 has been reported to interact with several partner proteins in the cell membrane, so it may not act as a phagocytic receptor at all, but binding of this molecule by the mAb COS3A may trigger negative signals that indirectly inhibit the internalization of *E.coli* by granulocytes (Figure 4.1B). This observation opens the question of whether the CD63 acts as a phagocytic receptor or is involved in

the regulation of the phagocytic process, especially for the gram-negative bacterium *E. coli*, and further study is required to elucidate the actual mechanism.



**Figure 4.1** Model of two possible mechanisms of inhibitory effect of the mAb COS3A on phagocytosis of *E. coli* by granulocytes. (A) The CD63 may act as a phagocytic receptor for its natural ligand expressing on *E. coli*, therefore binding of the mAb COS3A to the CD63 molecule blocked the natural ligand-receptor interaction which eventually leads to failure of phagocytosis. (B) The CD63 may not act as a phagocytic receptor at all, but binding of this molecule by the mAb COS3A may trigger negative signals that indirectly inhibit the internalization of *E. coli* by granulocytes.

Back to our first interest of the mAb COS3A was the preliminary results that showed the inhibitory property of this mAb on T cell proliferation. We thus further investigated the effect of the mAb COS3A on T cell proliferation using either PBMCs or T cells as models in this study. T cells are central players of the adaptive immune response, which help to protect the host from infectious agents. In order to perform their function, T cells need to be activated, a process that could lead to a variety of responses including proliferation, migration, cytokine production and even apoptosis (Lever, Maini, van der Merwe et al., 2014; Smith-Garvin, Koretzky, and Jordan, 2009). In this study cell proliferation and cytokine production assay were observed. Fully activation of T cells composes of 2 signals. Signal 1 is the initial interaction between the antigen-specific T cell receptor and APCs. Signal 2 is the signal that mediated by the interaction of one or more T cell co-stimulatory receptors with their ligands expressed on APCs. CD28 is proposed as the major costimulatory molecule receptor on naïve T cell. This receptor binds to two co-stimulatory molecules, B7-1 (CD80) and B7-2 (CD86) expressed on antigen presenting cells. Further extrapromotion of activation and growth is provided by cytokines through the engagement of cytokine receptors on T cells to deliver what is referred as signal 3 (Pennock et al., 2013). Characteristic features of an effective costimulation process promotes IL-2 production, survival and entry into the cell cycle (Bour-Jordan and Blueston, 2002).

The human tetraspnin CD63 is weakly expressed on lymphocytes, however up-regulated on T cells upon activation. This may indicate that this molecule has some involvements in T cell biology (Pfistershammer *et al.*, 2004). However, there are a few reports about the involvement between the CD63 and T cell activation. It has been shown by Pfistershammer group that soluble CD63 mAb inhibits DC induced T cell proliferation but, cross-linkage of the CD63 together by its specific mAb with TCR-triggering induced strong T cell activaton and IL-2 production (Jang and Lee, 2003; Pfistershammer *et al.*, 2004). They claimed that the CD63 may have a regulatory function in co-stimulatory or induced inhibition of TCR activation. However, the molecular mechanism is not clear.

In this study, PBMCs were used as our first model to study the effect of anti-CD63 mAb COS3A on Tcell proliferation. We found that triggering of the CD63 by the soluble mAb COS3A dramatically reduced the threshold of CD3-mediated T cell proliferation in a dose-dependent manner. The mAb COS3A exhibits similar effect on T cell activation as shown by using the soluble anti-CD63 mAb 11C9 (Pfistershammer et al., 2004). In addition we found that the inhibitory effect of the soluble mAb COS3A on T cell proliferation is corresponding to the decreasing of IL-2 and its receptor (CD25) as well as IFN- $\gamma$  production by T cells. But the secretion of the suppressive T cell response cytokine, IL-10, by monocytic cells was enhanced (Figure 4.2A). IL-10 is produce by both monocytes and lymphocytes. This cytokine has effect on decreasing level of IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  (Sabat *et al.*, 2010). Nonetheless, our study revealed that the inhibitory effect of the mAb on T cell proliferation was not reversed by addition of neutralizing anti-IL-10. This result clearly showed that suppression of CD3-mediated T cell proliferation by the mAb COS3A does not involve in the suppressive function of IL-10 on T cell activation. Another possible mechanism on this inhibitory effect is that the mAb COS3A blocks the interaction of costimulatory ligands expressing on APCs to the CD63 on T cells. This hypothesis can be supported by previous observation that presence of the CD63 mAb did not

affect T cell activation mediated by CD3/CD28 coated beads (Pfistershammer *et al.*, 2004). Moreover, the CD63 associates with MHC II molecule and plays an important role in MHC II sorting, clustering and organization on T lymphocytes (Mantegazza *et al.*, 2004). Knocking down the CD63 in EBV-transformed B cells increased the ability to activate CD4<sup>+</sup> T cells and increased production of exosomes (Petersen *et al.*, 2011). However, no costimulatory ligand on APCs that binds directly to the CD63 on T cell has been defined. Taken togther the results suggested that the novel CD63 mAb COS3A has the potential to inhibit CD3-mediated T cell activation, however presence of the APCs is needed.

To be more specified on T cells, purified T cells were used as another study model on the effect of the mAb COS3A on T cell activation. In this model we found that coimmobilization of the mAb COS3A together with TCR/CD3-triggering induced strong T cell activation. Nonetheless, the soluble mAb COS3A had no effect on T cell activation, both cell proliferation and cytokine production pattern of the CD3-mediated T cell activation (Figure 4.2B). Moreover, the efficient of CD63mediated costimulatory signal on T cell via the mAb COS3A induced a strong secretion of IL-2 and IFN- $\gamma$  production. These finding suggest that immobilization of the mAb COS3A to plastic surface is required for strong cross-linking achieved to induce the CD63 costimulation in T cell. In addition, preliminary results on cell cycle analysis revealed that cross-linkage of the mAb COS3A together with TCR/CD3-triggering induce cell cycle transition of T cells from G1 to S phase (Figure 4.2C). Our data obtained for the CD63 in regulation of T cells are quite similar as were observed in the previous report using anti-CD63 mAb 11C9 (Pfistershammer *et al.*, 2004). In addition, another commercially available anti-CD63 mAb MEM259, which has not been investigated on T cell activation, was also included in this study. However, this mAb has no effect on T cell activation as shown by using the mAb COS3A; in both PBMCs and T cell model. This may suggest that either anti-CD63 mAb COS3A recognizes a distinct epitope of the mAb MEM-259 on the CD63 molecule, or binding affinity of the mAb COS3A is higher than those of the mAb MEM-259.

In addition, CD63 is incorporated into tetraspanin microdomains, it is conceivable that the CD63 causes a similar deregulation of these microdomains followed by diminished antigen presentation as observed for CD37 and Tssc6 (Gartlan, Belz, Tarrant *et al.*, 2010). Alternatively, the CD63 may have a regulatory function in co-stimulation or induced inhibition of TCR activation. Further study is required to elucidate the actual mechanism of the CD63 on T cell response.





**Figure 4.2** Effect of the anti-CD63 mAb COS3A on T cell activation. (A) The soluble mAb COS3A significantly inhibits CD3-mediated T cell proliferation using PBMCs as model. The suppression phenomenon is corresponding to decrease production of IL-2 and its receptor (CD25) as well as IFN- $\gamma$  by T cells, but enhance IL-10 production by monocytic cells. (B) The soluble mAb COS3A had no effect on T cell proliferation and cytokine production. (C) Coimmobilization of the mAb COS3A and anti-CD3 mAb OKT3 strongly enhanced T cell proliferation, secretion of IL-2, IL-10 and IFN- $\gamma$  by T cells. Furthermore, cell cycle analysis indicated that induction of cell proliferation was occurred through the activation of G1/S transition.

# CHAPTER V

## CONCLUSION

In conclusion, we have identified a novel mAb specific for the human CD63, named COS3A. The antibody is suitable for both biochemical and functional studies of the CD63 molecule. In addition, the mAb COS3A significantly inhibits phagocytosis of E. coli by granulocytes, and we show here for the first time that the CD63 may play an important role in the recognition step of bacterial phagocytosis. This observation opens the question of whether the CD63 acts as a phagocytic receptor or is involved in the regulation of the phagocytic process. Furthermore, the effect of the mAb COS3A on T cell activation was studied. We found that binding of intact mAb COS3A significantly inhibits CD3-mediated T cell proliferation using PBMCs as model. The suppression phenomenon is corresponding to decrease production of IL-2 and its receptor (CD25) as well as IFN- $\gamma$  by T cells, but enhance IL-10 production by monocytic cells. This inhibitory phenomenon was not reversed by addition of neutralizing anti-IL-10 mAb. In the purified T cell model, a soluble of mAb COS3A has no effect on anti-CD3-triggered T-cells, whereas cross-linkage of the CD63 with the mAb COS3A is needed for costimulatory activation of CD3mediated T cell proliferation. The efficient CD63-mediated costimulatory on T cell activation induced a strong production of IL-2, IL-10, and IFN-y. Furthermore, cell cycle analysis indicated that induction of cell proliferation was occurred through the

activation of G1/S transition. These findings lead to the question of whether the CD63 acts as co-stimulatory signal or induced inhibition of TCR/CD3 activation.

Further study is needed to elucidate the actual mechanism of the CD63 on T cell response. Indeed, identification of putative CD63 ligand remains crucial for a better understanding of how does the CD63 function in the immune response and also its clinical applications.





### REFERENCES

- Abbas, A. K. (2003). The control of T cell activation vs. tolerance. **Autoimmun Rev.** 2(3): 115-118.
- Abbas, A. K., Lichtman, A. H., and Pillai, S. (2005). Cellular and molecular immunology, 5<sup>th</sup> ed., updated. ed. Philadelphia: Elsevier Saunders.
- Abbas, A. K., Lichtman, A. H., and Pillai, S. (2007). Cellular and molecular immunology 6<sup>th</sup> ed. Philadelphia: Saunders Elsevier.
- Abbas, A. K., Lichtman, A. H., and Pillai, S. (2010). Cellular and molecular immunology, 6<sup>th</sup> ed., updated. ed. Philadelphia, Pa.: Saunders Elsevier.
- Ageberg, M., and Lindmark, A. (2003). Characterization of the biosynthesis and processing of the neutrophil granule membrane protein CD63 in myeloid cells. Clin Lab Haematol. 25(5): 297-306.
- Akdis, C. A., Blesken, T., Akdis, M., Wuthrich, B., and Blaser, K. (1998). Role of interleukin 10 in specific immunotherapy. J Clin Invest. 102(1): 98-106.
- Akira, S., Takeda, K., and Kaisho, T. (2001). Toll-like receptors: critical proteins linking innate and acquired immunity. **Nat Immunol.** 2(8): 675-680.
- Akira, S., Uematsu, S., and Takeuchi, O. (2006). Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. Cell. 124(4): 783-801.
- Andreu, Z., and Yanez-Mo, M. (2014). Tetraspanins in extracellular vesicle formation and function. **Front Immunol.** 5: 442.

- Areschoug, T., and Gordon, S. (2009). Scavenger receptors: role in innate immunity and microbial pathogenesis. **Cell Microbiol.** 11(8): 1160-1169.
- Artavanis-Tsakonas, K., Love, J. C., Ploegh, H. L., and Vyas, J. M. (2006). Recruitment of CD63 to Cryptococcus neoformans phagosomes requires acidification. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 103(43): 15945-15950.
- Azorsa, D. O., Hyman, J. A., and Hildreth, J. E. (1991). CD63/Pltgp40: a platelet activation antigen identical to the stage-specific, melanoma-associated antigen ME491. Blood. 78(2): 280-284.
- Barclay, A. N., Brown, M. H., Law, S. K. A., McKnight, A. J., Tomlinson, M. G., and van der Merwe, P. A. (1997). 1 - Introduction. The Leukocyte Antigen Facts Book. San Diego: Academic Press.
- Beatty, W. L. (2006). Trafficking from CD63-positive late endocytic multivesicular bodies is essential for intracellular development of Chlamydia trachomatis. J Cell Sci. 119(Pt 2): 350-359.
- Beatty, W. L. (2008). Late endocytic multivesicular bodies intersect the chlamydial inclusion in the absence of CD63. Infect Immun. 76(7): 2872-2881.
- Beinert, T., Munzing, S., Possinger, K., and Krombach, F. (2000). Increased expression of the tetraspanins CD53 and CD63 on apoptotic human neutrophils. **J Leukoc Biol.** 67(3): 369-373.
- Beran, O., Potmesil, R., and Holub, M. (2011). Differences in Toll-like receptor expression and cytokine production after stimulation with heat-killed Grampositive and Gram-negative bacteria. Folia Microbiol (Praha). 56(3): 283-287.

- Berditchevski, F., Rubinstein, E., and Springer Link. (2013). Tetraspanins Proteins and Cell Regulation 9. Springer Netherlands.
- Bour-Jordan, H., and Blueston, J. A. (2002). CD28 function: a balance of costimulatory and regulatory signals. J Clin Immunol. 22(1): 1-7.
- Bridts, C. H., Sabato, V., Mertens, C., Hagendorens, M. M., De Clerck, L. S., and Ebo, D. G. (2014). Flow cytometric allergy diagnosis: basophil activation techniques. Methods Mol Biol. 1192: 147-159.
- Brown, G. D., Herre, J., Williams, D. L., Willment, J. A., Marshall, A. S., and Gordon, S. (2003). Dectin-1 mediates the biological effects of beta-glucans. J Exp Med. 197(9): 1119-1124.
- Candiano, G., Bruschi, M., Musante, L., Santucci, L., Ghiggeri, G. M., Carnemolla, B., Orecchia, P., Zardi, L., and Righetti, P. G. (2004). Blue silver: a very sensitive colloidal Coomassie blue G-250 staining for proteome analysis.
  Electrophoresis. 25(9): 1327-1333.
- Chaplin, D. D. (2010). Overview of the immune response. J Allergy Clin Immunol. 125(2): \$3-23.
- Charrin, S., Jouannet, S., Boucheix, C., and Rubinstein, E. (2014). Tetraspanins at a glance. J Cell Sci. 127(17): 3641-3648.
- Chen, H., Dziuba, N., Friedrich, B., von Lindern, J., Murray, J. L., Rojo, D. R., Hodge, T. W., O'Brien, W. A., and Ferguson, M. R. (2008). A critical role for CD63 in HIV replication and infection of macrophages and cell lines. Virology. 379(2): 191-196.
- Chen, L. W., Zhu, Y. B., Zhang, G. B., Gao, C., Zhong, W. X., and Zhang, X. G. (2011). CD83-stimulated monocytes suppress T-cell immune responses
through production of prostaglandin E2. **Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.** 108(46): 18778-18783.

- Choi, B. S., Park, Y. K., and Lee, J. S. (2002). The CD28/HLA-DR expressions on CD4+T but not CD8+T cells are significant predictors for progression to AIDS. Clin Exp Immunol. 127(1): 137-144.
- Coico, R., Sunshine, G., and Benjamini, E. (2003). Immunology : a short course (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). Hoboken, N.J.: Wiley-Liss.
- Conner, S. D., and Schmid, S. L. (2003). Regulated portals of entry into the cell. Nature. 422(6927): 37-44.
- Couper, K. N., Blount, D. G., and Riley, E. M. (2008). IL-10: the master regulator of immunity to infection. J Immunol. 180(9): 5771-5777.
- Dale, D. C., Boxer, L., and Liles, W. C. (2008). The phagocytes: neutrophils and monocytes. Blood. 112(4): 935-945.
- Dell'Angelica, E. C., Mullins, C., Caplan, S., and Bonifacino, J. S. (2000). Lysosomerelated organelles. FASEB J. 14(10): 1265-1278.
- DeSalle, R., Mares, R., and Garcia-Espana, A. (2010). Evolution of cysteine patterns in the large extracellular loop of tetraspanins from animals, fungi, plants and single-celled eukaryotes. **Mol Phylogenet Evol.** 56(1): 486-491.
- Diaz-Ramos, M. C., Engel, P., and Bastos, R. (2011). Towards a comprehensive human cell-surface immunome database. **Immunol Lett.** 134(2): 183-187.
- Doyle, E. L., Ridger, V., Ferraro, F., Turmaine, M., Saftig, P., and Cutler, D. F. (2011). CD63 is an essential cofactor to leukocyte recruitment by endothelial P-selectin. Blood. 118(15): 4265-4273.

- Duffield, A., Kamsteeg, E. J., Brown, A. N., Pagel, P., and Caplan, M. J. (2003). The tetraspanin CD63 enhances the internalization of the H,K-ATPase betasubunit. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 100(26): 15560-15565.
- Eggermont, L. J., Paulis, L. E., Tel, J., and Figdor, C. G. (2014). Towards efficient cancer immunotherapy: advances in developing artificial antigen-presenting cells. **Trends Biotechnol.** 32(9): 456-465.
- Engel, P. (2011). Editorial HLDA9 special issue. Immunol Lett. 134(2): 103.
- Engering, A., Kuhn, L., Fluitsma, D., Hoefsmit, E., and Pieters, J. (2003). Differential post-translational modification of CD63 molecules during maturation of human dendritic cells. **Eur J Biochem.** 270(11): 2412-2420.
- Fagerberg, L., Jonasson, K., von Heijne, G., Uhlen, M., and Berglund, L. (2010). Prediction of the human membrane proteome. **Proteomics.** 10(6): 1141-1149.
- Fallman, M., and Gustavsson, A. (2005). Cellular mechanisms of bacterial internalization counteracted by Yersinia. Int Rev Cytol. 246: 135-188.
- Fanaei, M., Monk, P. N., and Partridge, L. J. (2011). The role of tetraspanins in fusion. **Biochem Soc Trans.** 39(2): 524-528.
- Fazekas de St Groth, B., Smith, A. L., and Higgins, C. A. (2004). T cell activation: in vivo veritas. Immunol Cell Biol. 82(3): 260-268.
- Finlay, B. B., and Hancock, R. E. W. (2004). Opinion Can innate immunity be enhanced to treat microbial infections. **Nat Rev Microbiology.** 2(6): 497-504.
- Flannagan, R. S., Jaumouille, V., and Grinstein, S. (2012). The cell biology of phagocytosis. Annu Rev Pathol. 7: 61-98.
- Foey, A. D., Parry, S. L., Williams, L. M., Feldmann, M., Foxwell, B. M., and Brennan, F. M. (1998). Regulation of monocyte IL-10 synthesis by

endogenous IL-1 and TNF-alpha: role of the p38 and p42/44 mitogenactivated protein kinases. **J Immunol.** 160(2): 920-928.

- Fu, E., Pan, L., Xie, Y., Mu, D., Liu, W., Jin, F., and Bai, X. (2015). Tetraspanin CD63 is a regulator of HIV-1 replication. Int J Clin Exp Pathol. 8(2): 1184-1198.
- Gantner, B. N., Simmons, R. M., Canavera, S. J., Akira, S., and Underhill, D. M. (2003). Collaborative induction of inflammatory responses by dectin-1 and Toll-like receptor 2. J Exp Med. 197(9).
- Gartlan, K. H., Belz, G. T., Tarrant, J. M., Minigo, G., Katsara, M., Sheng, K. C., Sofi, M., Van Spriel, A. B., Apostolopoulos, V., Plebanski, M., Robb, L., and Wright, M. D. (2010). A complementary role for the tetraspanins CD37 and Tssc6 in cellular immunity. J Immunol. 185(6): 3158-3166.
- Geijtenbeek, T. B., van Vliet, S. J., Engering, A., t Hart, B. A., and van Kooyk, Y. (2004). Self- and nonself-recognition by C-type lectins on dendritic cells. Annu Rev Immunol. 22: 33-54.
- Gorelik, L., and Flavell, R. A. (2002). Transforming growth factor-beta in T-cell biology. Nat Rev Immunol. 2(1): 46-53.
- Green, L. R., Monk, P. N., Partridge, L. J., Morris, P., Gorringe, A. R., and Read, R.C. (2011). Cooperative role for tetraspanins in adhesin-mediated attachment of bacterial species to human epithelial cells. Infect Immun. 79(6): 2241-2249.
- Hiatt, A. C. (1991). Monoclonal antibodies, hybridoma technology and heterologous production systems. Curr Opin Immunol. 3(2): 229-232.
- Ho, S. H., Martin, F., Higginbottom, A., Partridge, L. J., Parthasarathy, V., Moseley,G. W., Lopez, P., and Cheng-Mayer, C., and Monk, P. N. (2006).

Recombinant extracellular domains of tetraspanin proteins are potent inhibitors of the infection of macrophages by human immunodeficiency virus type 1. **J Virol.** 80(13): 6487-6496.

- Horejsi, V., and Vlcek, C. (1991). Novel structurally distinct family of leucocyte surface glycoproteins including CD9, CD37, CD53 and CD63. FEBS Lett. 288(1-2): 1-4.
- Hotta, H., Takahashi, N., and Homma, M. (1989). Transcriptional enhancement of the human gene encoding for a melanoma-associated antigen (ME491) in association with malignant transformation. Jpn J Cancer Res. 80(12): 1186-1191.
- Hu, D., Song, X., Xie, Y., Zhong, X., Wang, N., Zheng, Y., Gu, X., Wang, T., Peng,
  X., andYang, G. (2015). Molecular insights into a tetraspanin in the hydatid
  tapeworm Echinococcus granulosus. Parasit Vectors. 8: 311.
- Huether, S. E., and McCance, K. L. (2012). Understanding pathophysiology (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). St. Louis, Mo: Elsevier.
- Janeway, C., and Rosengarten Family Fund. (2001). Immunobiology 5 : the immune system in health and disease (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). New York: Garland Pub.
- Jang, H. I., and Lee, H. (2003). A decrease in the expression of CD63 tetraspanin protein elevates invasive potential of human melanoma cells. Exp Mol Med. 35(4): 317-323
- Johnson, A. G., Ziegler, R. J., and Hawley, L. (2010). Microbiology and immunology (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Jones, E. L., Demaria, M. C., and Wright, M. D. (2011). Tetraspanins in cellular immunity. **Biochem Soc Trans.** 39(2): 506-511.

- Kasinrerk, W., Tokrasinwit, N., Moonsom, S., and Stockinger, H. (2000). CD99 monoclonal antibody induce homotypic adhesion of Jurkat cells through protein tyrosine kinase and protein kinase C-dependent pathway. Immunol Lett. 71(1): 33-41.
- Kasinrerk, W., Tokrasinwit, N., and Naveewongpanit, P. (1998). Production of monoclonal antibody to CD4 antigen and development of reagent for CD4+ lymphocyte enumeration. J Med Assoc Thai. 81(11): 879-892.
- Kasinrerk, W., Tokrasinwit, N., and Phunpae, P. (1999). CD147 monoclonal antibodies induce homotypic cell aggregation of monocytic cell line U937 via LFA-1/ICAM-1 pathway. Immunology. 96(2): 184-192.
- Kershaw, M. H., Westwood, J. A., and Darcy, P. K. (2013). Gene-engineered T cells for cancer therapy. Nat Rev Cancer. 13(8): 525-541.
- Kindt, T. J., Goldsby, R. A., Osborne, B. A., and Kuby, J. (2007). Kuby immunology (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). New York: W.H. Freeman.
- Kitadokoro, K., Bordo, D., Galli, G., Petracca, R., Falugi, F., Abrignani, S., Grandi, G., and Bolognesi, M. (2001). CD81 extracellular domain 3D structure: insight into the tetraspanin superfamily structural motifs. EMBO J. 20(1-2): 12-18.
- Koch, M., Niemeyer, G., Patel, I., Light, S., and Nashan, B. (2002). Pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, and immunodynamics of daclizumab in a twodose regimen in liver transplantation. **Transplantation.** 73(10): 1640-1646.
- Kohler, G., and Milstein, C. (1975). Continuous cultures of fused cells secreting antibody of predefined specificity. **Nature.** 256(5517): 495-497.

- Kovalenko, O. V., Yang, X. H., and Hemler, M. E. (2007). A novel cysteine crosslinking method reveals a direct association between claudin-1 and tetraspanin CD9. Mol Cell Proteomics. 6(11): 1855-1867.
- Kraft, S., Fleming, T., Billingsley, J. M., Lin, S. Y., Jouvin, M. H., Storz, P., and Kinet, J. P. (2005). Anti-CD63 antibodies suppress IgE-dependent allergic reactions in vitro and in vivo. J Exp Med. 201(3): 385-396.
- Kubsch, S., Graulich, E., Knop, J., and Steinbrink, K. (2003). Suppressor activity of anergic T cells induced by IL-10-treated human dendritic cells: association with IL-2- and CTLA-4-dependent G1 arrest of the cell cycle regulated by p27Kip1. Eur J Immunol. 33(7): 1988-1997.

Kuby, J. (1997). Immunology (3rd ed.). New York: W.H. Freeman.

- Leitner, J., Grabmeier-Pfistershammer, K., and Steinberger, P. (2010). Receptors and ligands implicated in human T cell costimulatory processes. **Immunol Lett.** 128(2): 89-97.
- Lever, M., Maini, P. K., van der Merwe, P. A., and Dushek, O. (2014). Phenotypic models of T cell activation. **Nat Rev Immunol.** 14(9): 619-629.
- Levy, S., and Shoham, T. (2005). The tetraspanin web modulates immune-signalling complexes. **Nat Rev Immunol.** 5(2): 136-148.
- Lin, D., Kamsteeg, E. J., Zhang, Y., Jin, Y., Sterling, H., Yue, P., Roos, M., Duffield, A., Spencer, J., Caplan, M., and Wang, W. H. (2008). Expression of tetraspan protein CD63 activates protein-tyrosine kinase (PTK) and enhances the PTK-induced inhibition of ROMK channels. J Biol Chem. 283(12): 7674-7681.

- Liu, J. K. (2014). The history of monoclonal antibody development Progress, remaining challenges and future innovations. Ann Med Surg (Lond). 3(4): 113-116.
- Mahasongkram, K., Pata, S., Chruewkamlow, N., and Kasinrerk, W. (2015). Identification of a T cell surface molecule using a monoclonal antibody produced by TCR/CD3 complex immunization. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol. 33(2): 107-116.
- Male, D. K. (2006). Immunology (7th ed.). Philadelphia, PA: Mosby Elsevier.
- Malek, T. R. (2008). The biology of interleukin-2. Annu Rev Immunol. 26: 453-479.
- Mantegazza, A. R., Barrio, M. M., Moutel, S., Bover, L., Weck, M., Brossart, P., Teillaud, J. L., and Mordoh, J. (2004). CD63 tetraspanin slows down cell migration and translocates to the endosomal-lysosomal-MIICs route after extracellular stimuli in human immature dendritic cells. Blood. 104(4): 1183-1190.
- Matesanz-Isabel, J., Sintes, J., Llinas, L., de Salort, J., Lazaro, A., and Engel, P. (2011). New B-cell CD molecules. **Immunol Lett.** 134(2): 104-112.
- Maynard, C. L., and Weaver, C. T. (2008). Diversity in the contribution of interleukin-10 to T-cell-mediated immune regulation. **Immunol Rev.** 226: 219-233.
- McGowan, E. C., and Saini, S. (2013). Update on the performance and application of basophil activation tests.**Curr Allergy Asthma Rep.** 13(1): 101-109.
- Mechnikov, II. (1988). Immunity in infective diseases. By Il'ia Il'ich Mechnikov, 1905. **Rev Infect Dis.** 10(1): 223-227.

- Metzelaar, M. J., Wijngaard, P. L., Peters, P. J., Sixma, J. J., Nieuwenhuis, H. K., and Clevers, H. C. (1991). CD63 antigen. A novel lysosomal membrane glycoprotein, cloned by a screening procedure for intracellular antigens in eukaryotic cells. J Biol Chem. 266(5): 3239-3245.
- Monk, P. N., and Partridge, L. J. (2012). Tetraspanins: gateways for infection. **Infect Disord Drug Targets.** 12(1): 4-17.
- Nissim, A., and Chernajovsky, Y. (2008). Historical development of monoclonal antibody therapeutics. Handb Exp Pharmacol. (181): 3-18.
- Ozinsky, A., Underhill, D. M., Fontenot, J. D., Hajjar, A. M., Smith, K. D., Wilson, C. B., Schroeder, L., and Aderem, A. (2000). The repertoire for pattern recognition of pathogens by the innate immune system is defined by cooperation between toll-like receptors. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 97(25): 13766-13771.
- Pata, S., Tayapiwatana, C., and Kasinrerk, W. (2009). Three different immunogen preparation strategies for production of CD4 monoclonal antibodies.
  Hybridoma (Larchmt). 28(3): 159-165.
- Patnaik, B. B., Kang, S. M., Seo, G. W., Lee, H. J., Patnaik, H. H., Jo, Y. H., Tindwa H., Lee, Y. S., Lee, B. L., Kim, N. J., Bang, I.S., and Han, Y. S. (2013).
  Molecular cloning, sequence characterization and expression analysis of a CD63 homologue from the coleopteran beetle, Tenebrio molitor. Int J Mol Sci. 14(10): 20744-20767.
- Paul, W. E. (2008). Fundamental immunology (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). Philadelphia: Wolters Kluwer/Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.

Paul, W. E. (2011). Bridging innate and adaptive immunity. Cell. 147(6): 1212-1215.

- Pearson, A. M. (1996). Scavenger receptors in innate immunity. Curr Opin Immunol. 8(1): 20-28.
- Pennock, N. D., White, J. T., Cross, E. W., Cheney, E. E., Tamburini, B. A., and Kedl, R. M. (2013). T cell responses: naive to memory and everything in between. Adv Physiol Educ. 37(4): 273-283.
- Petersen, S. H., Odintsova, E., Haigh, T. A., Rickinson, A. B., Taylor, G. S., and Berditchevski, F. (2011). The role of tetraspanin CD63 in antigen presentation via MHC class II. Eur J Immunol. 41(9): 2556-2561.
- Pfistershammer, K., Majdic, O., Stockl, J., Zlabinger, G., Kirchberger, S., Steinberger,
  P., and Knapp, W. (2004). CD63 as an activation-linked T cell costimulatory
  element. J Immunol. 173(10): 6000-6008.
- Pimpha, N., Chaleawlert-umpon, S., Chruewkamlow, N., and Kasinrerk, W. (2011). Preparation of anti-CD4 monoclonal antibody-conjugated magnetic poly(glycidyl methacrylate) particles and their application on CD4<sup>+</sup> lymphocyte separation. **Talanta.** 84(1): 89-97.
- Pols, M. S., and Klumperman, J. (2009). Trafficking and function of the tetraspanin CD63. Exp Cell Res. 315(9): 1584-1592.
- Purves, W. K. (2004). Life, the science of biology (7<sup>th</sup> ed.). Sunderland, Mass.: Sinauer Associates : W.H. Freeman.
- Radford, K. J., Thorne, R. F., and Hersey, P. (1996). CD63 associates with transmembrane 4 superfamily members, CD9 and CD81, and with beta 1 integrins in human melanoma. **Biochem Biophys Res Commun.** 222(1): 13-18.

- Ribot, J. C., Debarros, A., Mancio-Silva, L., Pamplona, A., and Silva-Santos, B. (2012). B7-CD28 costimulatory signals control the survival and proliferation of murine and human gammadelta T cells via IL-2 production. J Immunol. 189(3): 1202-1208.
- Rowbottom, A. W., Lepper, M. A., Garland, R. J., Cox, C. V., and Corley, E. G. (1999). Interleukin-10-induced CD8 cell proliferation. Immunology. 98(1): 80-89.
- Sabat, R., Grutz, G., Warszawska, K., Kirsch, S., Witte, E., Wolk, K., and Geginat, J. (2010). Biology of interleukin-10. Cytokine Growth Factor Rev. 21(5): 331-344.
- Sainte-Laudy, J., Boumediene, A., Touraine, F., Orsel, I., Brianchon, C., Bonnaud, F., and Cogne, M. (2007). Use of both CD63 up regulation and IgE down regulation for the flow cytometric analysis of allergen induced basophil activation. Definition of an activation index. **Inflamm Res.** 56(7): 291-296.
- Schafer, T., Starkl, P., Allard, C., Wolf, R. M., and Schweighoffer, T. (2010). A granular variant of CD63 is a regulator of repeated human mast cell degranulation. Allergy. 65(10): 1242-1255.
- Schroder, J., Lullmann-Rauch, R., Himmerkus, N., Pleines, I., Nieswandt, B., Orinska, Z., Koch-Nolte F., Schroder, B., Bleich, M., and Saftig, P. (2009). Deficiency of the tetraspanin CD63 associated with kidney pathology but normal lysosomal function. **Mol Cell Biol.** 29(4): 1083-1094.
- Seto, S., Matsumoto, S., Tsujimura, K., and Koide, Y. (2010). Differential recruitment of CD63 and Rab7-interacting-lysosomal-protein to phagosomes containing

Mycobacterium tuberculosis in macrophages. **Microbiol Immunol.** 54(3): 170-174.

- Sheng, K. C., van Spriel, A. B., Gartlan, K. H., Sofi, M., Apostolopoulos, V., Ashman, L., and Wright, M. D. (2009). Tetraspanins CD37 and CD151 differentially regulate Ag presentation and T-cell co-stimulation by DC. Eur J Immunol. 39(1): 50-55.
- Singboottra, P., Pata, S., Tayapiwatan, C., and Kasinrerk, W. (2010). Method for analysis of surface molecule alteration upon phagocytosis by flow cytometry.
  Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol. 28(2-3): 170-176.
- Skubitz, K. M., Campbell, K. D., and Skubitz, A. P. (2000). CD63 associates with CD11/CD18 in large detergent-resistant complexes after translocation to the cell surface in human neutrophils. FEBS Lett. 469(1): 52-56.
- Smith-Garvin, J. E., Koretzky, G. A., and Jordan, M. S. (2009). T cell activation. Annu Rev Immunol. 27: 591-619.
- Stern, S. T., Adiseshaiah, P. P., and Crist, R. M. (2012). Autophagy and lysosomal dysfunction as emerging mechanisms of nanomaterial toxicity. Part Fibre Toxicol. 9: 20.
- Stuart, L. M., and Ezekowitz, R. A. (2005). Phagocytosis: elegant complexity. Immunity. 22(5): 539-550.
- Sturm, G. J., Bohm, E., Trummer, M., Weiglhofer, I., Heinemann, A., and Aberer, W. (2004). The CD63 basophil activation test in Hymenoptera venom allergy: a prospective study. Allergy. 59(10): 1110-1117.
- Swanson, J. A., and Hoppe, A. D. (2004). The coordination of signaling during Fc receptor-mediated phagocytosis. J Leukoc Biol. 76(6): 1093-1103.

- Takeda, Y., Tachibana, I., Miyado, K., Kobayashi, M., Miyazaki, T., Funakoshi, T.,
  Kimara, H., Yamane, H., Saito, Y., Goto, H., Yoneda, T., Yoshida, M.,
  Kumagai, T., Osaki, T., Hayashi, S., Kawase, I., and Mekada, E. (2003).
  Tetraspanins CD9 and CD81 function to prevent the fusion of mononuclear
  phagocytes. J Cell Biol. 161(5): 945-956.
- Tammaro, A., Narcisi, A., Amodeo, R., Portaro, L., Tabacco, F., Cardelli, P., and Persechino, S. (2012). CD63 cell expression detected by flow-cytometric determination of basophil activation in allergic patients. Int J Immunopathol Pharmacol. 25(4): 1143-1147.
- Tarrant, J. M., Robb, L., van Spriel, A. B., and Wright, M. D. (2003). Tetraspanins: molecular organisers of the leukocyte surface. Trends Immunol. 24(11): 610-617.
- Taylor, A., Akdis, M., Joss, A., Akkoc, T., Wenig, R., Colonna, M., Daigle, I., Flory,
  E., and Akdis, C. A. (2007). IL-10 inhibits CD28 and ICOS costimulations of
  T cells via src homology 2 domain-containing protein tyrosine phosphatase 1.
  J Allergy Clin Immunol. 120(1): 76-83.
- Tominaga, N., Hagiwara, K., Kosaka, N., Honma, K., Nakagama, H., and Ochiya, T. (2014). RPN2-mediated glycosylation of tetraspanin CD63 regulates breast cancer cell malignancy. Mol Cancer. 13: 134.
- Underhill, D. M., and Gantner, B. (2004). Integration of Toll-like receptor and phagocytic signaling for tailored immunity. **Microbes Infect.** 6(15): 1368-1373.
- van Spriel, A. B. (2011). Tetraspanins in the humoral immune response. **Biochem Soc Trans.** 39(2): 512-517.

- van Spriel, A. B., and Figdor, C. G. (2010). The role of tetraspanins in the pathogenesis of infectious diseases. **Microbes Infect.** 12(2): 106-112.
- Vanden Bush, T. J., Buchta, C. M., Claudio, J., and Bishop, G. A. (2009). Cutting Edge: Importance of IL-6 and cooperation between innate and adaptive
- immune receptors in cellular vaccination with B lymphocytes. **J Immunol.** 183(8): 4833-4837.
- Vilcek, J., and Feldmann, M. (2004). Historical review: Cytokines as therapeutics and targets of therapeutics. **Trends Pharmacol Sci.** 25(4): 201-209.
- von Lindern, J. J., Rojo, D., Grovit-Ferbas, K., Yeramian, C., Deng, C., Herbein, G., and O'Brien, W. A. (2003). Potential role for CD63 in CCR5-mediated human immunodeficiency virus type 1 infection of macrophages. J Virol. 77(6): 3624-3633.
- Wright, M. D., and Tomlinson, M. G. (1994). The ins and outs of the transmembrane 4 superfamily. **Immunol Today.** 15(12): 588-594.
- Yanez-Mo, M., Barreiro, O., Gordon-Alonso, M., Sala-Valdes, M., and Sanchez-Madrid, F. (2009). Tetraspanin-enriched microdomains: a functional unit in cell plasma membranes. Trends Cell Biol. 19(9): 434-446.
- Yunta, M., and Lazo, P. A. (2003). Tetraspanin proteins as organisers of membrane microdomains and signalling complexes. **Cellular Signalling.** 15(6): 559-564.
- Zhang, Y., Hoppe, A. D., and Swanson, J. A. (2010). Coordination of Fc receptor signaling regulates cellular commitment to phagocytosis. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 107(45): 19332-19337.
- Zola, H. (2005). The 8th Human Leucocyte Differentiation Antigens Workshop: conference, Adelaide 2004. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents. 19(1-2): 72.

- Zola, H., and Swart, B. (2005). The human leucocyte differentiation antigens (HLDA) workshops: the evolving role of antibodies in research, diagnosis and therapy.Cell Res. 15(9): 691-694.
- Zola, H., Swart, B., Banham, A., Barry, S., Beare, A., Bensussan, A., Boumsell, L., C,
  D. B., Buhring, H. J., Clark, G., Engle, P., Fox, D., Jin, B. Q., Macardle, P. J.,
  Malavasi, F., Mason, D., Stockinger, H., and Yang, X. (2007). CD molecules
  2006 human cell differentiation molecules. J Immunol Methods. 319(1-2): 15.





# **APPENDIX** A

## LICENSE PERMISSION LETTERS

1/14/2016

RightsLink Printable License

ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

Jan 14, 2016

This is a License Agreement between Siriwan Wansook ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

Supplier	Elsevier Limited The Boulevard,Langford Lane Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Siriwan Wansook
Customer address	Suranaree University of Technology
	Nakhon Ratchasima, 30000
License number	3786930102259
License date	Jan 13, 2016
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Trends in Cell Biology
Licensed content title	Tetraspanin-enriched microdomains: a functional unit in cell plasma membranes
Licensed content author	María Yáñez-Mó,Olga Barreiro,Mónica Gordon-Alonso,Mónica Sala- Valdés,Francisco Sánchez-Madrid
Licensed content date	September 2009
Licensed content volume number	19
Licensed content issue number	9
Number of pages	13
Start Page	434
End Page	446
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Intended publisher of new work	other
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Original figure numbers	Figure 1
Title of your	IDENTIFICATION AND FUNCTION OF LEUKOCYTE SURFACE

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=61566911-8338-4e95-b190-05e158ba35c7

1/14/2016	RightsLink Printable License	
thesis/dissertation	MOLECULES RECOGNIZING BY NEWLY GENERATED MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY COS3A	
Expected completion date	Jan 2016	
Estimated size (number of pages)	120	
Customer Tax ID	THno	
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12	
Permissions price	0.00 USD	
VAT/Local Sales Tax	0.00 USD / 0.00 GBP	
Total	0.00 USD	
Terms and Conditions		

### INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at http://myaccount.copyright.com).

### GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com)

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.

7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event

that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.
 No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).
 Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

### LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types:

15. **Translation**: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world **English** rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article.

16. **Posting licensed content on any Website**: The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image; A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com; Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <a href="http://www.elsevier.com">http://www.elsevier.com</a>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

**Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve**: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be password-protected and made available only to

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=61566911-8338-4e95-b190-05e158ba35c7

that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.
12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).
13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

### LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types:

15. **Translation**: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world **English** rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article.

16. **Posting licensed content on any Website**: The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image; A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com; Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <a href="http://www.elsevier.com">http://www.elsevier.com</a>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

**Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve**: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be password-protected and made available only to

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=61566911-8338-4e95-b190-05e158ba35c7

that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.
12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).
13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

### LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types: 15. **Translation**: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world **English** rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article.

16. **Posting licensed content on any Website**: The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image; A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com; Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <a href="http://www.elsevier.com">http://www.elsevier.com</a>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

**Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve**: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be password-protected and made available only to

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=61566911-8338-4e95-b190-05e158ba35c7

bona fide students registered on a relevant course. This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a new license for future website posting.

17. For journal authors: the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Preprints:

A preprint is an author's own write-up of research results and analysis, it has not been peerreviewed, nor has it had any other value added to it by a publisher (such as formatting, copyright, technical enhancement etc.).

Authors can share their preprints anywhere at any time. Preprints should not be added to or enhanced in any way in order to appear more like, or to substitute for, the final versions of articles however authors can update their preprints on arXiv or RePEc with their Accepted Author Manuscript (see below).

If accepted for publication, we encourage authors to link from the preprint to their formal publication via its DOI. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help users to find, access, cite and use the best available version. Please note that Cell Press, The Lancet and some society-owned have different preprint policies. Information on these policies is available on the journal homepage. **Accepted Author Manuscripts:** An accepted author manuscript is the manuscript of an article that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes author-incorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and editor-author communications.

Authors can share their accepted author manuscript:

immediately

o

0

- via their non-commercial person homepage or blog
- by updating a preprint in arXiv or RePEc with the accepted manuscript
- via their research institute or institutional repository for internal institutional uses or as part of an invitation-only research collaboration work-group
- directly by providing copies to their students or to research collaborators for their personal use
  - for private scholarly sharing as part of an invitation-only work group on commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement
- after the embargo period
  - via non-commercial hosting platforms such as their institutional repository
    - via commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement

In all cases accepted manuscripts should:

- link to the formal publication via its DOI
- bear a CC-BY-NC-ND license this is easy to do
- if aggregated with other manuscripts, for example in a repository or other site, be shared in alignment with our hosting policy not be added to or enhanced in any way to appear more like, or to substitute for, the published journal article.

**Published journal article (JPA):** A published journal article (PJA) is the definitive final record of published research that appears or will appear in the journal and embodies all value-adding publishing activities including peer review co-ordination, copy-editing, formatting, (if relevant) pagination and online enrichment.

Policies for sharing publishing journal articles differ for subscription and gold open access articles:

<u>Subscription Articles:</u> If you are an author, please share a link to your article rather than the full-text. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help your users to find, access, cite, and use the best available version. Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=61566911-8338-4e95-b190-05e158ba35c7

144

publications on ScienceDirect.

1/14/2016

If you are affiliated with a library that subscribes to ScienceDirect you have additional private sharing rights for others' research accessed under that agreement. This includes use for classroom teaching and internal training at the institution (including use in course packs and courseware programs), and inclusion of the article for grant funding purposes. **Gold Open Access Articles:** May be shared according to the author-selected end-user license and should contain a <u>CrossMark logo</u>, the end user license, and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

Please refer to Elsevier's posting policy for further information.

18. For book authors the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. Posting to a repository: Authors are permitted to post a summary of their chapter only in their institution's repository. 19. Thesis/Dissertation: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for Proquest/UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

### Elsevier Open Access Terms and Conditions

You can publish open access with Elsevier in hundreds of open access journals or in nearly 2000 established subscription journals that support open access publishing. Permitted third party re-use of these open access articles is defined by the author's choice of Creative Commons user license. See our open access license policy for more information. **Terms & Conditions applicable to all Open Access articles published with Elsevier:** Any reuse of the article must not represent the author as endorsing the adaptation of the article nor should the article be modified in such a way as to damage the author's honour or reputation. If any changes have been made, such changes must be clearly indicated. The author(s) must be appropriately credited and we ask that you include the end user license and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect. If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication

with credit or acknowledgement to another source it is the responsibility of the user to ensure their reuse complies with the terms and conditions determined by the rights holder. **Additional Terms & Conditions applicable to each Creative Commons user license: CC BY:** The CC-BY license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article and to make commercial use of the Article (including reuse and/or resale of the Article by commercial entities), provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at <a href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0">http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0</a>.

**CC BY NC SA:** The CC BY-NC-SA license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes, and that the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. Further, any new works must be made available on the same conditions. The full details of the license are available at <a href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0">http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0</a>. **CC BY NC ND:** The CC BY-NC-ND license allows users to copy and distribute the Article,

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=61566911-8338-4e95-b190-05e158ba35c7

provided this is not done for commercial purposes and further does not permit distribution of the Article if it is changed or edited in any way, and provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, and that the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at <u>http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0</u>. Any commercial reuse of Open Access articles published with a CC BY NC SA or CC BY NC ND license requires permission from Elsevier and will be subject to a fee. Commercial reuse includes:

- Associating advertising with the full text of the Article
- Charging fees for document delivery or access
- Article aggregation
- Systematic distribution via e-mail lists or share buttons

Posting or linking by commercial companies for use by customers of those companies.

### 20. Other Conditions:

v1.8

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.



### NATURE PUBLISHING GROUP LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1/14/2016

Jan 14, 2016

This is a License Agreement between Siriwan Wansook ("You") and Nature Publishing Group ("Nature Publishing Group") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Nature Publishing Group, and the payment terms and conditions.

# All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

License Number	3786930747396	
License date	Jan 13, 2016	
Licensed content publisher	Nature Publishing Group	
Licensed content publication	Nature Reviews Cancer	
Licensed content title	Gene-engineered T cells for cancer therapy	
Licensed content author	Michael H. Kershaw, Jennifer A. Westwood, Phillip K. Darcy	
Licensed content date	Jul 24, 2013	
Volume number	13	
Issue number	8	
Type of Use	reuse in a dissertation / thesis	
Requestor type	academic/educational	
Format	print and electronic	
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations	
Number of figures/tables/illustrations		
High-res required	no	
Figures	I would like to reuse Box 3: T cell activation in the part of my introduction of literature review.	
Author of this NPG article	no neurosulosias	
Your reference number	None	
Title of your thesis / dissertation	IDENTIFICATION AND FUNCTION OF LEUKOCYTE SURFACE MOLECULES RECOGNIZING BY NEWLY GENERATED MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY COS3A	
Expected completion date	Jan 2016	
Estimated size (number of pages)	120	
Customer Tax ID	THno	
Total	0.00 USD	
Terms and Conditions		

Terms and Conditions for Permissions

Nature Publishing Group hereby grants you a non-exclusive license to reproduce this material for this purpose, and for no other use, subject to the conditions below:

1. NPG warrants that it has, to the best of its knowledge, the rights to license reuse of this https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=2965d987-5895-4645-9b8xd-34938a93b77f

material. However, you should ensure that the material you are requesting is original to Nature Publishing Group and does not carry the copyright of another entity (as credited in the published version). If the credit line on any part of the material you have requested indicates that it was reprinted or adapted by NPG with permission from another source, then you should also seek permission from that source to reuse the material.

- 2. Permission granted free of charge for material in print is also usually granted for any electronic version of that work, provided that the material is incidental to the work as a whole and that the electronic version is essentially equivalent to, or substitutes for, the print version. Where print permission has been granted for a fee, separate permission must be obtained for any additional, electronic re-use (unless, as in the case of a full paper, this has already been accounted for during your initial request in the calculation of a print run).NB: In all cases, web-based use of full-text articles must be authorized separately through the 'Use on a Web Site' option when requesting permission.
- Permission granted for a first edition does not apply to second and subsequent editions and for editions in other languages (except for signatories to the STM Permissions Guidelines, or where the first edition permission was granted for free).
- 4. Nature Publishing Group's permission must be acknowledged next to the figure, table or abstract in print. In electronic form, this acknowledgement must be visible at the same time as the figure/table/abstract, and must be hyperlinked to the journal's homepage.
- 5. The credit line should read:

Reprinted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: [JOURNAL NAME] (reference citation), copyright (year of publication)

For AOP papers, the credit line should read:

Reprinted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: [JOURNAL NAME], advance online publication, day month year (doi: 10.1038/sj.[JOURNAL ACRONYM].XXXXX)

# Note: For republication from the British Journal of Cancer, the following credit lines apply.

Reprinted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd on behalf of Cancer Research UK: [JOURNAL NAME] (reference citation), copyright (year of publication)For AOP papers, the credit line should read:

Reprinted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd on behalf of Cancer Research UK: [JOURNAL NAME], advance online publication, day month year (doi: 10.1038/sj.[JOURNAL ACRONYM].XXXXX)

Adaptations of single figures do not require NPG approval. However, the adaptation should be credited as follows:

Adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: [JOURNAL NAME] (reference citation), copyright (year of publication)

# Note: For adaptation from the *British Journal of Cancer*, the following credit line applies.

Adapted by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd on behalf of Cancer Research UK: [JOURNAL NAME] (reference citation), copyright (year of publication)

 Translations of 401 words up to a whole article require NPG approval. Please visit <u>http://www.macmillanmedicalcommunications.com</u> for more information.Translations of up to a 400 words do not require NPG approval. The translation should be credited as follows:

Translated by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd: [JOURNAL NAME] (reference citation), copyright (year of publication).

# Note: For translation from the British Journal of Cancer, the following credit line applies.

Translated by permission from Macmillan Publishers Ltd on behalf of Cancer Research UK: [JOURNAL NAME] (reference citation), copyright (year of publication)

We are certain that all parties will benefit from this agreement and wish you the best in the

https://s100.copyright.com/CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=2965d987-5895-4645-9b8d-34938a93b77f

### ELSEVIER LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS

1/14/2016

Jan 14, 2016

This is a License Agreement between Siriwan Wansook ("You") and Elsevier ("Elsevier") provided by Copyright Clearance Center ("CCC"). The license consists of your order details, the terms and conditions provided by Elsevier, and the payment terms and conditions.

# All payments must be made in full to CCC. For payment instructions, please see information listed at the bottom of this form.

Supplier	Elsevier Limited The Boulevard,Langford Lane Kidlington,Oxford,OX5 1GB,UK
Registered Company Number	1982084
Customer name	Siriwan Wansook
Customer address	Suranaree University of Technology
	Nakhon Ratchasima, 30000
License number	3783401352655
License date	Jan 06, 2016
Licensed content publisher	Elsevier
Licensed content publication	Microbes and Infection
Licensed content title	The role of tetraspanins in the pathogenesis of infectious diseases
Licensed content author	Annemiek B. van Spriel, Carl G. Figdor
Licensed content date	February 2010
Licensed content volume number	12
Licensed content issue number	2
Number of pages	7
Start Page	106
End Page	<sup>112</sup> <sup>19</sup> าลัยเทคโนโลย <sup>ั</sup> ด
Type of Use	reuse in a thesis/dissertation
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	1
Format	both print and electronic
Are you the author of this Elsevier article?	No
Will you be translating?	No
Order reference number	23
Original figure numbers	fig. 2.
Title of your thesis/dissertation	IDENTIFICATION AND FUNCTION OF LEUKOCYTE SURFACE MOLECULES RECOGNIZING BY NEWLY GENERATED MONOCLONAL ANTIBODY COS3A

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=d7dd9504-2d87-4288-b1c8-4a16617cadb8

1/14/2016	RightsLink Printable License
Expected completion date	Jan 2016
Estimated size (number of pages)	120
Customer Tax ID	THno
Elsevier VAT number	GB 494 6272 12
Permissions price	0.00 USD
VAT/Local Sales Tax	0.00 USD / 0.00 GBP
Total	0.00 USD
Terms and Conditions	

### INTRODUCTION

1. The publisher for this copyrighted material is Elsevier. By clicking "accept" in connection with completing this licensing transaction, you agree that the following terms and conditions apply to this transaction (along with the Billing and Payment terms and conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC"), at the time that you opened your Rightslink account and that are available at any time at <a href="http://myaccount.copyright.com">http://myaccount.copyright.com</a>).

### GENERAL TERMS

2. Elsevier hereby grants you permission to reproduce the aforementioned material subject to the terms and conditions indicated.

3. Acknowledgement: If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source, permission must also be sought from that source. If such permission is not obtained then that material may not be included in your publication/copies. Suitable acknowledgement to the source must be made, either as a footnote or in a reference list at the end of your publication, as follows:

"Reprinted from Publication title, Vol /edition number, Author(s), Title of article / title of chapter, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier [OR APPLICABLE SOCIETY COPYRIGHT OWNER]." Also Lancet special credit - "Reprinted from The Lancet, Vol. number, Author(s), Title of article, Pages No., Copyright (Year), with permission from Elsevier."

4. Reproduction of this material is confined to the purpose and/or media for which permission is hereby given.

5. Altering/Modifying Material: Not Permitted. However figures and illustrations may be altered/adapted minimally to serve your work. Any other abbreviations, additions, deletions and/or any other alterations shall be made only with prior written authorization of Elsevier Ltd. (Please contact Elsevier at permissions@elsevier.com)

6. If the permission fee for the requested use of our material is waived in this instance, please be advised that your future requests for Elsevier materials may attract a fee.
7. Reservation of Rights: Publisher reserves all rights not specifically granted in the combination of (i) the license details provided by you and accepted in the course of this licensing transaction, (ii) these terms and conditions and (iii) CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions.

8. License Contingent Upon Payment: While you may exercise the rights licensed immediately upon issuance of the license at the end of the licensing process for the transaction, provided that you have disclosed complete and accurate details of your proposed use, no license is finally effective unless and until full payment is received from you (either by publisher or by CCC) as provided in CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. If full payment is not received on a timely basis, then any license preliminarily granted shall be deemed automatically revoked and shall be void as if never granted. Further, in the event that you breach any of these terms and conditions or any of CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, the license is automatically revoked and shall be void as if never

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=d7dd9504-2d87-4288-b1c8-4a16617cadb8

granted. Use of materials as described in a revoked license, as well as any use of the materials beyond the scope of an unrevoked license, may constitute copyright infringement and publisher reserves the right to take any and all action to protect its copyright in the materials.

9. Warranties: Publisher makes no representations or warranties with respect to the licensed material.

10. Indemnity: You hereby indemnify and agree to hold harmless publisher and CCC, and their respective officers, directors, employees and agents, from and against any and all claims arising out of your use of the licensed material other than as specifically authorized pursuant to this license.

11. No Transfer of License: This license is personal to you and may not be sublicensed, assigned, or transferred by you to any other person without publisher's written permission.
12. No Amendment Except in Writing: This license may not be amended except in a writing signed by both parties (or, in the case of publisher, by CCC on publisher's behalf).
13. Objection to Contrary Terms: Publisher hereby objects to any terms contained in any purchase order, acknowledgment, check endorsement or other writing prepared by you, which terms are inconsistent with these terms and conditions or CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions. These terms and conditions, together with CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions (which are incorporated herein), comprise the entire agreement between you and publisher (and CCC) concerning this licensing transaction. In the event of any conflict between your obligations established by these terms and conditions and those established by CCC's Billing and Payment terms and conditions, these terms and conditions shall control.

14. Revocation: Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center may deny the permissions described in this License at their sole discretion, for any reason or no reason, with a full refund payable to you. Notice of such denial will be made using the contact information provided by you. Failure to receive such notice will not alter or invalidate the denial. In no event will Elsevier or Copyright Clearance Center be responsible or liable for any costs, expenses or damage incurred by you as a result of a denial of your permission request, other than a refund of the amount(s) paid by you to Elsevier and/or Copyright Clearance Center for denied permissions.

### LIMITED LICENSE

The following terms and conditions apply only to specific license types: 15. **Translation**: This permission is granted for non-exclusive world **English** rights only unless your license was granted for translation rights. If you licensed translation rights you may only translate this content into the languages you requested. A professional translator must perform all translations and reproduce the content word for word preserving the integrity of the article.

16. **Posting licensed content on any Website**: The following terms and conditions apply as follows: Licensing material from an Elsevier journal: All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image; A hyper-text must be included to the Homepage of the journal from which you are licensing at

http://www.sciencedirect.com/science/journal/xxxxx or the Elsevier homepage for books at http://www.elsevier.com; Central Storage: This license does not include permission for a scanned version of the material to be stored in a central repository such as that provided by Heron/XanEdu.

Licensing material from an Elsevier book: A hyper-text link must be included to the Elsevier homepage at <a href="http://www.elsevier.com">http://www.elsevier.com</a>. All content posted to the web site must maintain the copyright information line on the bottom of each image.

**Posting licensed content on Electronic reserve**: In addition to the above the following clauses are applicable: The web site must be password-protected and made available only to bona fide students registered on a relevant course. This permission is granted for 1 year only. You may obtain a new license for future website posting.

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=d7dd9504-2d87-4288-b1c8-4a16617cadb8

### 151

17. For journal authors: the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Preprints:

A preprint is an author's own write-up of research results and analysis, it has not been peerreviewed, nor has it had any other value added to it by a publisher (such as formatting, copyright, technical enhancement etc.).

Authors can share their preprints anywhere at any time. Preprints should not be added to or enhanced in any way in order to appear more like, or to substitute for, the final versions of articles however authors can update their preprints on arXiv or RePEc with their Accepted Author Manuscript (see below).

If accepted for publication, we encourage authors to link from the preprint to their formal publication via its DOI. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help users to find, access, cite and use the best available version. Please note that Cell Press, The Lancet and some society-owned have different preprint policies. Information on these policies is available on the journal homepage. **Accepted Author Manuscripts:** An accepted author manuscript is the manuscript of an article that has been accepted for publication and which typically includes author-incorporated changes suggested during submission, peer review and editor-author communications.

Authors can share their accepted author manuscript:

- immediately
  - via their non-commercial person homepage or blog
  - by updating a preprint in arXiv or RePEc with the accepted manuscript
  - via their research institute or institutional repository for internal institutional uses or as part of an invitation-only research collaboration work-group
  - directly by providing copies to their students or to research collaborators for their personal use
  - for private scholarly sharing as part of an invitation-only work group on commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement
- after the embargo period
  - via non-commercial hosting platforms such as their institutional repository
  - via commercial sites with which Elsevier has an agreement

In all cases accepted manuscripts should:

- link to the formal publication via its DOI
- bear a CC-BY-NC-ND license this is easy to do
- if aggregated with other manuscripts, for example in a repository or other site, be shared in alignment with our hosting policy not be added to or enhanced in any way to appear more like, or to substitute for, the published journal article.

**Published journal article (JPA):** A published journal article (PJA) is the definitive final record of published research that appears or will appear in the journal and embodies all value-adding publishing activities including peer review co-ordination, copy-editing, formatting, (if relevant) pagination and online enrichment.

Policies for sharing publishing journal articles differ for subscription and gold open access articles:

**Subscription Articles:** If you are an author, please share a link to your article rather than the full-text. Millions of researchers have access to the formal publications on ScienceDirect, and so links will help your users to find, access, cite, and use the best available version. Theses and dissertations which contain embedded PJAs as part of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

If you are affiliated with a library that subscribes to ScienceDirect you have additional

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=d7dd9504-2d87-4288-b1c8-4a16617cadb8

private sharing rights for others' research accessed under that agreement. This includes use for classroom teaching and internal training at the institution (including use in course packs and courseware programs), and inclusion of the article for grant funding purposes. **Gold Open Access Articles:** May be shared according to the author-selected end-user license and should contain a <u>CrossMark logo</u>, the end user license, and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect.

Please refer to Elsevier's posting policy for further information.

1/14/2016

18. For book authors the following clauses are applicable in addition to the above: Authors are permitted to place a brief summary of their work online only. You are not allowed to download and post the published electronic version of your chapter, nor may you scan the printed edition to create an electronic version. Posting to a repository: Authors are permitted to post a summary of their chapter only in their institution's repository. 19. Thesis/Dissertation: If your license is for use in a thesis/dissertation your thesis may be submitted to your institution in either print or electronic form. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for permission. These requirements include permission for the Library and Archives of Canada to supply single copies, on demand, of the complete thesis. Should your thesis be published commercially, please reapply for proquest/UMI to supply single copies, on demand, of the formal submission can be posted publicly by the awarding institution with DOI links back to the formal publications on ScienceDirect.

### Elsevier Open Access Terms and Conditions

You can publish open access with Elsevier in hundreds of open access journals or in nearly 2000 established subscription journals that support open access publishing. Permitted third party re-use of these open access articles is defined by the author's choice of Creative Commons user license. See our open access license policy for more information. **Terms & Conditions applicable to all Open Access articles published with Elsevier:** Any reuse of the article must not represent the author as endorsing the adaptation of the article nor should the article be modified in such a way as to damage the author's honour or reputation. If any changes have been made, such changes must be clearly indicated. The author(s) must be appropriately credited and we ask that you include the end user license and a DOI link to the formal publication on ScienceDirect. If any part of the material to be used (for example, figures) has appeared in our publication with credit or acknowledgement to another source it is the responsibility of the user to ensure their reuse complies with the terms and conditions determined by the rights holder. **Additional Terms & Conditions applicable to each Creative Commons user license:** 

**CC BY:** The CC-BY license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article and to make commercial use of the Article (including reuse and/or resale of the Article by commercial entities), provided the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at <a href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0">http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0</a>.

**CC BY NC SA:** The CC BY-NC-SA license allows users to copy, to create extracts, abstracts and new works from the Article, to alter and revise the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes, and that the user gives appropriate credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, indicates if changes were made and the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. Further, any new works must be made available on the same conditions. The full details of the license are available at <a href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0">http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-sa/4.0</a>. **CC BY NC ND:** The CC BY-NC-ND license allows users to copy and distribute the Article, provided this is not done for commercial purposes and further does not permit distribution of the Article if it is changed or edited in any way, and provided the user gives appropriate

https://s100.copyright.com//CustomerAdmin/PLF.jsp?ref=d7dd9504-2d87-4288-b1c8-4a16617cadb8

credit (with a link to the formal publication through the relevant DOI), provides a link to the license, and that the licensor is not represented as endorsing the use made of the work. The full details of the license are available at <a href="http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0">http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0</a>. Any commercial reuse of Open Access articles published with a CC BY NC SA or CC BY NC ND license requires permission from Elsevier and will be subject to a fee. Commercial reuse includes:

- Associating advertising with the full text of the Article
- Charging fees for document delivery or access
- Article aggregation
- Systematic distribution via e-mail lists or share buttons

Posting or linking by commercial companies for use by customers of those companies.

20. Other Conditions:

v1.8

1/14/2016

Questions? <u>customercare@copyright.com</u> or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.





Siriwan Wansook <wsiriwan244@gmail.com>

### Request for permission to reproduce previously published material (from Thailand)

Editorial Office <editorial@portlandpress.com> To: Siriwan Wansook <wsiriwan244@gmail.com> Thu, Jan 7, 2016 at 10:31 PM

Dear Siriwan,

Thank you for your request.

I am pleased to say you have permission to reproduce the requested material provided that it is correctly cited and acknowledged.

Please ensure that the new work includes a reference to the original article as part of any reference list or bibliographyy.

«Authors» («Year») «Article\_or\_Chapter\_Title» «Journal\_or\_Book\_Title», «Volume\_and\_issue» «Page\_Nos»

Kind Regards,

Aisha Mayet | Operations Publishing Assistant

The Biochemical Society/Portland Press | Charles Darwin House, 12 Roger Street, London, WC1N 2JU

e: aisha.mayet@portlandpress.com | t: 0207 685 2410 คโนโลยีสรบไว

Follow Portland Press and stay up to date with the latest articles!



From: Siriwan Wansook [mailto:wsiriwan244@gmail.com] Sent: 06 January 2016 08:52 To: Editorial Office Cc: Siriwan Wansook Subject: Request for permission to reproduce previously published material (from Thailand)

[Quoted text hidden]

### **APPENDIX B**

### **OUTPUT FROM THESIS**

### 1) Publication

Wansook, S., Pata, S., Kasinrerk, W., and Khunkaewla, P. (2016) Biochemical and functional analysis of COS3A, a novel CD63-specific monoclonal antibody. Asian Pac J Allergy Immunol, March 20, doi: 10.12932/ AP0735. (IF 2014 = 0.971)

### 2) Poster presentiations

- Wansook S., Pata S., Mahasongkram K., Chruewkamlow N., Kasinrerk W., and Khunkaewla P. Effect of newly generated CD63 monoclonal antibody on T cell activation. 10<sup>th</sup> International Symposium of the Protein Society of Thailand (PST), July 15-17, 2015. Bangkok, Thailand.
- 2. Wansook S., Pata S., Mahasongkram K., Chruewkamlow N., Kasinrerk W., and Khunkaewla P. Cellular distribution, biochemical characterization, and functional analysis of COS3A recognizing molecule. The 7<sup>th</sup> Asia Oceania Human Proteome Organization (AOHUPO) Congress and 9<sup>th</sup> International Symposium of the Protein Society of Thailand (PST), August 6-8, 2014. Bangkok,Thailand.
- 3. Wansook S., Pata S., Mahasongkram K., Kruakhamlaw N., Kasinrerk W., and Khunkaewla P. COS3A molecule; cellular expression, biochemical

characterization and function on T cell activation. The Federation of immunological societies of Asia Oceania (FIMSA) advanced training course 2013: molecule and cells of innate immune system, October 22-25, 2013. Chiang Mai.Thailand.

- 4. Wansook S., Pata S., Mahasongkram K., Kasinrerk W., and Khunkaewla P. COS3A, a high glycosylated leukocyte surface molecule plays a role on cell activation. The 5th Congress of the Federation of National Societies of Biochemistry and Molecular Biology in the Asian and Oceanian Region (FAOBMB), November 25-29, 2012. Bangkok, Thailand.
- 5. Wansook S., Pata S., Mahasongkram K., Kasinrerk W., and Khunkaewla P. Cellular expression and biochemical identification of leukocyte surface molecule recognized by newly generated monoclonal antibody COS3A. The 5th Congress of the Federation of Immunological Societies of Asia-Oceania (FIMSA), March 14-17, 2012. New Delhi, India.

ร้าวกยาลัยเทคโนโลยีสุรบ์

157

# **CURRICULUM VITAE**

NAME	Ms. Siriwan Wansook	
DATE OF BIRTH	January 18, 1986	
PLACE OF BIRTH	Burirum	
EDUCATION		
2009-2016	School of Biochemistry, Institute of Science, Suranaree	
	University of Technology, Nakhon Ratchasima,	
	Thailand	
	Ph.D. candidate in Biochemistry	
2007	Faculty of Science, Mahasarakham University,	
	Mahasarakham, Thailand.	
ES.	B.Sc. in Biology Science	
SCHOLARSHIP	<sup>3</sup> <sup>ก</sup> ยาลัยเทคโนโลยีส <sup>ุร</sup> ั	
2004-2007	Science achievement scholarship of Thailand	
2009-2014	Outstanding scholarship of Suranaree University of	
	Technology	